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GROUP PROFILE
SEEN

Time Interconnect Technology Limited (the “Company”, together with
its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is a well-established supplier of customised
interconnect solutions with over 30 years’ experience in the industry. The
Group is headquartered in Hong Kong, and has manufacturing facilities in
Shanghai, Suzhou and Huizhou, the People’s Republic of China (“PRC").

The Group currently manufactures and supplies a wide variety of copper
& optical fiber cable assemblies, digital cable products and servers
which are produced to the specifications and designs of its individual
customer partners. Its products are used by a number of established
PRC and international customers in a variety of market sectors, including
telecommunication, data centre, industrial equipment, medical equipment,
automotive wire harness and digital cables.

Its business features on customised cable products for a variety of
specifications which are used in a wide range of applications. The Group
supplies cable products on a Contract Manufacturing Services (CMS) basis,
and its cable products are made-to-order, upon receipt of its customers’
orders.

VISION

To be a leading provider of electronic interconnect products, continually
recognised as a “Preferred Supplier” capable of delivering world class
quality, products and services — EACH and EVERY TIME.

STRATEGY

To become a Tier-1 supplier of cable products and high performance
interconnect products to the market leaders in the 5G telecommunication,
data communication, healthcare, transport and industrial sectors.

COMPETITIVE STRENGTHS
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
NEEH

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors:

Mr. Cua Tin Yin Simon (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Wong Chi Kuen

Non-executive Director:

Ms. Wang Laichun (Chairman)

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Ho Hin Shun

Mr. Luk Wai Shing

Mr. Chan Chung Shun Eric

BOARD COMMITTEES
Audit Committee

Mr. Chan Chung Shun Eric (Chairman)
Mr. Ho Hin Shun

Mr. Luk Wai Shing
Remuneration Committee
Mr. Ho Hin Shun (Chairman)
Mr. Wong Chi Kuen

Mr. Luk Wai Shing

Mr. Chan Chung Shun Eric
Nomination Committee

Mr. Luk Wai Shing (Chairman)
Mr. Wong Chi Kuen

Mr. Ho Hin Shun

Mr. Chan Chung Shun Eric

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. Ng Hoi Ying

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES
Mr. Wong Chi Kuen
Ms. Ng Hoi Ying

COMPLIANCE ADVISER
Frontpage Capital Limited
26/F, Siu On Centre, 188 Lockhart Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong

AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

Certified Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditors

35/F, One Pacific Place, 88 Queensway, Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISORS AS TO HONG KONG LAWS
CFN Lawyers in association with Broad and Bright
Units 4101-04, 41/F Sun Hung Kai Centre, 30 Harbour Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE IN THE CAYMAN ISLANDS
Windward 3, Regatta Office Park
PO Box 1350, Grand Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman Islands

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG
Units 213-221, 2/F, Building 5E, 5 Science Park East Avenue
Hong Kong Science Park, Shatin, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE IN CAYMAN ISLANDS
Ocorian Trust (Cayman) Limited

Windward 3, Regatta Office Park

PO Box 1350, Grand Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman Islands

BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE IN HONG KONG
Tricor Investor Services Limited
17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKS

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

Hang Seng Bank Limited

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
China CITIC Bank International Limited

United Overseas Bank Limited

Fubon Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited
OCBC Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.

China Construction Bank Corporation

Agricultural Bank of China Limited

Bank of China Limited

China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd.

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited
Nanyang Commercial Bank (China) Limited

COMPANY'’S WEBSITE
www.time-interconnect.com

STOCK CODE
1729
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
RIBEE

Change

For the year ended 31 March BE=ZR=1+—HIHEE 2022 B
Operating results (HK$'million) REXF\E(BEERL)
Revenue g 3,590.1 60.6%
Gross profit EF 588.1 6.2%
Profit for the year FEREH 1683  283%
Adjusted profit for the year (Note) RFAEFRRF (FEE) 195.2 10.6%
Basic earnings per share (Hong Kong cents) BFREERRF GBIL) 9.1 22.0%
Adjusted basic earnings per share KRR GREARRF (BAL) (FIFE)

(Hong Kong cents) (Note) 11.1 10.6 4.7%
Financial position (HK$'million) BT (B 8B T)
Cash (used in) generated from operations K () EEXENRE (1,393.4) 2625 -630.8%
Bank balances and cash BITRERNIRS 288.0 2209  30.4%
Shareholders’ funds RERES \WEYNE  1,051.2 7.7%
Capital expenditure BEAREL 227.3 59.4  282.7%
Key ratios (%) FELEER(%)
Gross profit margin FEFIE 10.8 16.4  -5.6pts
Net profit margin FREZER 3.7 47  -1.0pts
Adjusted net profit margin (Note) R FFEE (FIEE) 3.7 54  -1.7pts
EBITDA/Revenue EBITDA /zs 7.0 96  -2.6pts
Adjusted EBITDA/Revenue (Note) KEIAEEEBITDA Weas (FaE) 7.0 9.8  -2.8pts
Return on shareholders’ funds f& R & & [Bl5R 19.1 16.0 3.1pts

Note:  For reconciliations of the reported results to an adjusted basis, including lists of Mzt @ REXESHKHABRIENHIE (BF—RYEARIE
adjustment items, see page 18. B)#MNE18H
Revenue Net profit and Net profit margin
Wk EFEEFEREE
HK$'million HK$'million
BEET BEET %
6,000 240 32
5,764.8 226.6
5,250 210 28
4,500 180 24
3,750 3,590.1 150 20
3,008.0
3,000 2,780.2 120 16
2,250 % 12
1500 43144 14388 60 8
750 30 4
0 [ 0 0
2019 2020 2020 2021 2023 2019 2020 2020 2021 2022 2023
(restated) (restated)
(#8E751) (#8E51)
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
ERHS

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors of the Company (the
“Directors”), | am pleased to present to you the annual report of TIME
Interconnect Technology Limited (and together with its subsidiaries) for the
year ended 31 March 2023 (the “Review Year” or “FY2023"). During
the Review Year, the novel coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic had a certain
impact on the flow of people and economic activities, and the continuous
variant virus further challenged the stability of the global supply chain,
which to a certain extend affected the demand for goods and services
from China’s trade partners. In addition, global inflation has once again
exceeded expectations during the Review Year due to the increasingly
tight supply chains and labour markets that are affected by international
geopolitical conflicts. The situation has prompted central banks around the
world to further tighten monetary policy and raise interest rates faster than
expected, further dragging down overall economic growth. These policies
finally led to the appreciation of US dollars. During the Review Year, the
average foreign currency exchange rate from converting Renminbi into
Hong Kong dollars has dropped. The decrease of the closing rate of
Renminbi converting into Hong Kong dollars as at 31 March 2023 has
finally created a significant exchange loss of the Group raised from RMB
receivable and USD payable.

Until early 2023, inflation has declined as central banks have raised interest
rates and food and energy prices have come down. Although side effects
from the fast rise in policy rates are becoming apparent, policymakers
have taken forceful actions to stabilize the banking system. As the global
economy appears poised for a gradual recovery and China is rebounding
strongly after normalisation, the Group maintains confidence in the
industry.

During the Review Year, the average copper price decreased remarkably.
Although the impact of the copper price fluctuation has been directly passed
through to customers according to our existing quotation mechanism,
with the amount of gross profit of the orders has not been affected,
the gross profit margin has been changed finally. As the materials costs,
which include PVC cost, packing materials cost and labour cost remain on
the high side, the Group has adjusted the selling price (excluding copper
component) again to our customers in May 2022.

Despite the challenges and the difficulties posed by the macroeconomic
environment, the Company has made progress in improving the Group’s
business operations and financial position. In April 2022, the Group has
stepped into the server business by setting up Time X-Ware Technology
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary in Hong Kong. The server business and
the existing wire and cable business have strong upstream-downstream
linkages, as the products offered by the Group under the server business
are mainly applied in data centres. We believe this new business will bring
an opportunity to the Group to expand its existing converged wire and
cable products to a larger customer portfolio, broaden its source of income
and enhance value to the Shareholders.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT (conT'D)
EEHRE @)

On the other hand, following the acquisition by Luxshare Precision
Limited (“Luxshare Precision”) in March 2022, Luxshare Precision
and the Company carried out multi-dimensional operating integrations
during the Review Year, including the integration of customer, supplier,
market resources and sharing of equipment, facilities, technologies and
R&D capabilities of Luxshare Group. Furthermore, an aggregate amount
of HK$1,962.3 million loans have been provided from Luxshare Precision
for financing the Group’s operating working capital, so as to avoid the
continually increasing interest rate and to lower the Group’s interest
costs. Besides, after the acquisition by Luxshare Precision, the Company
has been relocated to a new office at Hong Kong Science Park. We believe
these operating integrations would enable the Group to further benefit
from the development and synergies in the fields of consumer electronics,
communications, healthcare, automobile industry in terms of products,
customers, and marketing.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

During the Review Year, the Group recorded revenue amounting to
HK$5,764.8 million, representing an increase of HK$2,174.7 million or
60.6% as compared with HK$3,590.1 million for the year ended 31 March
2022 (the "Previous Year” or “FY2022"). The increase in revenue was
mainly attributable to the new server business.

The Group recorded an increase of HK$36.6 million or 6.2% in gross profit
to HK$624.7 million in FY2023 as compared to HK$588.1 million recorded
in FY2022. The gross profit margin decreased from approximately 16.4%
for FY2022 to approximately 10.8% for FY2023. During the Review Year,
the operating profit was HK$315.3 million, representing an increase of
HK$38.3 million or 13.8%, as compared with HK$277.0 million for the
Previous Year, with the operating profit margin dropping 2.2% from 7.7 %
to 5.5% for the Review Year. The decrease of operating profit margin was
mainly attributable to the average selling price of the server is much higher
than that of the wire and cable business, and the profit margin was also
lower than that of the wire and cable business, so the overall profit margin
of the Group is inevitably pulled down. Net profit of the Review Year was
HK$215.9 million, representing an increase of HK$47.6 million or 28.3%,
as compared with HK$168.3 million for the Previous Year, with the net
profit margin dropped 1.0% from 4.7% to 3.7% for the Review Year.

After considering the Group’s short-medium term financial needs and its
cash on hand, the Board has proposed to recommend to the Shareholders
the payment of a final dividend in respect of FY2023 of HKO.5 cents (2022:
HK1 cent) per share, amounting to a total of approximately HK$9.7 million.

FEEBE R4 AR A TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT (conT'D)
FERE @)

OUTLOOK

Looking ahead, although the global inflation is stickier than anticipated,
it is showing signs of continuous improvement, and the global economy
appears poised for a gradual recovery from the powerful blows of the
pandemic and international geopolitical conflicts. China is also rebounding
strongly after normalisation. Under these circumstances, the PRC has
continuously made great efforts to accelerate the research and development
of 5G technology, and has continued to boost the development of
5G-related and data centre business in recent years, which is expected
to have a positive impact on the demand of cable assembly products and
telecommunication sector. We remain confident in 5G-related and data
centre business and has already planned to set up a new plant in Mexico
to increase our market share in markets outside China and Asia.

At present, the global market is gradually recovering and the impact of the
epidemic in the past years has made ordinary people pay more attention
to their own health conditions, the demand for medical equipment is
expected to continue to increase. As for the medical equipment sector,
we expect the demand for medical equipment cables will continue to bring
positive impact to the Group’s medical equipment cables orders in FY2023.

China has remained the world’s largest auto market and auto producer
in the past few years. In October 2020, the State Council set a goal and
stated that by 2025, the sales of new energy vehicles in China will reach
20% of the total sales of new vehicles. We believe that the automotive
wiring products can help the Group to provide our customers with a
broader product portfolio, which can capture opportunities brought by
the booming electric vehicle market.

Besides, we will continue to expand our server business, to capture the
great market potential of cloud service and communications in the PRC.
Riding on the policy of the PRC government on “channeling computing
resources from the eastern areas to the western regions” (REFAE),
we believe the development of the server business is a good opportunity
for the Group to further develop its business and will help diversify the
Group's business as well as the Group's income stream.

R
RERR  BERNBRLLTAMERT @ BF
FBTER - MEBRKEREEE LB
MGBUABRTESER - RERNERE(ER
RSO © EFER T - REREA DR
SGEAMTATEE - AT SR FFIE (R E B SGARES
REBETONEBRRE At HERAFE
mREADENFRELEFETE - HFIHSG
R R BURFORBNHATEMED » WEE
REFIFRILHEE - LUB BT RE R
MEASME ISR TSR

BRI2RMIGEEZS IRE - MAEBFNE
BREELTBABRBEIEZEERT  BE
RIBNFRFAASRFEL - BLEFEREBDE
5 B BEREHEBNTIGERER
AEE_F_=UHRFENBERESE

BERE
WwIRIEEFE -

PENBEBF-EREHENEMSLA
BEAER  -N_F_FFTAH - BBRHIER
S RHEECR”ASF  PEHTRERSEHEE
RHIERHTAELREEN20% - TAIEE - RE
EEREmBIAERATPREEERZNER
HE o DUEESEEAEMEEDBRT IR
i o

SN - BffInsut B IR A PRI AR5 2 5275 © LA

EEREERELBANERTSED © BHE

FREIBUTHY TREIF S BUR  RFIEERRER

BRXBRASEE—SBRIFNEK - I

Eﬁ?ﬁﬁé%ﬁﬁ%%%&&ﬁ%%]\%ﬁ
A o

£ [Z R % 2023 ANNUAL REPORT



CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT (conT'D)
EEHRE @)

APPRECIATION

Looking ahead to 2023, the Group will continue to adhere to its professional
practices and efficient operations to grow its existing businesses through
continuous integration of enterprise resources and product innovation.
Meanwhile, we will seize more profitable investment opportunities, to
generate possible additional revenue and business diversification. We aim
to consolidate and expand the Group’s competitive advantages, creating
long-term and high-value returns for Shareholders.

Finally, I would like to take this opportunity to express my heartfelt thanks

to the Board, the management team, business partners and all staff for
their contributions.

Wang Laichun
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2023

FEEBE R4 AR A TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREmRE DN

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

During the Review Year, COVID-19 outbreaks and mobility restrictions
have disrupted economic activities widely and severely. Shanghai entered
several strict lockdowns in April, May and December 2022, forcing
citywide economic activities to halt. Since then, more contagious variants
have driven a worrisome surge in COVID-19 cases. The worsening crisis
in China’s property sector is also dragging down real estate sales and
investment. The economic slowdown in China has global consequences:
lockdowns added to global supply chain disruptions and the decline in
domestic spending were reducing demand for goods and services from
China’s trade partners. On the other hand, affected by the war in Ukraine,
global food and energy prices have risen, causing food crises in low-
income countries. In the context of increasingly tight supply chains and
labour markets, global inflation has once again exceeded expectations,
especially in developed economies, prompting central banks around the
world to further tighten monetary policy and raise interest rates faster than
expected, increasing long-term borrowing costs for companies, further
dragging down overall economic growth. Until early 2023, inflation has
declined as central banks have raised interest rates and food and energy
prices have come down, underlying price pressures are proving sticky, with
labour markets tight in a number of economies. Side effects from the fast
rise in policy rates are becoming apparent, as banking sector vulnerabilities
have come into focus and fears of contagion have risen across the broader
financial sector, including non-bank financial institutions. Fortunately,
policymakers have taken forceful actions to stabilize the banking system.

During the Review Year, the average copper price was USD8,536 per
ton, representing a decrease of 11.9% as compared with USD9,689 for
the Previous Year. Based on the existing quotation mechanism that the
Group has used with customers, the selling price will be automatically
adjusted with the price of copper, which means the impact of the copper
price fluctuation has been directly passed through to customers. Even
the amount of gross profit of the orders has not been affected by such
copper price, the gross profit margin has been changed accordingly. As
the materials costs, which include PVC cost, packing materials cost and
labour cost remain on the high side, the Group adjusted the selling price
(excluding copper component) again to its customers in a range of 5% to
10% in May 2022.

Meanwhile, central banks have tightened monetary policy further and
raised interest rates, leading to the appreciation of US dollars. During the
Review Year, the average foreign currency exchange rate from converting
Renminbi into Hong Kong dollars was 5.7% lower than the Previous Year.
The Renminbi revenue converted into Hong Kong dollars decreased by
HK$242.2 million, representing 4.2 % of the Group’s revenue. Furthermore,
the closing rate of Renminbi converting into Hong Kong dollars as at 31
March 2023 was 7.9% lower than the one as at 31 March 2022, which
created a significant exchange loss raised from RMB receivable and USD
payable.
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In spite of the challenges and the difficulties posed by the macroeconomic
environment, the Group strives to improve its business operations and
financial position by proactively seeking potential investment opportunities
that would diversify the Group's existing business portfolio, broaden its
source of income and enhance value to the shareholders. In April 2022,
the Group expanded its business to server business (the “New Business”)
by setting up a wholly-owned subsidiary, Time X-Ware Technology
Limited, in Hong Kong. Our go-to-market strategy and business model is
JDM/ODM model. The server business is deeply customized according to
brand customers’ requirements and the products offered by the Group
under the New Business are mainly applied in data centres, which includes
rack-mounted computing servers, edge servers, Al smart servers, storage
servers, smart network cards, GPU cards, complete cabinet products,
etc. The New Business and the existing wire and cable business have an
upstream and downstream relationship, so the New Business represents an
opportunity for the Group to expand its existing converged wire and cable
products to a larger customer portfolio.

Following the acquisition by Luxshare Precision, Luxshare Group and the
Group have carried out multi-dimensional operating integrations, which
include enjoying in line purchase price and payment terms of the common
suppliers; allowing the Group to share a part of Luxshare Group’s banking
facilities; leasing Luxshare Group's factory facilities to develop the Group's
server business; purchasing automation equipment from Luxshare Group
to improve the Group's production technology and efficiency; transferring
some materials sourcing from Luxshare Group to secure a stable supply of
raw materials; and supplying cable and wire to Luxshare Group from the
Group to gain more stable source of income. Furthermore, an aggregate
amount of HK$1,962.3 million loans have been provided from Luxshare
Group for financing the Group’s operating working capital (including
new server business), so as to avoid the interest rate continually increase
and to lower the Group’s interest costs. The loans were in 1- and 3-year
terms and at a fixed interest rate of 3%. The Company has then fully
repaid the club loan for the exclusive purpose of acquisition of the digital
cable business and other bank loans. The Company believes that, these
operating integrations would enable the Company to further benefit
from the development and synergy in the fields of consumer electronics,
communications, healthcare, automobile industry in terms of products,
customers, and marketing, through integration of customer and market
resources as well as technologies and R&D capabilities of Luxshare Group.

E BRI B R/ A TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
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Due to the acquisition by Luxshare Precision, the Company was not
entitled to share the use of office of Linkz Industries Limited (previous
ultimate holding company). Since 17 December 2022, the Company has
been relocated to a new office at Hong Kong Science Park.

Since The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
published the amendments to Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules relating
to share schemes and took effect on 1 January 2023, the Company has
terminated the Existing Share Option Scheme and adopted the 2023 Share
Option Scheme to replace the Existing Share Option Scheme. The purpose
of the 2023 Share Option Scheme is to recognise the contribution or
potential contribution of the eligible participants to the Group by granting
options as incentive or reward and to enable the Group to attract, retain
and motivate high-calibre eligible participants in line with the performance
goals of the Group and the related entities. The adoption of the 2023
Share Option Scheme has taken effect on 21 March 2023.

For the Review Year, the Group recorded revenue amounting to
HK$5,764.8 million, representing an increase of HK$2,174.7 million
or 60.6% as compared with HK$3,590.1 million for the Previous Year.
Operating profit for the Review Year was HK$315.3 million, representing
an increase of HK$38.3 million or 13.8%, as compared with HK$277.0
million for the Previous Year, with the operating profit margin dropping
2.2% from 7.7% to 5.5% for the Review Year. The increase in operating
profit was mainly attributable to the new server business. Net profit of the
Review Year was HK$215.9 million, representing an increase of HK$47.6
million or 28.3%, as compared with HK$168.3 million for the Previous
Year, with the net profit margin dropping 1.0% from 4.7% to 3.7% for
the Review Year.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Financial Overview

For the year ended 31 March

BE=—A=1T—HIFE

Revenue Uz
Gross profit EF
Gross profit margin FRZE

Other income and other gains
and losses

Total operating expenses

Total operating expenses as a
percentage of revenue

H A R Eftbiias K g5 18

B RER

REFRBmBEEI

Operating profit TERA
Operating profit margin KRR

(Loss) gain on revaluation of land
and buildings

T RIETER (B8 ) Wt

Professional fee for acquisition WEEXER
Finance costs BB A

Profit before taxation BRI HIRF
Taxation A

Effective tax rate BRI

Profit for the year FRRF

Net profit margin FRE=E
Adjusted profit for the year R REF
Adjusted net profit margin FCEGESE R

Revenue

During the Review Year, copper price has decreased from the average
copper price USD9,689 per ton to USD8,536 per ton, which represented a
decrease of 11.9% compared with the Previous Year. Based on the existing
quotation mechanism that the Group has been using with customers,
the selling price will be automatically adjusted to account for the price
of copper, resulting in the impact of the copper price fluctuation being
directly pass through to customers. As such, the copper price impact was
approximately HK$92.6 million, which represented 1.6% of the Group’s
revenue. On the other hand, RMB depreciation also lead to a reduction in
revenue. During the Review Year, the average foreign currency exchange
rate from converting Renminbi into Hong Kong dollars was 5.7% lower
than the Previous Year. The Renminbi revenue converted into Hong Kong
dollars decreased by HK$242.2 million, representing 4.2% of the Group’s
revenue. The Group's revenue in FY2023 increased by HK$2,174.7 million
to HK$5,764.8 million from HK$3,590.1 million in the Previous Year,
which represented an increase of 60.6% as compared to Previous Year.
By excluding the copper price and Renminbi exchange rate impact, the
Group’s revenue increased by HK$2,509.5 million or 69.9% as compared
with the Previous Year. The increase in revenue was mainly attributable to
the new server business.

E BRI B R/ A TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED

REEE
A7 [olEE

2023 2022 Change %)
HK$’million HK$'million HK$ 'million
BEEET BEETT BEETT
5,764.8 3,590.1 2,174.7
624.7 588.1 36.6

10.8% 16.4%
5.5 10.8 (5.3)
(314.9) (321.9) 7.0

5.5% 9.0%
315.3 277.0 38.3

5.5% 7.7%
(3.2) 0.4 (3.6)
= (6.5) 6.5
(55.8) (38.0) (17.8)
256.3 232.9 23.4
(40.4) (64.6) 24.2

15.8% 27.7%
215.9 168.3 47.6

3.7% 4.7%
215.9 195.2 20.7

3.7% 5.4%

Yrzs
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For the year ended 31 March BE=—A=t—HILFE 2023
HK$'million
Market Sector iR BEAT %
Cable assembly EREs
Data centre IR 790.9 13.7%
Telecommunication B 644.0 11.2%
Medical equipment BB 245.6 4.3%
Industrial equipment TR 47.4 0.8%
Automotive BB 162.0 2.8%
1,889.9 32.8%
Digital cable EFER
Networking cable BRER 1,254.7 21.8%
Specialty cable ST 9.4 1.6%
1,347.1 23.4%
Server Br#sst 2,527.8 43.8%
Total 18Et 5,764.8 100.0%

Data centre sector: The revenue of data centre sector has decreased by
HK$83.7 million or 9.6% to HK$790.9 million for FY2023 as compared
to HK$874.6 million for the Previous Year. Even the orders of data centre
sector indicated a decrease, but it still maintained at a high shipment level
during the year, and remained the highest revenue sector in the cable
assembly business.

Telecommunication sector: It recorded a strong increase of revenue from
HK$559.6 million in the Previous Year to HK$644.0 million for FY2023,
representing an increase of HK$84.4 million or 15.1%. The orders of 5G
products have increased steadily and the profit margin has improved as
these new products carry a higher margin.

Medical equipment sector: As local transmission of the virus was brought
to low levels everywhere by the end of 2022 through a combination of
better-targeted precautions and improved access to vaccines and therapies,
the demand of medical equipment cables orders appeared to be trending
back down. The revenue of medical equipment sector for FY2023 was
HK$245.6 million, representing a slight decrease of HK$12.2 million or
4.7% as compared with HK$257.8 million for the Previous Year.

Industrial equipment sector: Global inflation has exceeded expectations,
prompting central banks around the world to further tighten monetary
policy and raise interest rates faster than expected, increasing long-term
borrowing costs for companies, further dragging down overall economic
growth. The revenue of industrial equipment sector decreased by HK$48.5
million or 50.6% from HK$95.9 million for the Previous Year to HK$47.4
million for FY2023.

Automotive sector: On 31 August 2021, the Group completed the
acquisition of the business of manufacturing and sales of automotive wire
harness. The revenue of automotive sector of HK$88.3 million represented
seven months revenue for the Previous Year. While for FY2023, the
revenue of this sector was HK$162.0 million, representing a significant
increase of HK$73.7 million or 83.5% as compared with the seven months
revenue for the Previous Year. The Group believes that the automotive
wiring products can help the Group to provide its customers with a broader
product portfolio, and to step in new business sector by enriching the
Group's business portfolio and broadening its unique customer base, so as
to capture opportunities brought by the booming electric vehicle market.

2022 Change &
HK$'million HK$'million

BEHBT % BEAT %
874.6 24.4% (83.7) -9.6%
559.6 15.6% 84.4 15.1%
257.8 7.2% (12.2) -4.7%
95.9 2.7% (48.5) -50.6%
88.3 2.4% 73.7 83.5%
1,876.2 52.3% 13.7 0.7%
1,613.5 44.9% (358.8) -22.2%
100.4 2.8% (8.0) -8.0%
1,713.9 47.7% (366.8) 21.4%
- - 2,527.8 100%
3,590.1 100.0% 2,174.7 60.6%
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Networking cable sector: COVID-19 outbreaks and mobility restrictions
have disrupted economic activities widely and severely. Shanghai entered
a strict lockdown in April, May and December 2022, forcing citywide
economic activities to halt. The Group’s factories in Shanghai and Suzhou
had temporarily halted operations because of the lockdown. In addition,
the war in Ukraine and the appreciation of US dollars have affected the
demand of overseas orders. The revenue of networking cable for FY2023
was HK$1,254.7 million, represented a decrease of HK$358.8 million
or 22.2% as compared with HK$1,613.5 million for the Previous Year.
As the copper price has dropped 11.9% during the Review Year, if the
impact of copper price is excluded, the networking cable’s revenue actually
decreased by HK$274.1 million or 17.0% as compared with the Previous
Year.

Specialty cable sector: Specialty cable sector includes industrial
communication cables, rail transit cables, HDBT Hi-Res data communication
cables, etc. These products are widely used for networking communication
system, smart buildings, security engineering, hi-fidelity digital audio
and video system, industrial automation control system and rail transit
communication system. For FY2023, the revenue of specialty cable was
HK$92.4 million, represented a decrease of HK$8.0 million or 8.0% as
compared with HK$100.4 million for the Previous Year. By excluding the
copper price impact, the specialty cable’s revenue just slightly decreased by
HK$1.6 million or 1.6% as compared with the Previous Year.

Server sector: The Group has expanded its business to server business
which is deeply customized according to brand customers’ requirements.
The products offered by the Group are mainly applied in data centres,
which include rack-mounted computing servers, edge servers, Al smart
servers, storage servers, smart network cards, GPU cards, complete cabinet
products, etc. The new server business started from May 2022, the revenue
of server sector of HK$2,527.8 million represented eleven months revenue
for FY2023.

Segment Information
Segmental information is presented for the Group as disclosed on Note 5
to the consolidated financial statements.

Gross Profit/Margin

Gross profit for FY2023 was HK$624.7 million, representing an increase
of HK$36.6 million or 6.2% as compared with HK$588.1 million for the
Previous Year. It is because the average selling price of the server is much
higher than that of the wire and cable business, and the profit margin was
also lower than that of the wire and cable business, so the overall profit
margin of the Group was inevitably pulled down. In the meantime, as
the materials costs were still on the high side, such as PVC cost, packing
materials cost and labour cost, the Group'’s profitability in certain sectors
have been affected differently. Although the Group adjusted the selling
price again to its customers in a range of 5% to 10% in May 2022, the
Group's gross profit margin decreased from 16.4% to 10.8% as compared
with the Previous Year. Manufacturing overhead increased by HK$113.0
million or 24.6% for the year, in which HK$88.5 million was attributable to
the new server business and the rest of HK$24.5 million was attributable
to the cable business, which represented an increase of 5.3% as compared
with the Previous Year.
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Operating Profit/Margin

Operating profit (before the loss on revaluation of building, professional
fee for acquisition and finance costs) for FY2023 was HK$315.3 million,
representing an increase of HK$38.3 million or 13.8% as compared with
HK$277.0 million recorded in the Previous Year. Operating profit margin
was 5.5% for FY2023 compared to 7.7% in the Previous Year. EBITDA of
FY2023 was HK$404.1 million which represented an increase of HK$59.4
million or 17.2% as compared with HK$344.7 million for the Previous
Year. The ratio of EBITDA to revenue for FY2023 decreased to 7.0% from
9.6% for the Previous Year.

Other income, which comprised primarily of bank interest income,
government grants and handling income was in aggregate HK$2 1.7 million
for FY2023, representing an increase of HK$15.8 million or 267.8% as
compared with HK$5.9 million for the Previous Year. Such increase was
mainly attributable to the increase of bank interest income of HK$11.1
million and the increase of government grants of HK$2.8 million.

Other gains and losses recorded a loss of HK$16.2 million for FY2023
compared to a gain of HK$1.7 million for the Previous Year. Such loss
was mainly due to the loss on disposal and written-off of property, plant
and equipment of HK$7.7 million and the net exchange loss from RMB
depreciation of HK$8.0 million, which was attributable to the Group’s
operations in the ordinary course of business, as compared to an exchange
gain of HK$0.6 million in the Previous Year.

The total operating expenses for FY2023 were HK$314.9 million,
representing a decrease of HK$7.0 million or 2.2% compared to HK$321.9
million recorded in the Previous Year. Total operating expenses as a
percentage of Group's revenue decreased from 9.0% to 5.5%.

Distribution and selling expenses decreased from HK$66.0 million to
HK$61.4 million during FY2023, representing a decrease of HK$4.6 million
or 7.0% as compared with the Previous Year. It was mainly attributable
to the decrease in freight and transportation expenses of HK$4.4 million
related to the overseas sales volume decrease of digital cable. As a
percentage of the Group’s revenue, distribution and selling expenses
decreased from 1.8% to 1.1% as compared to the Previous Year.

Administrative expenses increased from HK$134.5 million to HK$140.2
million, which represented an increase of HK$5.7 million or 4.2% as
compared with the Previous Year. The increase was mainly due to the
increase of audit fee HK$2.4 million for interim and annual reporting
purpose for the Luxshare Group’s consolidated financial statement as
being subsidiaries of Luxshare Group, and the increase of bank charges
HK$2.2 million due to the repayment of club loan and other bank loans.
Administrative expenses as a percentage of Group’s revenue decreased
from 3.7% 10 2.4%.

During FY2023, the research and development expenses were HK$109.9
million, which represented a decrease of HK$11.5 million or 9.4% as
compared with HK$121.4 million in the Previous Year. It was mainly
attributable to the decrease of materials cost and testing fee of HK$9.8
million and the decrease of staff cost of HK$1.5 million. Research and
development expenses as a percentage of Group’s revenue decreased
from 3.4% to 1.9%. The Company continued to put great efforts into
enhancing its R&D capabilities by expanding the R&D team, so as to launch
more new products and technologies.
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Professional fee for acquisition

As at 31 August 2021, the Company completed the acquisition of the
business of manufacturing and sales of automotive wire harness business
engaged by GPIM Group (the relevant subsidiaries of GP Industries, being a
previous controlling shareholder of the Company), at a final consideration of
HK$69.0 million. The expenses incurred in connection with this acquisition
was approximately HK$1.4 million for the Previous Year. In addition,
approximately HK$3.8 million professional fee incurred in connection
with the possible spin-off and separate listing of Huizhou TIME. Besides,
approximately HK$1.3 million professional fee was incurred in connection
with the acquisition of sale shares in the Company by Luxshare Precision
and mandatory unconditional cash offers to acquire all the issued shares
and to cancel all the outstanding options of the Company for FY2022.

Finance Costs

For FY2023, the finance costs were recorded at HK$55.8 million against
HK$38.0 million for the Previous Year. The finance costs included (i) bank
loan interest of HK$22.9 million for short-term bank borrowings for the
Group's operating working capital; (i) bank loan interest of HK$13.3 million
for the bank loan financing its acquisition of the digital cable business and
automotive wire harness business; (iii) interest expenses of HK$16.3 million
for several new loans from Luxshare Group for the operating working
capital of the Group; and (iv) interest expenses of HK$3.3 million on the
lease liabilities under adoption of HKFRS 16 “Leases” effective from 1
April 2019.

Profit for the year and Earnings per Share

Profit before taxation for FY2023 was HK$256.3 million, representing an
increase of HK$23.4 million or 10.0% as compared with HK$232.9 million
in the Previous Year.

Taxation represents the tax expenses arising from the assessable profit
generated by the Group in Hong Kong and the PRC. Taxation was
provided at the respective tax rate of 16.5% and 25% based on the profit
from operating activities. The major manufacturing subsidiary, Huizhou
TIME and Linkz Industries (Suzhou) Limited, were awarded the Advanced-
Technology Enterprise Certificate and are eligible for tax concessionary
rate of 15%. Taxation charges decreased from HK$64.6 million in the
Previous Year to HK$40.4 million in FY2023. The effective tax rate
decreased from 27.7% to 15.8%. Such decrease was mainly attributable
to the preparation of spin-off and separate listing in the PRC last year
which included the withholding tax of HK$10.9 million charged at 5% of
a dividend declared by Huizhou TIME and the withholding tax of HK$9.5
million charged at 10% of capital gain related to internal reorganisation
during last year.

Profit for the year of the Group for FY2023 was HK$215.9 million,
representing an increase of HK$47.6 million or 28.3% as compared
with HK$168.3 million for the Previous Year. The net profit margin was
recorded at 3.7% as compared to 4.7% for the Previous Year.

Basic earnings per share for FY2023 was HK11.1 cents as compared to the
basic earnings per share of HK9.1 cents in the Previous Year.
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Dividends

The Directors recommend to the shareholders the payment of a final
dividend in respect of FY2023 of HK0.5 cents (2022: HK1.0 cent) per
share, amounting to a total of approximately HK$9.7 million.

E

EEREARERN S = BEENRD
&S ZIOSHEBIN(ZFE 4 - 1.08L) 42
B TEEBITT °

2023 2022

HK cents HK cents

Dividend per share BEEE Al Il
Interim HHA 0.5 1.0
Final* RHER* 0.5 1.0
Total 1z 1.0 2.0

*  Final dividend proposed after the end of the reporting period

Adjusted Performance

The reported results are prepared in accordance with HKFRSs as detailed
in our financial statements starting on page 90. The Company also
presents alternative performance measures (the “non-GAAP financial
measures”). These include adjusted performance, which the Company
use to align internal and external reporting, identify and quantify items
management believes to be significant, and provide insight into how
management assesses period-on-period performance. The non-GAAP
financial measures are not intended to be considered in isolation or as
a substitute for the financial information prepared and presented in
accordance with HKFRSs. The non-GAAP financial measures facilitate
investors’ assessment of the Group’s operating performance, enhance
the understanding of the Group’s past performance as well as the future
prospects and allow for greater visibility with respect to key metrics used by
the management in their financial and operational decision-making. The
non-GAAP financial measures are generally defined as profit for the year
adjusted by excluding non-recurring and one-off items from continuing
operations, which includes the professional fee for acquisition and the
one-off withholding tax arising from the internal reorganisation relating to
the preparation of spin-off and separate listing in the PRC.

The following information details the adjustments made to the reported
results and the calculation of other alternative performance measures. All
alternative performance measures are reconciled to the closest reported
performance measure.

* KRB ERHMEMEREIRER
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Reconciliations on Non-GAAP Financial Measures

For the year ended 31 March BE=A=1T—HIHE

Profit for the year FREF

Adjustment for Professional fee WIEEZEE AR
for acquisition

Adjustment for One-off —RETEHIRL AR EE
withholding tax

Adjusted profit for the year R EREF

Revenue &

EHARFFEE(%)
EER AR EE (TR)

Adjusted net profit margin (%)
Weighted average number of
ordinary shares ("000)

Adjusted basic earnings per share  fERBEREAEF (GBW)
(Hong Kong cents)

Total profit for the year FERmFAEER

Interest expense FI BRI

Taxation BIA

Depreciation and amortisation HrEs S Ess

EBITDA EBITDA

Adjustment for Professional fee WHEEXERAAE
for acquisition

Adjusted EBITDA ¥SZAEEEBITDA

EBITDA/Revenue (%) EBITDA I£8(%)

Adjusted EBITDA/Revenue (%) ZIAREBITDA W25 (%)

Adjusted profit for the year: By excluding the professional fee for
acquisition and the one-off withholding tax arising from the internal
reorganisation relating to the preparation of spin-off and separate listing in
the PRC, the adjusted profit of FY2023 was HK$215.9 million, representing
an increase of HK$20.7 million or 10.6% as compared with HK$195.2
million for the Previous Year. The adjusted net profit margin was recorded
at 3.7% as compared with 5.4% for the Previous Year.

Adjusted basic earnings per share: Adjusted basic earnings per share
for FY2023 was HK11.1 cents as compared to the adjusted basic earnings
per share of HK10.6 cents in the Previous Year.

Adjusted EBITDA: By excluding the professional fee for acquisition,
the adjusted EBITDA of FY2023 was HK$404.1 million, representing an
increase of HK$52.9 million or 15.1% as compared with HK$351.2 million
for the Previous Year. The ratio of adjusted EBITDA to revenue decreased
to 7.0% from 9.8% for the Previous Year.
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IRDBEET R 2B EIRHR

2022
HK$'million HK$ million
BEEST BEBIT Change #5)
215.9 168.3 28.3%
6.5
- 20.4
215.9 195.2 10.6%
5,764.8 3,590.1
3.7 5.4 -1.7pts
1,945,952 1,849,527
11.1 10.6 4.7%
168.3 28.3%
38.0
64.6
73.8
344.7 17.2%
6.5
351.2 15.1%
9.6 -2.6pts
9.8 -2.8pts

BABRERRR  IRRABENEXERNE
B AT P BB L R A N ERE AR P
ER—rMTENFRE B =W BUEELH
R E215.90 88T - W EFEM195.287
EBITTIEIN20.78EBITE10.6% © KT
FIEERFE3.7% » M EFEERA5.4% °

RRESREARF | = REELHE
BEREABANAS. VB - M EFELHAE
BREABFAN10.684l -

EEAEEBITDA : HIRWBEEXERE » 3
T BAEELKFAEDITIDAA40A 1B E S
TT 0 R EMN3SI2EE BT INS2.98 B
BITI15.1% © KFAFEBITDAG U EER A
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OUTLOOK

According to the latest forecast of the “World Economic Outlook” issued
by the “International Monetary Fund” in April 2023, the global economy
appears poised for a gradual recovery from the powerful blows of the
pandemic and of Russia’s unprovoked war on Ukraine. China is rebounding
strongly following the reopening of its economy. Supply-chain disruptions
are unwinding, while the dislocations to energy and food markets caused
by the war are receding. Simultaneously, the massive and synchronous
tightening of monetary policy by most central banks should start to bear
fruit, with inflation moving back toward its targets. In their latest forecast,
global growth will bottom out at 2.8% this year before rising modestly to
3.0% in 2024. Global inflation will decrease, although more slowly than
initially anticipated, from 8.7% in 2022 to 7.0% this year and 4.9% in
2024.

However, turbulence is building, and the situation is quite fragile, as
the recent bout of banking instability reminded us. Inflation is much
stickier than anticipated even a few months ago. While global inflation
has declined, that reflects mostly the sharp reversal in energy and food
prices, but core inflation has not yet peaked in many countries. It is
expected to decline to 5.1% this year, a sizable upward revision of 0.6
percentage point from their previous update, well above target. Risks to
the outlook are heavily skewed to the downside, with the chances of a
hard landing having risen sharply. Financial sector stress could amplify
and contagion could take hold, weakening the real economy through a
sharp deterioration in financing conditions and compelling central banks
to reconsider their policy paths. Pockets of sovereign debt distress could,
in the context of higher borrowing costs and lower growth, spread and
become more systemic. The war in Ukraine could intensify and lead to
more food and energy price spikes, pushing inflation up. Core inflation
could turn out more persistent than anticipated, requiring even more
monetary tightening to tame. Fragmentation into geopolitical blocs has
the scope to generate large output losses, including through its effects on
foreign direct investment.

However, the PRC has continuously made great efforts to accelerate the
research and development of 5G technology. With the rapid development
of the 5G cellular network technology and the 5G network deployment
announced by various mobile operators in recent years, more and more
5G devices and equipment will be gradually and massively replaced in
the coming years. It is expected to drive the demand of cable assembly
products and telecommunication sector and benefit the Group’s business
growth. In the meantime, the COVID-19 pandemic has changed many
economic activities, such as work from home and online meetings have
become a trend even not during the lockdown period and persistent social
distancing, which will also directly increase the application and demand of
network communication. So even when we are facing such challenges and
difficulties in the macro-economic environment, the management remains
confident in 5G-related business. The Group has already planned to set up
a new plant in Mexico to increase its market share in markets outside China
and Asia, the enlarged production capacity and well-established business
fundamentals would enable the Group to capture market opportunities
upon the arrival of this generation 5G network.
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Moreover, the utilisation rate of cloud technology in companies around
the world is continuously increasing. In cloud computing, the computing
storage network must be placed in the data centre, therefore, the growing
cloud technology is expected to drive the development of data centre.
Meanwhile, the development of 5G will boost the application of big data,
loT, internet gaming and video streaming through cloud platform. The
Group remains very positive on the continuous growth of the business of
data centre sector.

By the end of 2022, local transmission of the virus was brought to low
levels everywhere through a combination of better-targeted precautions
and improved access to vaccines and therapies. Various regions and
countries continue to relax epidemic prevention measures and travel
restrictions. The market seems to be restarting, and people are returning
to normal activities and life. Having said that, there is still a risk of the virus
mutating, and there may be a rebound phenomenon. In addition, people
have paid more attention to health, the demand for medical equipment
will continue to increase. As for the medical equipment sector, the Group
expects the demand for medical equipment cables will continue to bring
positive impact to the Group’s medical equipment cables orders this
year. Moving ahead, the Group believes that this sector will maintain its
dynamic pace of growth, considering the arising demand from the medical
equipment market. To catch up with the trend, the Group will continue to
enhance its medical equipment customers base, as well as to strengthen
its R&D capabilities.

Considering the vigorous development of the automotive and electric
vehicle markets, China has remained the world’s largest auto market
and auto producer in the past few years. As the PRC government has
launched certain industry plans that focus on technological improvements
and fossil fuels are expected to be exhausted soon in the future, large
PRC companies have announced their initiatives to develop electric
vehicles and/or autonomous driving technologies. In October 2020, the
State Council set a goal and stated that by 2025, the sales of new energy
vehicles in China will reach 20% of the total sales of new vehicles. The
Group believes that the automotive wiring products can help the Group
to provide our customers with a broader product portfolio, and to step
in new business sector by enriching the Group’s business portfolio and
broadening its unique customer base, helping the Group to capture
opportunities brought by the booming electric vehicle market.
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In view of the great market potential of cloud service, communications,
transportation and electricity in the PRC, the Group set up a wholly-owned
subsidiary, Time X-Ware Technology Limited, in April 2022 to commence
a new server business, which is deeply customized according to brand
customers’ requirements. Our go-to-market strategy and business model
will be JDM/ODM model. The products offered by the Group under the
server business are mainly applied in data centres, which includes rack-
mounted computing servers, edge servers, Al smart servers, storage servers,
smart network cards, GPU cards, complete cabinet products, etc. The
server business and the existing wire and cable business have an upstream
and downstream relationship. It is expected that the server business will
represent an opportunity for the Group to expand its existing converged
wire and cable products to a larger customer portfolio. In addition, the
Company considers there will be a degree of vertical integration with the
existing production of the Group, allowing an optimized cost structure.
Given that Luxshare Group has (i) a solid technical team with efficient
operation management/automation capabilities; and (ii) good relationship
with core customers in the PRC, it is expected that Luxshare Group will bring
synergies to the Group to further expand the PRC market by increasing
the share of orders from data centre customers in the market. Moreover,
having considered that (i) China is actively conducting investment activities
to build digital infrastructure; (ii) the PRC manufacturers continue to
increase the share of local supply chain due to geopolitics relationship;
and (i) Luxshare Group has extensive technological knowhow and good
customers’ relationships, the Board is optimistic on the future potential
growth of the server business. The Board believes the development of the
server business is a good opportunity for the Group to further develop
its business and will help to diversify the Group’s business as well as the
Group's income stream.

Riding on the PRC government’s policy of “channelling computing
resources from the eastern areas to the western regions” (REFHE),
Luxshare Precision will deploy the platform advantages and market
position of the Luxshare Group and introduce strategic resources to the
Company with intention to further strengthen the Company’s potential for
continuous growth and core competitiveness in its market and to enable
the Company to develop strategically to become an all-rounded network
solutions and infrastructure provider, so as to create greater value for the
shareholders. In this regard, Luxshare Precision is conducting a strategic
review of the operations and financial position of the Company, and actively
exploring business opportunities for the growth and development, in both
organic and inorganic manners, of the Company. The Company believes
that the strategic alliance between Luxshare Precision and the Company
would enable the Company to further benefit from the development
and synergy in the fields of consumer electronics, communications,
healthcare, automobile industry, in terms of products, customers, and
marketing, through integration of customer and market resources as well
as technologies and R&D capabilities of the Luxshare Group.
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

Shareholders’ funds as at 31 March 2023 were approximately HK$1,132.4
million, which represented an increase of HK$81.2 million or 7.7% from
HK$1,051.2 million as at 31 March 2022. The increase was mainly due to
the profit attributable to shareholders equity for the year HK$167.6 million,
although there was a decrease of HK$108.8 million in the translation
reserve from converting Renminbi into Hong Kong dollars as recorded in
the financial statements of the PRC subsidiaries due to the depreciation
of RMB at the reporting date. As a result, shareholders’ funds per share
increased by 1.8% from HK$0.57 to HK$0.58.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had bank balances and cash of
HK$288.0 million, representing an increase of 30.4% as compared to
HK$220.9 million as of 31 March 2022. Such increase was mainly due
to the loans provided from Luxshare Group for financing the Group’s
operating working capital. As at 31 March 2023, the Group's bank loan
was HK$1,348.1 million, representing an increase of HK$285.9 million or
26.9% from HK$1,062.2 million as at 31 March 2022. The Group believes
it has sufficient committed and unutilised banking facilities as at 31 March
2023 to meet its current business operation and capital expenditure
requirements.

Analysis of Cash Flow from Operations

For the year ended 31 March

BE-—A=1T—HIFE

Operating profit

Professional fee for acquisition

(Loss) gain on revaluation of land
and buildings

Depreciation and amortisation

EBITDA

Interest income

Impairment loss under expected credit
loss on trade receivable

Gain on change in fair value of
financial assets

Loss (gain) on disposal of
tangible assets

Write-down of inventories

Share based payments

Gain on bargain purchase

Loss (gain) on revaluation of land
and buildings

Working capital change

Cash (used in) generated from
operations
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2023 2022 Change &%)
HKS$’million HK$ 'million HK$ 'million
BEET BEETT BEET
315.3 277.0 38.3

- (6.5) 6.5

(3.2) 0.4 (3.6)
92.0 73.8 18.2
404.1 344.7 59.4
(11.9) (0.8) 11.1)
3.4 - 3.4

(0.2) -

(0.9) 8.6

49 22.1

4.3 (2.2)

(3.2) 3.2

3.2 (0.4) 3.6
(1,828.8) (85.9) (1,742.9)
(1,393.4) 262.5 (1,655.9)

AEFN _FB_—UHFELLANRESA
1381 1BEBT  REFEREELANRS
262 5SEEBITTHA626.1% - BEEA T ES
AR HTIRIEBREBNEEELTEE -

The Group’s cash used in operations for FY2023 was HK$1,381.1 million,
a decrease of 626.1% as compared to HK$262.5 million cash generated
from operations in the Previous Year. The decrease was mainly attributable
to the need of working capital for new server business.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (contD)
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Working Capital Change

As at 31 March N=B=+—H

Stocks FE

Trade debtors FEWERTE

Other debtors, deposits HMMEWR ~ e LIBNRIE
and prepayments

Trade creditors FEERIE

Other creditors and accruals HibEN R L ESTE

Total working capital EEESHR

Stock as of 31 March 2023 increased to HK$2,050.6 million from HK$653.6
million as of 31 March 2022. The increase was mainly attributable to the
increase from new server business. Since the average turnover days of
server business was longer than cable business, the Group’s turnover days
increased from 69 days to 96 days.

Change %&£ &} 2022

HKS$'million HK$ million HK$ million
BEET BEETT BEETT
2,050.6 1,397.0 653.6
1,266.5 267.7 998.8
274.7 183.3 91.4
(867.3) (72.2) (795.1)
(102.5) (12.0) (90.5)
2,622.0 1,763.8 858.2

AR =F=A=+—HmMEFEER2,050.68

EBET O ®R_F__F=A=1+—H653.6
BEBITTBEATIEM © ZE N EBZHNH RS
BREFFIEM - ARREHREB T AEHER
BHEEFR  AEENEAEBHMROHENE
96H -

As at 31 March R=A=+—H 2023 2022

HK$’'million HK$'million

BEAET BEET

Stock FE 2,050.6 653.6
Average stocks as a percentage of Cost of I EESLHEHRERKANE DL

Goods Sold 26.3% 18.8%

Turnover days A2 96 69

Trade debtors as of 31 March 2023 increased to HK$1,266.5 million
from HK$998.8 million as of 31 March 2022. The higher trade debtor
balance was mainly due to the increase in revenue of new server business
in FY2023 as compared to Previous Year. Since the average debtors’
turnover days of server business was shorter than cable business, the
debtors’ turnover days of the Group decreased from 89 days to 72 days.

The Group has tight management on credit exposure, and has delegated a
credit team responsible for determination of credit limits, credit approvals
and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group has reviewed
the recoverable amount of each individual trade debt at the end of each
reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made
for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the Directors consider that the
Group's credit risk is significantly reduced. The overdue balances greater
than 90 days accounted for 0.06% of the gross trade debtors as of 31
March 2023.

A =HFZR=t+—HWERRER_F

T HE=A=1t—HM998 sHEB T INE
1,266.5HEETT - EWERIBARIEINFEERH
RNIB =M RFEENERGER EFEEM - K
RRBBREB YRR AE SR ERE
BE 0 AEBERSANEE R HIHBESE
728 o

AEEHEERRBITEKREE  WHKEE
EXasEERACETE  FERIZ - I
REHEMEERF - BARERIURER U
BHER - o - FAEECNIWMERRRE
BERYREN A ICIEEE - LIEARIA I
ClEFERBETTRERE - RS - EFR
R AEENGEERRBEERE - R _F_=
FZA=1T—H  BPEBI0HRERERIE
FEWIRIRA8RAY0.06% °

As at 31 March R=B=+—H 2023 2022

HKS$’million HK$ 'million

BEETT AEBIT

Trade debtors and bills receivables FEUWERIE R FEINE B 1,266.5 998.8
Average trade debtors as a percentage T EBERIE(RI R B0 L

of revenue 19.7% 24.4%

Turnover days AEBEE 72 89
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (contD)
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Other debtors, deposits and prepayments as of 31 March 2023 were
HK$274.7 million, increased from HK$91.4 million as of 31 March 2022.
It was mainly attributable to the increase of new server business.

Trade creditors as of 31 March 2023 were HK$867.3 million, as compared
to HK$795.1 million as of 31 March 2022. It was mainly attributable to the
increase of new server business. Since the average creditors’ turnover days
of server business was shorter than cable business, the creditors’ turnover
days of the Group decreased from 79 days to 59 days.

RZFB__F_RA=t+—ANEMERR - 1%
EREARER274TEEET B_F__
F=A=+—HMN4EEBTEFTEM » T
FEHRRBSRFFEM °

NS _=F=ZRA=1+—HWENGRIEA

8673EEBIL M_ZF__F#=A=1+—H
AIA795 1 B&EBIT ) WEEHNHRERE
IFEI - AR RISSEENEHEA TN EE
HERBRERE  AEBENFANEERE
HR79BBAES9H -

As at 31 March MW=R=+—H 2023 2022

HK$'million HK$'million

BEET BEBT

Trade creditors and bills payables FETRRIEREMER 867.3 795.1
Average trade creditors as a percentage of FHEMRBAEEERKAB AL

Cost of Goods Sold 16.2% 21.7%

Turnover days AEAE 59 79

Other creditors and accruals as of 31 March 2023 increased to HK$102.5
million from HK$90.5 million as of 31 March 2022, which was mainly due
to the increase of new server business.

Capital Expenditure

For FY2023, the Group invested HK$227.3 million in the purchase
of tangible assets including machinery and equipment, leasehold
improvements and office equipment. All these capital expenditures were
financed from internal resources.

Charge on Group Assets

Save for the bank deposits that were pledged to secure the bills payables
issued by the bank under the general banking facilities granted to the
Group, as at 31 March 2023 and 2022, banking facilities extended to the
Group were not secured with the Group's assets. Pledged bank deposits
amounted to HK$974.6 million and HK$5.8 million as at 31 March 2023
and 2022 respectively.

Gearing Ratio

Gearing ratio is calculated as net debt (defined as bank loans, loans from
parent company and lease liabilities less bank balances and cash and
pledged deposits) divided by the sum of net debt and total equity, and
multiplied by 100%. As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s gearing ratio was
64.9% as compared to the Previous Year 45.7%, the increase was mainly
attributable to the loans provided from Luxshare Group for financing the
Group's operating working capital.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. There has been no change in the capital structure of the Group
since then. The share capital of the Group only comprises of ordinary
shares.

As at 31 March 2023, the Company'’s issued share capital was HK$19.5

million and the number of its issued ordinary shares were 1,945,952,000
of HK$0.01 each.

E BRI B R/ A TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (contD)
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FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

Most of the Group’s receipts and payments are denominated in United
States dollars, Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi and Euro. The Group’s
management monitors the risk of related foreign exchange exposure
by entering into forward foreign exchange contracts. Foreign currency
exchange rates are volatile and may have an impact on the Group’s
results. The Group’s management evaluates the Group’s foreign currency
exposure on a continuing basis and takes actions to minimise the Group’s
exposure whenever necessary.

TREASURY POLICIES

As an internal treasury policy, the Group continues to implement a prudent
policy on financial management policy and does not participate in any high-
risk speculative activities. However, the Group’s management monitors
exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise. The Group will also monitor and maintain
a Hong Kong dollar cash balance to minimise the need for unnecessary
foreign exchange conversion which may result in exchange loss.

The reporting currency of the Group is presented in Hong Kong dollars,
as the Directors consider that it is more relevant to the users of the
consolidated financial statements as the Company listed its shares on the
Stock Exchange.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT

LIABILITIES
As of 31 March 2023, the Group had not provided any form of guarantee
for any company outside the Group and had not been involved in any

material legal proceedings for which provision for contingent liabilities was
required.

As at 31 March 2023, the capital commitment of the Group is as follows:

4 EE LB

REERIAWARUET ~ BT - ARER
BUTEHE - ARETEB BRI ERINES
MEREMBINERR - EXRE R REH AL
BEEELRE - AEEEHERETEEAS
B RIS B BRI ) R R A Ha R 2 R E AR
SERER

EEFEEUR

ERAIEHEBUR - AREREN Y BEEER
REBEBBBCR » WES RIS ERREE
B - A > AEEESEESERINERR @ I
MR BREEEBHITEARIMNERR - KEET
RERNMEFETREER - UESRIVETA
AESI BB BB AL EINEIRIFTR -

AEENZHREWRBIT - THARESERA
BN GRSV BRENEMERAHE » KA
RANBRD B PT £ -

BEARERBARE

RIZB_=F=A=1—0H ' ARELEAX
SBELOMEM AT LUEMR NAEER > INE
B EAERNEEFRMANIAR B EFHE
s

RIZB_=F=A=1—0 ' 2RENELXK
B

Capital expenditure in respect of the
acquisition of property, plant and
equipment contracted but not provided for
in the consolidated financial statements

s

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND
AFFILIATED COMPANIES AND PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Group did not have any significant
investments held, material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries and
associations for FY2023. There is no other plan for material investments or
capital assets as at 31 March 2023.

BREAWBERTERRR
EHBEIMZE - BELREBHER

2023 2022
HK$'million HK$ million
BEET BEETT
T A BRI
5.7

FREEAKRE - EXNERLENE
RERBBATDUREXIESER
EE:TE

BRAFRATIKEE R _=PBFE -
AEEVHEFEEMEARE  ERKEH
ERBARLBMEAR - R_F_=F=A=
+—0  BEAMERRENEREETS -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (contD)
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Directors believe that there are certain risks and uncertainties involved
in the operations of the Group, some of which are beyond the Group's
control. The Directors believe the more significant risks relating to the
business are as follows:

— the Group may experience labour shortage or unrest or may incur high
labour costs;

— the Group is exposed to credit risk of its customers;

— fluctuations in the prices of the Group’s major raw materials or
commodity prices could materially and adversely affect its business,
financial conditions and results of operations;

— if the Group fails to attract or retain its key managerial and technical
personnel, the Group may compromise its ability to maintain strong
relationships with its customers and suppliers, develop new products
and effectively carry on the R&D and other efforts;

— any occurrence of natural disasters, widespread health epidemics or
other events could have a material adverse effect on the business,
financial condition and results of operations of the Group.

A detailed discussion of the risk factors is set forth in the section headed
“Risk Factors” in the Prospectus.

EMPLOYEE

As of 31 March 2023, the total headcount for the Company was
approximately 3,949, compared to 3,232 in the Previous Year. The
increase was mainly driven by the increase of new server business and
the increase of new hiring staff from Huizhou TIME. Fair and competitive
remuneration package and benefits are offered to employees as well as
discretionary bonus and share options. Various types of trainings were
provided to the employees. Total employee benefit expenses including
Directors’ remuneration for FY2023 were approximately HK$504.6
million, as compared to approximately HK$459.4 million in the Previous
Year. Remuneration is determined with reference to performance, skills,
qualifications and experience of the staff concerned and in accordance
with the prevailing industry practice.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the
Group are set out as follows:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Cua Tin Yin Simon (“Mr. Cua”), aged 61, joined the Group in
1992 and has been appointed as the chief executive officer (the “Chief
Executive Officer”) and an executive Director since 10 July 2017. Mr.
Cua has gathered extensive experiences in the electronics and cable
industry in the PRC since the 1980s. Mr. Cua was honoured with the
Young Industrialist Awards of Hong Kong. He is one of the founding
members of the China Overseas Chinese Entrepreneurs Association
("COCEA") and has been a member of COCEA since January 2008. He
has also been elected as a council member of International Cablemakers
Federation since 2014. He is currently a member of Hong Kong-Shanghai
Economic Development Association, the director of Shanghai Chinese
Overseas Friendship Association and the executive committee member of
Hong Kong Electronic Industries Association and Hong Kong Electronics
Industry Council. He also serves as a member of Ivey Asian Advisory Board
of Ivey Business School of Asia of The University of Western Ontario. Mr.
Cua holds a Master of Business Administration degree and an honorary
Doctorate of Laws (LL.D.) degree from The University of Western Ontario,
Canada.

Mr. Wong Chi Kuen (“Mr. Wong"), aged 58, joined the Group in
2010 and has been appointed as the chief financial officer (the “Chief
Financial Officer”) and an executive Director since 10 July 2017. Mr.
Wong has over 25 years of experience in management accounting and
operation management. He first joined Linkz Industries Limited (”Linkz
Industries”) (the former controlling shareholder of the Company) in 1994
and was transferred to LTK International Limited (a subsidiary of Belden
Inc., a company listed on the Stock Exchange of New York (stock code:
BDCQ)) following the disposal of Linkz's electronic cables business in 2007.
Mr. Wong re-joined Linkz Industries as financial controller in July 2010.
Mr. Wong obtained a Bachelor of Business Administration from Hong
Kong Metropolitan University (formerly known as The Open University of
Hong Kong). Mr. Wong is currently a fellow member of the Association of
International Accountants and a certified public accountant of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He was also admitted as
International Accountant (FAIA) jointly by Association of International
Accountants and China Association of Chief Financial Officers.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Ms. Wang Laichun (“Ms. Wang"), aged 56, has been appointed as the
chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”) and the non-executive Director
since 19 April 2022.

Ms. Wang has over 30 years of experience in the electronics industry. She
is the chairman and general manager of Luxshare Precision Industry Co.,
Ltd., a company incorporated in the PRC with limited liability and listed
on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 002475). Ms. Wang had
worked in Sanyo Electric (Shekou) Co., Ltd. from 1984 to 1986. Ms. Wang
had worked in the Wiring Business Unit of Foxconn, a subsidiary of Hon
Hai Technology Group (Foxconn) for nearly 10 years since 1988. Ms. Wang
left Foxconn in 1997 to start her own business. In 1999, Ms. Wang and
Mr. Wang Laisheng jointly purchased the shares of Luxshare Limited. In
2004, Ms. Wang founded Luxshare Precision Industry (Shenzhen) Co.,
Ltd. through Luxshare Limited and acted as the chairman of the board of
directors. Ms. Wang holds an EMBA from the Shenzhen Graduate School
of Tsinghua University.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (contp)
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Ho Hin Shun (“Mr. Ho"), aged 58, has been appointed as the
independent non-executive Director since 24 January 2018. Mr. Ho
has over 30 years of experience in sales and marketing on electronics
components and substantial management experience in multinational
corporations. Mr. Ho obtained a Bachelor of Science degree in Engineering
from the University of Hong Kong. He further obtained his Master of
Business Administration from The Chinese University of Hong Kong.

Mr. Luk Wai Shing (“Mr. Luk”), aged 54, has been appointed as the
independent non-executive Director since 24 January 2018. Mr. Luk has
over 26 years' experience of business development, marketing, customers
relationship and compliance in banking industry. Mr. Luk obtained a
Bachelor of Business Administration degree from The Chinese University
of Hong Kong and has been a certified financial planner accredited by the
Institute of Financial Planners of Hong Kong.

Mr. Chan Chung Shun Eric (“Mr. Eric Chan"), aged 57, has been
appointed as the independent non-executive Director since 24 January
2018. Mr. Eric Chan has over 30 years’ experience in the senior
positions of the finance and accounting field. He obtained a Master of
Management Sciences degree from University of Hull. Mr. Eric Chan has
been a certified public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and a fellow of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chaung Kwai Wing (“Mr. Chaung”), aged 59, joined the Group
in 2020 and is currently the Chief Operating Officer of the Group and a
director of Linkz Industries (Suzhou) Limited (“Linkz Ind (Suzhou)”) and
Linkz Industries (Shanghai) Limited (“Linkz (Shanghai)”). He has been
engaging in the electronics and cable industry for over 36 years, taking
senior positions in sales and marketing and general management. He first
joined Linkz Industries in 1996 and was transferred to LTK International
Limited following the disposal of Linkz's electronic cables business in 2007.
He re-joined the Group in 2020. Mr. Chaung holds a Master of Business
Administration degree and a Bachelor of Science degree from The Chinese
University of Hong Kong.

Mr. Li Ping Kuen, aged 57, joined the Group in 1993 and is currently
the Chief Technology Officer of the Group. He has been engaging in the
electronics and cable industry for over 34 years, dedicated to research and
development of new products and technology. Mr. Li Ping Kuen holds a
Bachelor of Science degree in Engineering from the University of Hong
Kong.

Mr. Chan Ting Hei (“Mr. Chan"), aged 59, joined the Group in 1992 and
is currently the Chief Procurement Officer of the Group and a director of
Huizhou TIME, Linkz Ind (Suzhou) and Linkz (Shanghai). Mr. Chan has over
33 years’ working experience in the cable industry. He obtained a Master of
Science degree in Management of Manufacture from Coventry Polytechnic
(now known as Coventry University), a Master of Business Administration
degree from the University of South Australia and a Master of Arts degree
in International Business Management from the City University of Hong
Kong.
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Mr. Chu Yi Fu (“Mr. Chu"), aged 57, joined the Group in April 2018
and is currently the General Manager of Time Interconnect Technology
(Huizhou) Limited (“Huizhou TIME") and a director of Time Interconnect
Wire Technology (Huizhou) Limited (“Time Wire Huizhou”), Huizhou
Chuangxiang Technology Limited (“Huizhou Chuangxiang”) and TIME
Robotics Technology (Shanghai) Limited (“Shanghai TIME”). Mr. Chu
has over 21 years’ working experience in the cable industry, taking senior
positions in business development and factory management. He obtained
an EMBA from Fudan University, PRC.

Mr. Zhan Yangwang (“Mr. Zhan”), aged 50, joined the Group in
2012 and is currently the Deputy General Manager of Huizhou TIME
and Financial Controller of the Cable Assembly Business and a director
of Time Wire Huizhou. Mr. Zhan has over 27 years’ working experience
in the accounting and finance field. He obtained an Associate degree
of Industrial Management Engineering in Industrial Accounting from
Nanchang University and a Master of Business Administration degree from
the Hong Kong Baptist University.

Mr. Zhong Xilin ("Mr. Zhong"), aged 43, joined the Group in 2003
and is currently the Assistant General Manager of Sales of the Cable
Assembly Business. Mr. Zhong has over 23 years’ experience of sales and
marketing in the cable industry. He completed a professional training in
Plants Protection from Hengyang City Agricultural School and obtained
an Associate degree in Business Administration from the Communication
University of China.

Mr. Zhou Yinfa (“Mr. Zhou"), aged 58, joined the Group in 2005 and
is currently the Assistant General Manager of Manufacturing of Huizhou
TIME and Huizhou Chuangxiang. Mr. Zhou has over 34 years’ working
experience in the cable industry. He obtained a Bachelor of Engineering
degree from South China University of Technology and has been qualified
as an electrical and mechanical engineer.

Mr. Li Yuezhong (“Mr. Li”), aged 53, joined the Group in 2003 and is
currently the Assistant General Manager of Sales of Huizhou TIME. Mr.
Li has over 30 years’ working experience in various cable companies.
He obtained an Associate Degree in Secretarial Studies from Xiangtan
University and a National Marketing Manager Qualification Certificate
from the Marketing Professional Committee of China Business Manager
Association.

Mr. Liu Zuhong (“Mr. Liu”), aged 73, joined the Group in 2020 and
is currently the Assistant to CEO of the Digital Cable Business. Mr. Liu
has over 32 years’ experience in the electronics and cable industry in
PRC, taking senior positions in business development, domestic sales and
factory management.

Mr. Yao Honglin ("Mr. Yao"), aged 57, joined the Group in 1999 and is
currently the Assistant General Manager of Manufacturing of the Digital
Cable Business. Mr. Yao has over 35 years of experience in technology
development, quality control and production management. He obtained an
Associate degree in Mechanical Engineering — Mechanical Manufacturing
Technology and Equipment from Nantong University (formerly known as
Nantong Textile Engineering College) and a Quality Professional certificate
issued by the State General Administration of the People’s Republic of
China for Quality Supervision and Inspection and Quarantine.
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Mr. Liu Yaliang, aged 48, joined the Group in 2000 and is currently the
Chief Engineer of the Digital Cable Business. Mr. Liu Yaliang has over 24
years' experience of manufacturing engineering and product development
in the wire and cable industry, with his efforts committed to R&D of digital
cables in the latest 18 years. He obtained a Bachelor of Engineering degree
in Mechanical Electrical Engineering from Nanjing University of Science &
Technology. Mr. Liu Yaliang has also been qualified as a Senior Engineer
in Professor Level (IE&#k T#2AM) and appointed as a part-time tutor for
master’'s degree students in electrical engineering of Harbin University
of Science and Technology and a distinguished expert for the Research
Centre of the Economic Operation of the Optical Fiber and Electric Cable
and Optical Device Industry. He received a number of technical awards
from Shanghai local authorities and reputable institutions of the industry.

Mr. Fu Kuanlin ("Mr. Fu”), aged 52, joined the Group in 2019 and is
currently the Director of Manufacturing — Specialty Cables of the Digital
Cable Business. Mr. Fu has over 29 years’ working experience in the wire
and cable industry. He holds a Master of Business Administration degree
from Xi‘an Jiaotong University and a Bachelor of Engineering degree in
Mechanical Manufacturing Technology and Equipment from Hunan
University.

Mr. Ling Zhen (“Mr. Ling”), aged 48, joined the Group in 1995 and is
currently the Assistant Financial Controller of the Digital Cable Business.
He is also the Supervisor of Linkz Ind (Suzhou), Linkz (Shanghai), Hover
(Kunshan) Electronic Material Co., Limited and Kunshan Degin Machinery
Limited. Mr. Ling has over 27 years’ working experience in the finance and
accounting field. He holds an Associate degree in International Accounting
from East China Normal University and an accountancy certificate issued
and approved by the Ministry of Personnel and Ministry of Finance of the
PRC.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Ng Hoi Ying (“Ms. Ng”), aged 36, has been appointed as the
company secretary of the Company since 1 March 2019. Ms. Ng has over
14 years of experience in auditing, accounting and financial reporting.
Ms. Ng is currently a company secretarial manager at Blooming (HK)
Business Limited, a company primarily engaged in corporate advisory and
company secretarial services. Ms. Ng is also the company secretary of
seven companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Ms. Ng obtained a degree
of Bachelor of Business Administration (Honours) in Accountancy from The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Ms. Ng is a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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The Board is pleased to present the annual report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company, and its subsidiaries are principally
engaged in manufacture and sales of cable assembly, digital cable and server
products (the “Core Business”). Details of the principal activities of its subsidiaries
are set out in Note 35 to the consolidated financial statements. There were no
significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year is set out in the “Chairman’s
Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) on 28 December
2018. Details of the Dividend Policy is disclosed as below.

The Company adopts a general dividend policy that aims to provide shareholders of
the Company out of the Group's profit attributable to shareholders in any financial
year, subject to the criteria set out below.

Such declaration and payment of dividends shall remain to be determined at the
discretion of the Board and subject to all applicable requirements (including without
limitation restrictions on dividend declaration and payment) under the Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the memorandum and articles
of association of the Company.

In proposing any dividend payout, the Board shall also take into account, inter alia:—
e the Group actual and expected financial performance;

e Shareholders’ interests;

e retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and each of the
other members of the Group;

e the level of the Group’s debts to equity ratio, return on equity and financial
covenants to which the Group is subject;

e possible effects on the Group’s creditworthiness;

e any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by the Group’s
lenders;

e the Group's expected working capital requirements and future expansion plans;

e liquidity position and future commitments at the time of declaration of dividend,;

e taxation considerations;

e statutory and regulatory restrictions;

e general business conditions and strategies;

e general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s business and other
internal or external factors that may have an impact on the business or financial

performance and position of the Company; and

e other factors that the Board deems appropriate.
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The Board may propose the payment of dividends, if any, with respect to the
Company'’s shares on a per share basis.

In addition to cash, dividends may be distributed in the form of shares subject to
and in accordance with the procedures set out in the Company’s memorandum and
articles of association.

Except for interim dividend, any dividends declared by the Company must be
approved by an ordinary resolution of shareholders at the general meeting and
must not exceed the amount recommended by the Board. The Board may from time
to time pay to the shareholders such interim dividends as appear to the directors to
be justified by the profits of the Company available for distribution.

The Company will continually review the Dividend Policy and reserves the right in
its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and/or modify the Dividend Policy
at any time, and the Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute a legally binding
commitment by the Company that dividends will be paid in any particular amount
and/or in no way obligate the Company to declare a dividend at any time or from
time to time.

Pursuant to the Code Provision F.1.1 under Appendix 14 Corporate Governance
Code and Corporate Governance Report, the Company should disclose the policy
on payment of dividend in the annual report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023 are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income of this
annual report. The state of affairs of the Group and the Company as at 31 March
2023 are set out in the consolidated statement of financial position and Note 34 to
the consolidated financial statements respectively. The Board does recommend the
payment of a final dividend of HKO.5 cents (2022: HK1.0 cent) per share, amounting
to a total of approximately HK$9.7 million (2022: HK$19.5 million).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBER

The forthcoming annual general meeting is scheduled to be held on Monday, 28
August 2023 (the “2023 AGM"). For determining the entitlement to attend and
vote at the AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed from
Wednesday, 23 August 2023 to Monday, 28 August 2023, both days inclusive,
during which period no transfer of shares of the Company will be registered. In
order to attend and vote at the AGM, all share transfer documents accompanied
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the share registrar of the
Company in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, 17/F, Far East Finance
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong, for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on
Tuesday, 22 August 2023.

In order to qualify for the entitlement to the proposed final dividend, the register
of members of the Company will also be closed from Friday, 1 September 2023 to
Wednesday, 6 September 2023, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer
of shares in the Company will be registered. All transfer of shares, accompanied by
the relevant share certificates, must be lodged with the branch share registrar of the
Company in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on
Thursday, 31 August 2023. If the resolution of the proposed final dividend is passed
at the 2023 AGM, the proposed final dividend will be payable to Shareholders
whose names appear on the register of members of the Company on Wednesday,
6 September 2023. The proposed final dividend is expected to be paid on or before
Tuesday, 26 September 2023.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the five financial
years is set out on page 160 in this annual report. This summary does not form part
of the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group during the
year are set out in Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the year, together with
the reasons thereof, are set out in Note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the
year are set out in consolidated statement of changes in equity and Note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 March 2023, the Company’s reserves available for distribution to owners
comprising share premium account add accumulated profits, amounted to
approximately HK$338.5 million.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Company conditionally adopted a share option scheme on 24 January 2018
(the “2018 Share Option Scheme”). Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed
at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 21 March 2023,
the Company conditionally adopted a new share option scheme (the “2023 Share
Option Scheme”) and terminated the 2018 Share Option Scheme. The summary
of the 2023 Share Option Scheme are set out in a circular to the shareholders of the
Company dated 2 March 2023. The terms of the 2023 Share Option Scheme are in
accordance with the provisions of Chapter 17 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and other relevant rules and
regulations. Further details of the 2023 Share Option Scheme are set out in Note 29
to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive rights under the memorandum and articles of
association of the Company or the laws of the Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction
of which the Company is incorporate, which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

DONATION

Charitable donations made by the Group during the year ended 31 March 2023
amounted to approximately HK$51,900 (2022: approximately HK$45,900).

CHANGE OF CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER AND THE OFFER

On 11 February 2022, Datatech Investment Inc. and Time Interconnect Holdings
Limited (collectively, the “Sellers”) and Luxshare Precision Limited (“Luxshare
Precision”) entered into the sale and purchase agreement, pursuant to which
the Sellers agreed to sell and Luxshare Precision agreed to purchase a total of
1,380,000,000 shares, representing approximately 74.67 % of the entire issued share
capital of the Company at that time, for a total consideration of HK$1,104,000,000
(equivalent to HK$0.80 per sale share) (the “Sale and Purchase Agreement”).
Following the completion of the Sale and Purchase Agreement which took place
on 16 March 2022, Luxshare Precision became the controlling shareholder of
the Company and was required under the Code on Takeovers and Mergers (the
“Takeover Code”) to make a mandatory unconditional cash offer to acquire all
the issued shares (other than those already owned or agreed to be acquired by
Luxshare Precision) at HK0.80 per offer share (the “Offer"”). Pursuant to Rule 13 of
the Takeover Code, Luxshare Precision is required to make an appropriate cash offer
to the offer option holders to cancel all offer options.
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The Offer was closed on 19 April 2022. Having made all reasonable enquiries and to
the best knowledge and belief of the Board, Luxshare Precision held 1,380,594,000
shares immediately after the close of Offer on 19 April 2022. Between the
commencement of the offer period and immediately prior to the close of the Offer a
total of 77,736,000 Offer Options at the exercise price of HK$0.349 per Share and
20,176,000 Offer Options at the exercise price of HK$0.320 per Share had been
exercised resulting in an allotment and issue of a total of 97,912,000 Shares as at
the close of the Option Offer, and none of the Offer Options granted under the
2018 Share Option Scheme have not been exercised or cancelled pursuant to the
acceptance of the Option Offer and would automatically lapse on the date falling
one month from the date on which the Offers become or are declared unconditional
(i.e. Friday, 29 April 2022).

Details of the change of controlling shareholder of the Company and the Offer were
set out in the joint announcements dated 11 February 2022, 4 March 2022, 16
March 2022, 29 March 2022, 19 April 2022 and the composite document dated 29
March 2022 jointly issued by the Company and Luxshare Precision.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2023, six non-exempt continuing connected
transactions have been entered and will continue to be carried out between the
Company and Luxshare Precision Industry Co., Limited (Zz\{E% T ERMBERA
AJ) (“Luxshare Precision Industry“) and Luxshare Electronic Technology (Kunshan)
Co., Ltd. (ZFAEFRE (EIU) BRAF) (“Luxshare Electronic”).

The Luxshare Precision Master Supply Agreement

On 19 July 2022, the Company entered into the Luxshare Precision Master Supply
Agreement with Luxshare Precision Industry, pursuant to which the Group agreed
to sell Cable Products in accordance with specifications as requested by the Luxshare
Precision Industry and its subsidiaries but excluding the Group (“Luxshare Precision
Group”). The Luxshare Precision Master Supply Agreement has a fixed term from
19 July 2022 to 31 March 2025 (both days inclusive). For details, please refer to the
announcement dated 19 July 2022.

The Luxshare Precision Master Purchase Agreement

On 19 July 2022, the Company entered into the Luxshare Precision Master Purchase
Agreement with Luxshare Precision Industry, pursuant to which the Group agreed
to purchase Raw Materials from Luxshare Precision Group, which comprise Server
Product Raw Materials and Cable Product Raw Materials. The Luxshare Precision
Master Purchase Agreement has a fixed term from 19 July 2022 to 31 March 2025
(both days inclusive). For details, please refer to the announcement dated 19 July
2022 and 5 September 2022 and circular dated 16 August 2022.

On 30 September 2022, the Company entered into the Supplemental Agreement
with Luxshare Precision Industry to revise the existing annual caps for Server
Product Raw Materials under the Luxshare Precision Master Purchase Agreement.
Other than the revision of the existing annual caps, all other terms of the original
Luxshare Precision Master Purchase Agreement shall remain unchanged and in full
force pursuant to the Supplemental Agreement. For details, please refer to the
announcement dated 30 September 2022 and 14 November 2022 and circular
dated 24 October 2022.
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The Master Lease Agreement

On 19 July 2022, Da Chuang Precision Smart Manufacturing (Kunshan) Co., Ltd. (3
BIEREE(RIL)ERAR) ("Da Chuang”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, as tenant entered into the Master Lease Agreement with Luxshare
Electronic, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Luxshare Precision Industry, as
landlord, pursuant to which Luxshare Electronic agreed to lease the premises to Da
Chuang. The Master Lease Agreement has a fixed term from 1 August 2022 to 31
March 2025 (both days inclusive). For details, please refer to the announcement
dated 19 July 2022.

The Equipment Purchase Agreement

On 19 July 2022, the Company entered into the Equipment Purchase Agreement
with Luxshare Precision Industry, pursuant to which the Group agreed to purchase
and the Luxshare Precision Group agreed to sell the equipment out of the list of
Equipment at a total consideration of not more than HK$25,000,000. The Luxshare
Precision Group shall arrange delivery of the specified equipment out of the list of
Equipment upon purchase order placed by the Group from 19 July 2022 and before
31 March 2025. For details, please refer to the announcement dated 19 July 2022.

Luxshare Precision Master Subcontracting Agreement

On 15 August 2022, the Company entered into the Luxshare Precision Master
Subcontracting Agreement with Luxshare Precision Industry, pursuant to which the
Luxshare Precision Group agreed to provide subcontracting services to the Group
in respect of the production of the Group’s server products from time to time.
The Luxshare Precision Master Subcontracting Agreement has a fixed term from 15
August 2022 to 31 March 2025 (both days inclusive). For details, please refer to the
announcement dated 15 August 2022.

Second Equipment Purchase Agreement

On 31 August 2022, the Company entered into the Second Equipment Purchase
Agreement with Luxshare Precision Industry, pursuant to which the Group agreed
to purchase and the Luxshare Precision Group agreed to sell the equipment out of
the list of Equipment Il (as defined in the announcement dated 31 August 2022) at a
total consideration of not more than HK$50,000,000. The Luxshare Precision Group
shall arrange delivery of the specified equipment out of the list of Equipment Il upon
purchase order by the Group for the period from 31 August 2022 and ending on 31
March 2025. For details, please refer to the announcement dated 31 August 2022.

The Directors, including the independent non-executive Directors, consider that all
of the continuing connected transactions above and their respective annual caps are
fair and reasonable, and that such transactions have been and will be entered into
the ordinary and usual course of the business of the Group, on normal commercial
terms, are fair and reasonable, and in the interests of the Group and Shareholders
as a whole.

The Company'’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group's continuing connected
transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter
on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued
an unqualified letter containing its findings and conclusions in respect of the
continuing connected transactions disclosed by the Group in this annual report in
accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has
been provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

Save disclosed above, details of all the fully exempted and non-exempted continuing
connected transactions set out in Note 33 to the consolidated financial statements
that falls under the definition of “connected transaction” or “continuing connected
transaction” in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Company has complied with
the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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Disclosure Requirements under Rule 13.21 of the Listing Rules

On 30 June 2020, the Company entered into a four years term loan facility agreement
for an aggregate amount of HK$630.0 million (the “Loan”) with four leading banks
in Hong Kong (the “Club Loan Lenders”) for the exclusive purpose of acquisition
of the networking cables business. Pursuant to the terms of the facility agreement,
it shall be an event of default if (i) Mr. Lo Chung Wai Paul ceases to be the single
largest beneficial shareholder of the Company or beneficially own more than 51%
of the issued share capital of Linkz Industries; (ii) Mr. Lo Chung Wai Paul ceases to
be the chairman of the board of Directors or have control over the management
and business of the Group; or (iii) Linkz Industries ceases to beneficially own more
than 50% of the issued share capital of the Company (the “Restriction”). Upon the
occurrence of an event of default, the entire outstanding amount of the facility shall
be prepaid together with accrued interest.

On 11 February 2022, Datatech Investment Inc. and Time Interconnect Holdings
Limited (collectively, the “Sellers”) and Luxshare Precision entered into the Sale
and Purchase Agreement, pursuant to which the Sellers agreed to sell and Luxshare
Precision agreed to purchase a total of 1,380,000,000 shares, representing
approximately 74.67% of the entire issued share capital of the Company at that
time, for a total consideration of HK$1,104,000,000 (equivalent to HK$0.80 per
sale share). Immediately after the close of the Offer and taking into account the
valid acceptances in respect of 594,000 offer shares, Luxshare Precision is interested
in 1,380,594,000 shares, representing approximately 70.95% of the entire issued
shares as at 19 April 2022.

The Company has obtained the consent from the Club Loan Lenders for the waiver
on the Restriction. The Company fully repaid the Loan in December 2022.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the percentage of the Group’s aggregate
turnover attributable to the Group’s largest customer was approximately HK$1,220.5
million (21.2%), while the percentage of the Group’s total turnover attributable
to the five largest customers in aggregate was approximately HK$3,955.6 million
(68.6%).

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the percentage of the Group’s purchase
amount attributable to the Group’s largest supplier was approximately HK$1,718.9
million (33.4%) of the total direct costs for the period, while the percentage of the
Group's total purchase amount attributable to the five largest suppliers in aggregate
was approximately HK$3,375.4 million (65.7%) of the total direct costs.

None of the Directors, or any of their close associates or Shareholders (which, to the
best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital) has any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this annual
report were as follow:

Executive Directors
Mr. Cua Tin Yin Simon (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Wong Chi Kuen

Non-executive Director
Ms. Wang Laichun (Chairman)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Ho Hin Shun

Mr. Luk Wai Shing

Mr. Chan Chung Shun Eric
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In accordance with the article 108 of the memorandum and articles of association
of the Company, at each annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for
the time being, or if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the
number nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire from office by rotation
that every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years. Such retiring Directors may, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election at the annual general meeting. All Directors appointed by the Board to fill a
causal vacancy shall hold office until the first general meeting of Shareholders after
their appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting and all Directors
appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only
until the next following annual general meeting and shall then be eligible for re-
election.

Any Director who has not been subject to retirement by rotation in the three years
preceding the annual general meeting shall retire by rotation at such annual general
meeting.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the memorandum and articles of association of the Company, the
applicable laws and regulations, every Director shall be indemnified and secured
harmless out the assets and profits of the Company against all actions, costs,
charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of them may incur or
sustain in the execution of their duties in their offices.

Such provision was in force during the year ended 31 March 2023 and remained
force as of the date of this annual report. The Company has taken out and
maintained Directors’ and officers’ liabilities insurance throughout the year, which
provides appropriate cover for the Directors.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors has a service contract with the Company or any of its
subsidiaries which is not terminable by the Group within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN SIGNIFICANT CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the section “Related Party Transaction and Continuing
Connected Transactions” in the Director's Report, no Director had a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, in any contract of significance to the business of
the Group to which the Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries was
a party during the year ended 31 March 2023.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS' INTEREST IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the section “Director’s Report — Related Party Transaction and
Continuing Connected Transactions” above, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries had entered into any contract of significance with the Company’s
controlling shareholders or their subsidiaries, or any contract of significance for the
provision of services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries by the Company’s
controlling shareholders or their subsidiaries, during the year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Apart from as disclosed under the paragraph headed " Directors’ and Chief Executives’
Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” below
and the share option scheme disclosures in Note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements, at no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in the Company granted to any Director or their respective
spouse or children under 18 years of age, or were any such Company’s holding
company a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights
in any other body corporate.
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COMPETITION AND CONFLICT OF INTERESTS

None of the Directors or the controlling shareholders (as defined in the Listing
Rules) of the Company (the “Controlling Shareholders”) or their respective close
associates has engaged in any business that competes or may compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group or has or may have any other
conflict of interests with the Group during the year ended 31 March 2023.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and five individuals with highest
emoluments are set out in Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements. The
emolument of the number of the highest paid individuals who are not the Directors
of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2023 are set out in Note 11(b) to the
consolidated financial statements.

The emoluments of the senior management of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2023 falls within the following band:

RERFFER

WERECF_=ZF=ZA=+—HLFE EBFHK
NEERIG R (EE R EHARRI X TEIRAR R ) S
BFENERBEABMELCEEREEEZHEENE
MR P AR RS PN EMEBE AL
EA A REE M AEMANSEHR

ESREREEERIGESHMA TS
BHESZLRAAREHMATHENFBERRGE
FBRERNEN - BEZS T =F=—A=+—H1it

FEWFAADEEHNREIFHIA LRI EBNAR
BHBREME10) -

AEESRERBRNEE_S_=F=A=1+—H
IFFENMSBERU TSR -

Number of Senior Management

Emolument Band [ SREEEAY
HK$0 to HK$1,000,000 07752 1,000,000/87T 10
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001#75% 1,500,000 7T 3
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,0017#0%2,000,0007 7T 2
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,0017702 2,500,000/ 7T 2

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Remuneration Committee is set up for reviewing the Group’s emolument policy
and structure for all remuneration of the Directors and senior management of the
Group, having regard to the Group's operating results, individual performance and
comparable market practices.

The Remuneration Committee will meet at least once for each year to discuss
remuneration related matters (including the remuneration of Directors and senior
management) and review the remuneration policy of the Group. It has been decided
that Remuneration Committee would determine, with delegated responsibility, the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior management.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS

Details of the Group's retirement benefit plans are set out in Note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save for service contracts, no other contracts concerning the management and/or
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or subsisting during the year ended 31 March 2023.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2023, the interests or short positions of each of the Directors and
the chief executive in the shares of the Company, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO) which will have to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short
positions which he is taken or deemed to have taken under such provisions of the
SFO) or which will be required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded
in the register referred to therein or which will be required pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed companies (the “Model
Code”) set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange are set out as follows:

Long Position in shares of the Company

EERESITHABRKRMG - HEKRG R E#EEZD
ERRKE

RIB=F=A=1t—H  EFZLAQAREST
BABRARRSNEA AR EE (% R &5 A
BEGRBIZEXVER) M -~ BB REEES - &
BIREES R EGREIEXVIBETRAHMAMNE R
AR FBRANEDEIOAE (BEREESIBE
BPIZFHEIN S E FRR R RIER IR K
2) > NARKZF P ERAFEI2HRETNZAG
Frft = AR BRSO R - SRR CH R A &
THE T ATMESEITESRXZRETA (TR
57 ) BHERAT] LKERPTHERSOARINT |

RARBRMAVFE

Approximate

Number of shares percentage of

Name of Director Capacity/Nature held/interested interest
Fifs Btz B

EENUE 5153, ME PR ES =] B2t

Mr. Cua Tin Yin Simon Beneficial Owner 10,488,000 0.54%

MRRSE ERHEEA

Mr. Wong Chi Kuen Beneficial Owner 7,528,000 0.39%

EmOREEE ERHEEA

Ms. Wang Laichun (Note) Interest of controlled corporation 1,380,594,000 70.95%

FREL A (FFEE) REEE RS

Mr. Ho Hin Shun Beneficial Owner 1,000,000 0.05%

fIRAfEEE ERHEEA

Mr. Luk Wai Shing Beneficial Owner 1,824,000 0.09%

BEE R EE ERHEEA

Note: FfsE -

Ms. Wang Laichun holds 50% of issued share capital of Luxshare Limited. Luxshare Limited
holds 38.35% of the issued share capital of Luxshare Precision Industry, and Luxshare Precision
is wholly-owned by Luxshare Precision Industry. Therefore, Ms. Wang Laichun is deemed, or
taken to be, interested in all the shares held by Luxshare Precision for the purpose of the SFO.
Ms. Wang Laichun is the sole director of Luxshare Precision and the chairperson and general
manager of Luxshare Precision Industry.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, none of the Directors and chief executives of the
Company had any interests or short positions in any shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which would have to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or which were
required, pursuant to the Model Code to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

ERELETFAIULNERARS0%EBTRA < ZAER
ARFBARBE TE3B35%ERITRAE - MZABEH
YRR IEREER - At RESSRAEH - £
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS" AND OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2023, the following persons/entities (other than the Directors and
chief executives of the Company) had or were deemed to have an interest or a short
position in the Shares or the underlying Shares of the Company which would be
required to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register of the Company required
to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO, or who were directly or indirectly, to be
interested in 10% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying
rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of the Company or any other
member of the Group:

Long positions in the shares

FTERBEREMATRIRG - BEKRG R E#EED
ERRIKE

RIBEZ=F=B=+—H ' 'UTAL EEE
BEARATREITBRAERIN) RARATBAD AR
BRNPHEEIE R AETREES NGRS
XVEREE2 Fe 3D ERAVE A M AN R I BHIRE TR TR
£ AEELRAATDREES LA EEGSE3361E
BRENECHANERIEE  REBEXEES
BNBERAANMEMER FTEARARD R AREETM
HEitkEATKRERS DRZENTMERKATDE
10%3k L ERYHERS -

IR EF A

Approximate

Number of shares percentage of

Name Capacity/Nature held/interested interest
FiiEBea s BERotERs

g 513148 R EE Bt

Luxshare Precision Beneficial Owner 1,380,594,000 70.95%

SEEE BERBEBA

Luxshare Precision Industry (Note 1) Interest of controlled corporation 1,380,594,000 70.95%

STAAEEE T2 (BT ) R EE RS

Luxshare Limited (Note 2) Interest of controlled corporation 1,380,594,000 70.95%

B RAT (FEE2) ST AE R

Mr. Wang Laisheng (Note 3) Interest of controlled corporation 1,380,594,000 70.95%

ERBEE (H5E3) REEEER

Notes:

1) Luxshare Precision, a limited liability company incorporated in Hong Kong which is wholly-
owned by Luxshare Precision Industry. Therefore, Luxshare Precision Industry is deemed, or
taken to be, interested in all the shares held by Luxshare Precision for the purpose of the
SFO.

2) Luxshare Limited holds 38.35% of the issued ordinary share capital of Luxshare Precision
Industry, and Luxshare Precision is wholly-owned by Luxshare Precision Industry. Therefore,
Luxshare Limited is deemed to, or taken to be, interested in all the shares held by Luxshare
Precision Industry for the purpose of the SFO.

3) Mr. Wang Laisheng holds 50% of issued share capital of Luxshare Limited. Luxshare Limited
holds 38.35% of the issued share capital of Luxshare Precision Industry, and Luxshare
Precision is wholly-owned by Luxshare Precision Industry. Therefore, Mr. Wang Laisheng
is deemed, or taken to be, interested in all the shares held by Luxshare Precision for the
purpose of the SFO. Mr. Wang Laisheng is the vice chairman of Luxshare Precision Industry.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, none of the substantial or significant
shareholders or other persons, other than the Directors and chief executives of the
Company whose interests are set out in the section “Directors’ Report — Directors’
and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures” above, had or were deemed to have an interest or a short position
in the shares or the underlying shares of the Company which would be required
to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of
Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register of
the Company remained to be kept under Section 366 of the SFO, or who were
directly or indirectly, interested in 10% or more of the nominal value of any class of
share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of the
Company or any other members of the Group.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31 March 2023.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Company’'s corporate governance practices are set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 43 to 58 of this annual report.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there was no equity-linked agreement
entered into by the Company during the year ended 31 March 2023.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

To the best knowledge of the Directors and based on information available in the
public domain concerning the Company, at least 25% of the Company’s issued
share capital were held by the public as at the date of this annual report.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors
annual written confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Company considers all the independent non-executive Directors
to be independent.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2023 were audited by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”). Deloitte will retire
as the auditor of the Company upon expiration of its current term of office at the
conclusion of the forthcoming AGM to be held on 28 August 2023.

MATERIAL EVENT SINCE THE END OF THE FINANCIAL PERIOD

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there has been no other important event
affecting the Group since 31 March 2023 and up to the date of this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Company upholds high standards and meets relevant requirements under
applicable laws or ordinances when conducting its business. The Company did
not identify non-compliance or breach of relevant standards, rules and regulations
during the year.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH SUPPLIERS, CUSTOMERS AND OTHER STAKEHOLDERS

The Group has a strong, long-established relationship with its key customers, which
include leading telecommunication equipment and network solutions provider in the
PRC, global internet-related service provider and multinational medical equipment
manufacturer that have extensive international coverage. The Group has developed
multi-products strategy and also strengthened its scope of services to its global
customers. The Group will continue to diversify its customer base and the Directors
believe that the extent of customer concentration is likely to decrease in the future.

The Group maintains long-term relationships with suppliers and subcontractors.
The Group has no concentration or a high level of dependency on a small group
of suppliers. The Group carefully selects its suppliers based on certain assessment
criteria, such as overall track record, scale and expertise, cost, product quality
and quality control effectiveness, reliability, price, delivery punctuality, historical
relationship with the Group, financial condition, reputation and aftersales services.
During the selection process, the Group generally carries regular on-site examination
of its potential suppliers to ensure that they meet its selection criteria. The Group
carries out evaluation of the performance of its existing suppliers and identifies
better third-party suppliers from time to time to replace the suppliers who fail to
perform to its satisfaction.

The Group recognises and supports the culture of attracting, motivating and
retaining talents. The Group provides competitive compensation and benefits for its
employees. Remuneration packages are generally structured by reference to market
and individual merits. Salaries are normally reviewed on an annual basis based on
individual performance and financial performance of the Group. Those employees
with outstanding performance are also awarded discretionary bonuses. The Group
promotes open communications, encourages continuous learning and supports
different kinds of training on leadership development programme.

ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL POLICIES

The Group is committed to creating a sustainable and greener environment and
continues to explore ways to reduce carbon emissions, conserve energy and reduce
wastage. The Group has implemented various environmental and sustainability
initiatives in its factories and offices, such as using LED lighting in the Huizhou
factory; adopting heat recovery system to recover the residual heat from the air
compressor to heat up water supply in dormitory; encouraging video and phone
conference to minimise carbon footprint created by business-related travel. Being a
responsible global corporate citizen, the Group fully understand the positive impact
of United Nations Sustainable Development Goals (SDG). The Group identified 6 key
SDGs that are highly relevant to its business operations and put substantial efforts to
resolve the related issues with non-profit organisation partners. The Group has been
actively involved in non-profit community development programmes in the cities
where its headquarters and factories are operating, and encourages the employees
to participate in in-house and external community activities. During FY2023, the
Group has received various recognitions, such as 15 Years+ Caring Company logo;
Good MPF Employer 5 Years+; Happy Company; and Industry Cares Award. The
Company’s Environmental, Social and Governance Report (collectively the “ESG
Report”), which discusses in detail its initiatives on environmental and social aspects
and their performance, is set out in the ESG section of this annual report.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Time Interconnect Technology Limited
Cua Tin Yin Simon

Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 28 June 2023
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INTRODUCTION

The Board and the management of the Company are committed to the maintenance
of good corporate governance practices and procedures. The Company believes
that good corporate governance provides a framework that is essential for
effective management, a healthy corporate culture, successful business growth
and enhancing shareholders’ value. The corporate governance principles of the
Company emphasise a quality Board, sound internal controls, transparency and
accountability to all shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

The Company acknowledges the need and importance of corporate governance
as one of the key elements in creating Shareholders’ value. The Company is also
committed to achieving high standard of corporate governance that can protect
and promote the interests of all Shareholders and to enhance corporate value and
accountability of the Company. For corporate governance purpose, the Company
has adopted the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code") set out in Appendix
14 to the Listing Rules. During the year ended 31 March 2023, to the best knowledge
of the Board, the Company had complied with all the applicable code provisions set
out in the CG Code.

In December 2021, the Stock Exchange published the conclusions to its consultation
on Review of Corporate Governance Code, Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules and
the associated Listing Rules. Most of the amendments are applicable for financial
year commencing on or after 1 January 2022. A good part of the new requirements
under the amended Corporate Governance Code have long been adopted by the
Group as our corporate governance practices over the years. These are highlighted
in the following table:

New Requirements

HARE

Group’s practices

AEEER

®E
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Align the company’s culture with its purpose, values and
strategy (Code Provision A.1.1)

A healthy corporate culture across the Group is vital for the Group to achieve its
vision and mission towards sustainable growth. It is the Board's role to foster a

NTRISULERERE ~ BEENRRBRF B (STAE
XEBANE)

corporate culture with two core principles to guide the behaviours of its employees,
and ensure that the Company’s vision, values and business strategies are aligned to
it.

PAEBALERENEECHASEEER HAFEERNER N EHERE

= EEENEEEERAMERORRMNEEL - EMmAREESMNTTRIZH
B85 WHERAARNESR  BEBRLEFRBELEYORFT - -

For details, please refer to “Culture and Values” section of this Corporate
Governance Report.

HER2HEALEE R RET UL REER, —# -

Establish policy(ies) and system(s) that promote and
support anti-corruption laws and regulations (Code
Provision D.2.7)

FIEREN TR ETEERIERNBERRSIE (PRI
3D .2.715%)

The Group's corruption prevention policy has been introduced since the listing of
the Company'’s shares on the Stock Exchange in 2018. The policy is included in
the Group’s staff handbook and covers activities such as anti-corruption, code of
conduct, guidance on gifts, entertainment and gratuities, the Group's expectations
and requirements of business ethics, as well as investigation and reporting
mechanism of suspected corruption practices. Any convicted cases will be reported
to the Board and the Audit Committee.
AEENHESBERBAARRMD N T — )\ FEHRFT EeEH - ZER
HRAEENETFM > WRERES ~ THATE - 8858 - BENEES -
REEHBHREBNRERENR  DINESHEST AN E K EREE SE
B TREEFMNEGHRRNESTSLEREZEGER -

For details, please refer to “Risk Management and Internal Control — Anti-
corruption Policy” section of this Corporate Governance Report.

HERSRHALEERRER EREERNEE - RESHE, — -

£ [Z 38 % 2023 ANNUAL REPORT




[ -

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (conTD)

TEEARBRE (@)

New Requirements

HRE

Group's practices

AEEER

Establish whistleblowing policy and system (Code
Provision D.2.6)
I E SRR B M IR (SPRMEXXEED. 2.618%)

The Group’s whistleblowing policy was introduced in May 2018.
AEENERBRN_F—/\FLAHED -

Any convicted cases will be reported to the chairman of the Audit Committee.
HACERNEARAEREZESEFEIER

For details, please refer to “Risk Management and Internal Control —
Whistleblowing Policy” section of this Corporate Governance Report.

HERSHARERRREN EREE NN - BT, -

Communications with shareholders and annual review
(Paragraph L of the Mandatory Disclosure Requirement)

BAR R AE B R RS CRbRERARELER)

The Group’s shareholders’ communication policy (the “Shareholders’
Communication Policy”) sets out the Group’s commitment of maintaining an
effective ongoing dialogue with shareholders. The Shareholders” Communication
Policy is reviewed by the Audit Committee on a regular basis.
AEENRRBEBICR ("REBBBIR ) 815 A EE BEERRITA BUTEE N
A# o RRBEBRBAEREZESTEHEE -

For details, please refer to “Communication with shareholders and investor
relations” section of this Corporate Governance Report.

HER2HEALEE A RET ERRNBEBRIREERER, -

Equity-based remuneration (e.g. share options or
grants) with performance related elements should not
be granted to independent non-executive directors
(Recommended Best Practice E.1.9)
NEBTEIFATESRE B VHB TR
REBNS(NEREE R BERERRE
E.1.915)

We have a benchmarked approach in determining our non-executive Directors’
fees, which does not involve equity-based remuneration with performance-related
elements.

BMRAREELEEIFITESNES - ERRSNESEBIERE TR LR
RERNINE -

The level of fees payable to non-executive Directors (including independent non-
executive Directors) is also subject to shareholders’ approval.

FENFERITES (BIRBIFITESR) BSK T IVAERERE -

Annually review the board diversity policy; and disclose
the mechanism(s) to ensure independent views and
input are available to the board, and annual review

of the implementation and effectiveness of such
mechanism(s) (Code Provisions B.1.3 and B.1.4)
BFRFNEFELHRMEER ) MKERRAZEESIRM
B BE LB RNES  DIRSERTZESINER
BAARE (SFRNESIEEB.1 31 & B.1.415)

The Group’s Board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) was adopted by
the Board in December 2018 and is subject to annual review by the Nomination
Committee.

BFIN_F-/)/\F+_ARMAEENEZSSHRMER ((EEF SRR
Ry WFERRLEESGFFR -

The Board Diversity Policy formally recognises the practice of ensuring that
independent views and input are made available to the Board; details of which are
explained in the section “Independent non-executive Directors” in this Corporate
Governance Report. The Board is committed to assessing the independence of

the independent non-executive Directors annually and ensuring that independent
views and input are made available to the Board.
BEESEMBRENEEERMNEFSRUBUBHMAERNNE s BEFE
MALEERRE BUFRTES, — 0B - EFSRHEFTEEILIFT
EFRBEUMN  WERAEFZREBIBHLER -
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New Requirements

HARE

Group’s practices

AEEER

Gender diversity targets at board level and across
workforce

EFEeERLUERBS TEINMAZHRMER

e Board level — to set and disclose numerical targets
and timelines for achieving gender diversity.
EEEREN - RELIKREER R LN B R
FHIRFER

e Workforce level — to disclose and explain the gender
ratio (including senior management), any plans
or measurable objectives the company has set for
achieving gender diversity. (Paragraph J of the
Mandatory Disclosure Requirement)
ETEH - IHELBRMHLE (BEaREE
&)~ AR REBUE RIS ERIE MR ERMEAETEIZE
AIETE AR © CAHKEREIR)

The Board currently has one female Director (i.e. Ms. Wang Laichun), in which case
the Board considered gender diversity has been achieved. Gender diversity at Board
level is disclosed in this annual report.

EEZEHAIE—RMES (BIEHRELZL) RLERT » ESERATIERM
AMEEM - AERKEEEQEEMMERIZHRIL -

Gender diversity at workforce level (including the senior management of the
Group) is disclosed in this annual report.

AERFEETER (BRAEENRREERE) WIEZHM -

For details, please refer to “Employment” section of 2023 ESG Report.
HEREH T =FRE g NERRET EE, —F -

Nomination Committee chaired by the chairman of the
board or an independent non-executive director and
comprising a majority of independent non-executive
directors (Listing Rule 3.27A)
HEFSTFEIE IR TEFEATENREES
C REERBIERITER AL E (EHARRIE
3.27A1%)

The Nomination Committee, which comprises a majority of independent non-
executive Directors, has been chaired by an independent non-executive Director
since the Listing.

REZES (ABIIFMTERGAZE) 5 L —HRBIUFRTESEEE
& o

For details, please refer to “Nomination Committee” section of this Corporate
Governance Report.
FIER2HALEE RREP REEES, 8 -

Elaborate the linkage between corporate governance
and ESG (Introductory paragraph in the Corporate
Governance Code, Principle D.2, Code Provisions D.2.2
and D.2.3)

R SEERRRE « @ NERZENEE (bXE
BSTRIRBNESE - [RRID.2fR - SPRIBRXEED.2.21%
D.2.31%)

The linkage is shown in “ESG Governance” section of 2023 ESG Report.
“BCoFRE S RERRER RS HEREREE  —HRFEE

Publish ESG reports at the same time as publication of
annual reports (Listing Rule 13.91(5)(d) and paragraph
4(2)(d) of the ESG Reporting Guide)
ERMERNRFHMIRE ~ L@ RERRE (TR
AIZE13.915)(dERRESGHRETESIZBAQ)NER)

The ESG Report has been published at the same time as the annual report for each
year since the Listing.

BLMRIR  BI% - & RER RS SFEAFRARNEMD -
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CULTURE AND VALUES

A healthy corporate culture across the Group is integral to attain its vision and
strategy. It is the Board's role to foster a corporate culture with the following core
principles and to ensure that the Company’s vision, values and business strategies
are aligned to it.

1. Integrity and code of conduct

The Group strives to maintain high standards of business ethics and corporate
governance across all our activities and operations. The Directors, management
and staff are all required to act lawfully, ethically and responsibly, and the
required standards and norms are explicitly set out in the training materials for
all new staff and embedded in various policies such as the Group’s employee
handbook (including therein the Group’s code of conduct), the anti-corruption
policy and the whistleblowing policy of the Group. Trainings are conducted
from time to time to reinforce the required standards in respect of ethics and
integrity.

2. Commitment

The Group believes that the culture of commitment to workforce development,
workplace safety and health, diversity, and sustainability is one where people
have a feeling of commitment and emotional engagement with the Group's
mission. This sets the tone for a strong, productive workforce that attracts,
develops, and retains the best talent and produces the highest quality
work. Moreover, the Company’s strategy in the business development and
management are to achieve long-term, steady and sustainable growth, while
having due considerations from environment, social and governance aspects.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by directors. Having made specific enquiry, all Directors have
fully complied with the required standards set out in the Model Code and there was
no event of non-compliance during the year ended 31 March 2023.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES AND DELEGATION

The Board is responsible for leading and controlling the business operations of the
Group. It formulates strategic directions, oversees the operations and monitors the
financial performance of the Group. The management is delegated power and
authority given by the Board for the day-to-day management and operations of
the Group. The management is accountable to the Board for the Company’s overall
operation. Under the terms of reference, the duties of the Board (or a committee
or committees performing this function) in respect of corporate governance are as
follows:

1) To develop and review the Group’s policies and practices on corporate
governance of the Group and make recommendations to the Board;

2) To review and monitor the training and continuous professional development of
the Directors and the senior management;

3) To review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements;

4) To develop, review and monitor the code of conduct applicable to the Directors
and the employees of the Group; and

5) To review the Group’s compliance with the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14

to the Listing Rules and disclosure in the corporate governance report of the
Company.
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BOARD COMPOSITION

The Board currently comprises two executive Directors, one non-executive Director
and three independent non-executive Directors and the Board is accountable to
shareholders. The management and control of the business of the Company is
vested in its Board. It is the duty of the Board to create value to the shareholders of
the Company.

Executive Directors
Mr. Cua Tin Yin Simon
Mr. Wong Chi Kuen

Non-executive Director
Ms. Wang Laichun

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Ho Hin Shun

Mr. Luk Wai Shing

Mr. Chan Chung Shun Eric

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in “Biographical Details of the
Directors and Senior Management” on pages 27 to 30 of this annual report.

The proportion of which is higher than what is required by Rule 3.10A, 3.10 (1)
and (2) of the Listing Rules whereby independent non-executive Directors of a
listed issuer represent at least one-third of the Board. The three independent non-
executive Directors represent more than one-third of the Board and at least one of
whom has appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial
management expertise. With the various experience of both the executive Directors,
the non-executive Director and the independent non-executive Directors and the
nature of the Group's business, the Board considered that the Directors have a
balance of skills and experience for the business of the Board.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”)
since 28 December 2018 which sets out the basis to achieve diversity on the Board.
Details of the Board Diversity Policy is disclosed as below.

1. Purpose
The Board Diversity Policy aims to set out the approach to achieve diversity on
the Board.

2. Vision
The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board
to enhance the quality of its performance.

3. Policy
When determining the composition of the Board, the Company will consider
board diversity in terms of, among other things, gender, age, experience,
cultural and educational background, expertise, skills and know-how. All Board
appointments will be based on merits, and candidates will be considered against
objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

4. Measurable Objectives
Selection of candidates for Board membership will be based on a range of
diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, experience,
cultural and educational background, expertise, skills and know-how.

5. Monitoring and Reporting
The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination Committee”)
will disclose the composition of the Board annually in the corporate governance
report and monitor the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy.
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6. Review of the Board Diversity Policy
The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy, as appropriate,
to ensure the effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy. The Nomination
Committee will discuss any revisions that may be required, and recommend any
such revisions to the Board for consideration and approval.

7. Disclosure of the Board Diversity Policy
A summary of the Board Diversity Policy together with the measurable objectives
set for implementing the Board Diversity Policy, and the progress made towards
achieving those objectives will be disclosed in the annual corporate governance
report.

NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”) since 28
December 2018 which sets out the approach to guide the Nomination Committee
in relation to the selection, appointment and re-appointment of the Directors.
Details of the Nomination Policy is disclosed as below.

1 PURPOSE
1.1 the Nomination Policy aims to set out the approach to guide the Nomination
Committee in relation to the selection, appointment and re-appointment of
the Directors.

1.2 the Nomination Policy aims to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills,
experience, knowledge and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
requirements of the Company’s business.

2 CRITERIA

The Nomination Committee will evaluate, select and recommend candidate(s)

for directorships to the Board by giving due consideration to criteria including

but not limited to (collectively, the “Criteria”):

(@) diversity in aspects including but not limited to gender, age, experience,
cultural and educational background, expertise, skills and know-how;

(b) sufficient time to effectively carry out their duties; their services on other
listed and non-listed companies should be limited to reasonable numbers;

(0) qualifications, including accomplishment and experience in the relevant
industries the Company’s business is involved in;

(d) independence;

(e) reputation for integrity;

(f) potential contributions that the individual(s) can bring to the Board; and

(g) commitment to enhance and maximize shareholders’ value.

-8 FE BRI B R/ A TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
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3 RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTOR AT GENERAL MEETING

3.1 The Nomination Committee will

3.2 The Nomination Committee and/or

evaluate and recommend retiring
Director(s) to the Board for re-appointment by giving due consideration to
the Criteria including but not limited to:

(@) the overall contribution and service to the Company of the retiring
director including his attendance of Board meetings and, where
applicable, general meetings, and the level of participation and
performance on the Board; and

(b) whether the retiring Director(s) continue(s) to satisfy the Criteria in
section 2.

the Board shall then make
recommendation to shareholders in respect of the proposed re-election of
director at the general meeting.

4 NOMINATION PROCESS
The Nomination Committee will recommend to the Board for the appointment
of a Director in accordance with the following procedures and process:

(a)

the Nomination Committee will, giving due consideration to the current
composition and size of the Board, develop a list of desirable skills,
perspectives and experience at the outset to focus the search effort;

the Nomination Committee may consult any source it deems appropriate in
identifying or selecting suitable candidates, such as referrals from existing
Directors, advertising, recommendations from an independent agency firm
and proposals from shareholders of the Company with due consideration
given to the Criteria;

the Nomination Committee may adopt any process it deems appropriate in
evaluating the suitability of the candidates, such as interviews, background
checks, presentations and third-party reference checks;

upon considering a candidate suitable for the directorship, the Nomination
Committee will hold a meeting and/or by way of written resolutions to, if
thought fit, approve the recommendation to the Board for appointment;

the Nomination Committee will thereafter make the recommendation
to the Board in relation to the proposed appointment and the proposed
remuneration package; and

the Board will have the final authority on determining the selection of
nominees and all appointment of Directors will be confirmed by the filing
of the consent to act as Director of the relevant Director (or any other
similar filings requiring the relevant Director to acknowledge or accept the
appointment as Director, as the case may be) to be filed with the Companies
Registry of Hong Kong.

3 MIREAELERES
3.1 RAZEEREZ AT RUTRELZK

AEFEER LA RARINEZTEZS
EZRE @ REBFBERRR :

() ZREEFTHALNTMEBE MR
B BREHRESSEREN (WER) KR
RBRE  DREEFEMBHEERNEK
b4

(b) Z(F)REEEROEEFTCE 26

32 REBREGR REFEERERFPBRA

SLRZEREFARREHEERR -

4 RERE
RERESHRETIRFANERETES—
EHRESSERES

(a)

REEEGHIREEESENREKEAR
BREGRET - g E— O EEAYRAE - B
REEEREE  DUER—FRBEAEEINYE
T

EEREEEET  BREZESEYENE
ERBEREARARERR/EBEAMERZOR
=W 0 PN AERAEFEEN  TIBES
HE=FREAATDEBUNBEAARK
REE

RARESBETRIREANESRER R
MERBRBNEMARE > B2 B T
SER  BNRARERE=FENMEHE
5

HEEBRABRREARSHAEIESZ B
% RARESHBTEAN HLUBER
BERNITN(MERRAE) SERNESER
BIEHEE

RARESHENRBERRENEEZHNET
BREFSEHEBZE K

ESHRMERERBALHERORERE
2HEFZE T EBATHARZME
RRXAHEEENHEEFROUREE (UE
MEMALNFEARER AR EZHAEE
FRMMEE  RIERME) R -

£ [Z 38 % 2023 ANNUAL REPORT

< ]



[ =

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (conT'D)
TEEARBRE (@)

5 RESPONSIBILITY
The Board will be ultimately responsible for the selection, appointment and re-
appointment of Directors.

6 MONITORING AND REPORTING
The Nomination Committee will assess and report annually, in the corporate
governance report, on the composition of the Board, and launch a formal
process to monitor the implementation of the Nomination Policy as appropriate.

7 REVIEW OF THE NOMINATION POLICY
The Nomination Committee willlaunch a formal process to review the Nomination
Policy periodically to ensure that it is transparent and fair, remains relevant to
the Company’s needs and reflects the current regulatory requirements and
good corporate governance practice. The Nomination Committee will discuss
any revisions that may be required and recommend any such revisions to the
Board for consideration and approval.

8 DISCLOSURE OF THE NOMINATION POLICY
8.1 A summary of the Nomination Policy including the nomination procedures
and the process and Criteria adopted by the Nomination Committee to
select and recommend candidates for directorship during the year will be
disclosed in the annual corporate governance report.

8.2 In the circular to shareholders for proposing a candidate as an independent
non-executive director, it should also set out:

e the process used for identifying the candidate and why the Board
believes the candidate should be elected and the reason why it
considers the candidate to be independent;

e if the proposed independent non-executive director will be holding
their seventh (or more) listed company directorship, the reason the
board believes the candidate would still be able to devote sufficient
time to the Board;

e the perspectives, skills and experience that the candidate can bring to
the Board; and

e how the candidate can contribute to the diversity of the Board.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The independent non-executive Directors play a significant role in the Board
as they bring an impartial view on the Company’s strategies, performance and
control, as well as ensure that the interests of all shareholders are taken into
account. All independent non-executive Directors possess appropriate academic,
professional qualifications or related financial management experience. None of the
independent non-executive Directors held any other offices in the Company or any
of its subsidiaries or is interested in any shares of the Company. The Company has
received from each independent non-executive Director an annual confirmation of
his independence, and the Company considers such Directors to be independent in
accordance with the criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
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In order to ensure that independent views and input of the independent non-
executive Directors are made available to the Board, the Nomination Committee
and the Board are committed to assess the Directors’ independence annually with
regards to all relevant factors related to the independent non-executive Directors
including the following:

e required character, integrity, expertise, experience and stability to fulfill their
roles;

e time commitment and attention to the Company’s affairs;
e firm commitment to their independent roles and to the Board;

e declaration of conflict of interest in their roles as independent non-executive
Directors;

e noinvolvement in the daily management of the Company nor in any relationship
or circumstances which would affect the exercise of their independent
judgement; and

e the Chairman meets with the independent non-executive Directors regularly
without the presence of other Directors.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Each of the executive Directors and non-executive Directors has entered into a
service contract with the Company for an initial term of three years which may be
terminated in accordance with their respective terms and is subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election in accordance with the memorandum and articles of
association of the Company.

Pursuant to the letter of appointment between the Company and each of the
independent non-executive Directors, the independent non-executive Directors
have been appointed for an initial term of three years which may be terminated in
accordance with their respective terms.

According to the Article 108 of the memorandum and articles of association of the
Company, one-third of the Directors for the time being, or if their number is not
three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less than one-third,
shall retire from office by rotation at every annual general meeting of the Company,
provided that every Director shall retire from office by rotation and are subject to
re-election at annual general meeting at least once every three years. Article 112
of the memorandum and articles of association of the Company provides that any
Directors who are appointed to fill casual vacancies shall hold office only until the
next following general meeting after their appointment, and are subject to re-
election by shareholders of the Company.

Mr. Cua Tin Yin Simon and Mr. Luk Wai Shing will retire from office at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to be held on 28 August
2023. Mr. Cua Tin Yin Simon and Mr. Luk Wai Shing, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election.

At the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company, separate ordinary
resolutions will be put forward to the shareholders of the Company in relation to the
proposed re-election of Mr. Cua Tin Yin Simon as an executive Director and Mr. Luk
Wai Shing as an independent non-executive Director, respectively.
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TERM OF OFFICE OF NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The initial term of office of each of the non-executive Directors (including
independent non-executive Directors) is three years, subject to re-election.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Pursuant to the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual.

The role of chairman remains separate from that of the chief executive officer to
enhance their respective independence, accountability and responsibility. Ms. Wang
Laichun is the Chairman and Mr. Cua is the Chief Executive Officer.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

The Group acknowledges the importance of adequate and ample continuing
professional development for the Directors for a sound and effective internal control
system and corporate governance. In this regard, the Group has always encouraged
the Directors to attend relevant training courses to receive the latest new and
knowledge regarding corporate governance.

The Company updates Directors on the latest developments and changes to the
Listing Rules and the applicable legal and regulatory requirements concerning good
governance practices. Reading materials on regulatory updates were also provided
to the Directors for updating their knowledge on the relevant issues. The Company
will, if necessary, provide timely and regular trainings to the Directors to ensure that
they keep abreast of the current requirements under the Listing rules. The Group
has also adopted a policy to reimburse the Directors for any relevant training costs
and expenses incurred concerning corporate governance and internal control.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three Board committees, namely, the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee, for overseeing
particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees have been
established with defined written terms of reference, which are posted on the
website of the Stock Exchange at www.hkexnews.hk and the Company’s website
at www.time-interconnect.com. All the Board committees responsibly report to the
Board on their decisions or recommendations made.

The practices, procedures and arrangements in conducting meetings of Board
committees follow in line with, so far as practicable, those of the Board meetings
set out above.

All Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to perform their duties
and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstance, at the Company’s expense.

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties set out
in the CG Code which included developing and reviewing the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance, training and continuous professional
development of Directors, and reviewing the Company’s compliance with the code
provision in the CG Code and disclosures in this annual report.

FE BRI B R/ A TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED

IEHITESAEH

BIFRTES (BEBIUFRATES) NUTEHA
= REE -

FEEITEIAER

REDETRINTREEC 2.1 » TELETEA
BNECEEMES - MAEHER— ALRE -

FREREATRERNACER DL UDRS®E8
B MEMNEE - ERELLTEEER
AT RA TR, -

ESEEIREERRE

FEERRAEFESCHNADNFETERR -
HE2MEAERNABEZRARECEENEER
e Rt AEE-—BERBEFHFEEBEIR
2 DUERERAEE NSNS EXAE -

ARAAEZBMSRRFLEERER LR
RSB RAMETUNBROZRREERTE - &
MEEENCHAEMRTSRETES - LR
SHHEBFEF B - ANAKBRBE2RERREMY
Wi RER 2N DEREERME EHRACE
TRE - AEETERM—EBCR - LEREHTS
X VEEFH2HEEMERELEE NN ER
BT EA 2 A E RS -

[
4

i)

%8

FSERU=ZBEEEZES  PIABRE
CFHEZEGRREREZEES  DERAA
ANEHENSEE FEEEZRESENKIE
MYEEHENEOBESE  ZSHETI
7 B 22 BT 48 3 www. hkexnews. hk X 2 /2 ] 48 b
www.time-interconnect.com - FTEEHEEZE228F &

MAESREEREMEHNRENEBERR -

2l o fet

[l

HAERATERT  BEFREGRTEENER
BERRFHELXABEFTEEINER - BF
RZHE—E -

FrEESZESRERHACERUETERE -
WHARSEERNEEBER THABIEXRR -
LHBAARTXA -

EFCEERTRETAMSRCEXE RS &
PEEGRELRHAANRAZEXERBRRLER
EENFIIRFERXERRE  URRNAATDEE
BT hESTRTANRS R A FRPTFRIINEE



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (conT)
ERERERS (@)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established on 24 January 2018. The chairman of the
Audit Committee is Mr. Chan Chung Shun Eric, the independent non-executive
Director, and other members include Mr. Ho Hin Shun and Mr. Luk Wai Shing, the
independent non-executive Directors. The written terms of reference of the Audit
Committee are posted on the website of the Stock Exchange and on the Company’s
website.

The Company has complied with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules in that at least one
of the members of the Audit Committee (which must comprise a minimum of
three members and must be chaired by an independent non-executive Director)
is an independent non-executive Director who possesses appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting-related financial management expertise.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review the financial information
and oversee financial reporting system, risk management and internal control
systems, relationship with external auditors and review the arrangements to
enable employees of the Company can use in confidence, to raise, concerns about
possible improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or other matters of the
Company.

During the year, the Audit Committee held two meetings to review and comment
on the Company’s 2022 annual results and 2022/2023 interim results as well as the
Company'’s internal control procedures and risk management system.

The Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2023
have been reviewed by the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee is of the opinion
that the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2023 comply with applicable accounting standards, Listing Rules and that adequate
disclosures have been made.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established on 24 January 2018. The chairman
of the Remuneration Committee is Mr. Ho Hin Shun, the independent non-executive
Director, and other members include Mr. Luk Wai Shing and Mr. Chan Chung
Shun Eric, the independent non-executive Directors and Mr. Wong Chi Kuen, the
executive Director. The written terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee
are posted on the website of the Stock Exchange and the Company’s website.

The Remuneration Committee has been charged with the responsibility of making
recommendations to the Board on the appropriated policy and structures for all
aspects of Directors’ and senior management’s remuneration. The Remuneration
Committee considers factors such as salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and responsibilities of the Directors, employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group and desirability of performance-based remuneration. The
Remuneration Committee held three meetings to review the remuneration packages
and emoluments of Directors and senior management and considered that they are
fair and reasonable and discussion of bonus distribution and salaries adjustments
during the year ended 31 March 2023. No Director or any of his associates is
involved in deciding his own remuneration.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 24 January 2018. The chairman of
the Nomination Committee is Mr. Luk Wai Shing, the independent non-executive
Director, and other members include Mr. Ho Hin Shun and Mr. Chan Chung
Shun Eric, the independent non-executive Directors and Mr. Wong Chi Kuen, the
executive Director. The written terms of reference of the Nomination Committee
are posted on the website of the Stock Exchange and on the Company’s website.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the structure, size
and composition of the Board and assess independence of the independent non-
executive Directors and makes recommendations to the Board on appointment
of new Directors of the Company. In recommending candidates for appointment
to the Board, the Nomination Committee considers candidates on merit against
objective criteria and with due regards to the benefits of diversity on the Board.

In designing the Board’s composition, Board diversity has been considered from
a number of perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, industry experience, technical and professional skills and/
or qualifications, knowledge, length of services and time to be devoted as a director.
The Company will also take into account factors relating to its own business model
and specific needs from time to time. The ultimate decision is based on merit and
contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Nomination Committee held one
meeting to review and recommend the re-election of Directors.

BOARD AND GENERAL MEETINGS

The Board meet regularly for considering, reviewing and/or approving matters
relating to, among others, the financial and operating performance, as well as, the
overall strategies and policies of the Company. Additional meetings are held when
significant events or important issues are required to be discussed and resolved.

During the year, the Chairman held a meeting with the independent non-executive
Directors without the other Director present.
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Details of all Directors’ attendance at the Board meeting and Board Committees’  &ZE =F=RA=1t—HIFE 2EsEFYH
meeting held during the year ended 31 March 2023 are as follows: Jﬁi%uﬁﬁiiﬁg S@RAEBAT ¢
Audit Remuneration  Nomination Annual  Extraordinary
Committee Committee Committee General General
Board Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
EXEE3 FTHRECEE FHEEEEE REZREEE REEEXE REBHAE
Number of Meetings Attended/Held
HE/ BIABHLE
Executive Directors HiTEZE
Mr. Cua Tin Yin Simon TRIRSAE 1820 - - - 17 33
Mr. Wong Chi Kuen HESREEE 2020 - 33 17 7N 33
Non-executive Directors FHTEE
Ms. Wang Laichun IRELLE 2120 - - - n 33
(appointed on 19 April 2022) 07 me—a
NA+HAEZRAE)
Mr. Lo Chung Wai Paul BIREE - - - - - -
(resignal on 19 April 2022) [ S
MA+ABET)
Independent non-executive Directors BAUIFITESR
Mr. Ho Hin Shun THERE 4720 212 33 n n 313
Mr. Luk Wai Shing BEEREE 420 2 33 1N 7N 33
Mr. Chan Chung Shun Eric BRRELE 4720 212 33 " n 33
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”) assists the
Board by ensuring the Board policy and procedures are followed. The Company
Secretary is also responsible for advising that Board on corporate governance
matters.

The Company engages an external service provider, Ms. Ng Hoi Ying as its Company
Secretary. Ms. Ng possesses the necessary qualification and experience, and is
capable of performing the functions of the Company Secretary. Mr. Wong Chi
Kuen, the executive Director, is the primary contact person who Ms. Ng contacts.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, Ms. Ng undertook no less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training to update her skill and knowledge. The biographical
details of Ms. Ng are set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of the
Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year, the remuneration paid or payable to the external auditor of the
Company, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, in respect of the audit and non-audit services
were as follows:
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Remuneration

Services rendered PRtz R BRTS paid/payable
eft S
HK$'000
T
Audit services BRI

— Statutory audit services - EEEZRE 2,500

Non-audit services I RIS
— Review interim report - BTEIPEARE 498
2,998

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT

One of the measures to safeguard Shareholders’ interest and rights is to propose
separate resolutions at Shareholders’ meetings on each substantial issue, including
the election of individual directors, for Shareholders’ consideration and voting. All
resolutions put forward at Shareholders’ meeting will be voted by poll pursuant
to the Listing Rules and the poll voting results will be posted on the website of
the Stock Exchange and the Company’s website after the relevant Shareholders’
meeting.

Extraordinary general meeting may be convened by the Board on requisition of
Shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
or by such Shareholders who made the requisition (the “Requisitionists”) (as the
case may be) pursuant to Article 64 of the memorandum and articles of association
of the Company. The Requisitionists shall be able to add resolutions th the meeting
agenda. Such requisition must state the object of business to be transacted at the
meeting and must be signed by the Requisitionists and deposited at the registered
office of the Company or the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong.
Shareholders should follow the requirements and procedures as set out in such
article for convening an extraordinary general meeting. Shareholders may put
forward proposals with general meeting of the Company by sending the same to
the Company at the head office of the Company in Hong Kong.

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, shareholders may send written
enquiries to the Company. Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests in
respect of their rights to the Company's principal place of business in Hong Kong
at Units 213-221, 2/F, Building 5E, 5 Science Park East Avenue, Hong Kong Science
Park, Shatin, Hong Kong or by email at ir@brightcommns.com.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Directors acknowledge that they have overall responsibility for overseeing the
Company'’s internal control, financial control and risk management system and shall
monitor its effectiveness on an ongoing basis. A review of the effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems has been conducted by the Board at
least annually.

Aimed at providing reasonable assurance against material errors, losses or fraud,
the Company has established a risk management procedures which comprised the
following steps:

— Identify risks: Identify major and significant risks that could affect the
achievement of goals of the Group;

— Risk assessment: Assess and evaluate the identified risk according to its likely
impact and the likelihood of occurrence;

— Risk mitigation: Develop effective control activities to mitigate the risks.

Risk identification and assessment is performed or updated annually, and the results
of risk assessment, evaluation and mitigation of each functions or operation are
documented in the Risk Registry to communicate to the Board and Management
for reviews.

The Group's risk management and internal control systems are, however, designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

A review on the internal control systems of the Company, including financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management functions has been
carried out by an independent consultancy company with staff in possession of
relevant expertise to conduct an independent review.

The Audit Committee reviewed the internal control review report issued by the
independent consultancy company and the Company’s risk management and
internal control systems in respect of the year ended 31 March 2023 and considered
that they are effective and adequate. The Board assessed the effectiveness of
internal control systems by considering the internal control review report and
reviews performed by the Audit Committee and concurred the same.

Under Code Provision D.2.5, the Group should have an internal audit function.
The Company has no internal audit function because the Company has maintained
an internal control system and its implementation has been considered effective
by the Audit Committee and the Board. In addition, the Audit Committee has
communicated with external auditors of the Company to understand if there is any
material control deficiency. Nevertheless, the Company will review the need for one
on an annual basis.
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WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

The Board adopted a whistleblowing policy (the “Whistleblowing Policy”) in
May 2018. The Company is committed to maintaining good corporate governance
and high standards of accountability, transparency, fairness and ethics. It is the
responsibility of the Company to ensure that any undue behavior that compromises
the interest of the stakeholders and the general public does not occur. The
Whistleblowing Policy and system are therefore established to provide adequate
reporting channels and guidance for the employees and business partners to raise
serious concerns in confidence about suspected fraudulent activities, misconduct,
malpractice or irregularity in any matters related to the Company without fear of
reprisals. In case employees or other stakeholders notice any misconduct, malpractice
or irregularity (e.g. fraud, corruption or financial irregularity) in any matters related
to the Company, a report can be made to the chairman of the Audit Committee. No
incident of fraud or misconduct that have material effect on the Group'’s financial
statements or overall operations for the year ended 31 March 2023 has been
discovered. The Whistleblowing Policy is reviewed annually by the Audit Committee
to ensure its effectiveness.

ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY

The Board has adopted a corruption prevention policy (the “Anti-corruption
Policy”) since the listing of the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange in 2018.
The Company believes that honesty, integrity and fair play are its important assets in
business. All employees must ensure that the Company’s reputation is not tarnished
by dishonesty, disloyalty or corruption. The Anti-corruption Policy forms an integral
part of the Group’s corporate governance framework. The Anti-corruption Policy
prohibits employees to solicit any advantage from clients, suppliers or any person in
connection with the Company’s business. It demonstrates the Group’s commitment
to the practice of ethical business conduct and the compliance of the anti-corruption
laws and regulations that apply to its local and foreign operations. In line with
this commitment and to ensure transparency in the Group's practices, the Anti-
corruption Policy has been prepared as a guide to all Group employees. The Anti-
corruption Policy is reviewed and updated periodically to align with the applicable
laws and regulations as well as the industry best practice.

DISCLOSURE OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group has in place a policy on disclosure of inside information which sets
out the procedures and internal controls for handling and dissemination of inside
information.

The policy provides guidelines to the Directors, officers and all relevant employees
of the Group to ensure proper safeguards exist to prevent the Company from
breaching the statutory disclosure requirements. It also includes appropriate internal
control and reporting systems to identify and assess potential inside information.

Key procedures in place include:

— define the requirements of periodic financial and operational reporting to the
Board and Company Secretary to enable them to assess inside information and
make timely disclosures, if necessary;

— controls the access to inside information by employees on a need-to-know
basis, and safeguarding the confidentiality of the inside information before it is
properly disclosed to public;

— procedures of communicating with the Group’s stakeholders, including
shareholders, investors, analysts, etc. in ways which are in compliance with the
Listing Rules.

The Group has also established and implemented procedures to handle enquiries
from external parties related to the market rumours and other Group’s affairs.

To avoid uneven dissemination of inside information, the dissemination of inside
information of the Company shall be conducted by publishing the relevant
information on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company has adopted shareholders communication policy with objective of
ensuring that the shareholders and potential investors are provided with ready,
equal and timely access to balanced and understandable information about the
Company.

The Company has established several channels to communicate with the
shareholders as follows:

(i) Corporate communications such as annual reports, interim reports and circulars
are issued in printed form and are available on the website of the Stock Exchange
at www.hkexnews.hk and the Company’s website at www.time-interconnect.com;

(i) Periodic announcements are made through the Stock Exchange and published
on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company;

(iii) Corporate information is made available on the Company’s website;

(iv) Annual and extraordinary general meetings provide a forum for the
Shareholders to make comments and exchange views with the Directors and
senior management; and

(v) The Hong Kong share registrar of the Company serves the Shareholders in
respect of share registration, dividend payment and related matters.

The Company keeps on promoting investor relations and enhancing communication
with the existing shareholders and potential investors. It welcomes suggestions from
investors, stakeholders and the public. Enquires to the Board or the Company may
be sent by post to the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong.

The company has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the shareholders
communication policy during the Review Year. Having considered that effective
shareholders communication channels are in place and shareholders are provided
with regular updates of the Group's financial performance, strategic direction and
material business development, the Board is of the view that the Company has
established an effective communication channel with its shareholders and considers
that the Company's Shareholders’” Communication Policy and its implementation
are effective.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, there is no significant change in the
memorandum and articles of association of the Company.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

IR HEREARS

INTRODUCTION

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of business
practices in relation to environmental protection, social responsibility and
related governance. In order to uphold shareholders’ confidence and
understanding in the Group’s efforts in achieving corporate sustainability,
the Group annually releases ESG Report in a transparent and open manner
for public review. All information in this ESG Report reflects the Group’s
related performance in the Review Year.

Reporting Scope

During the Review Year, the Group has expanded its business to server
business which is already incorporated into this ESG Report. This ESG Report
covers environmental, social and governance performance (the “ESG
performance”) of the headquarters in Hong Kong (the “headquarters”)
and the production facilities in Huizhou, Shanghai and Kunshan City (the
“PRC production facilities”). After establishing a comprehensive data
collection system and deepening environmental, social and governance
("ESG") work, the Group is able to disclose various environmental and
social Key Performance Indicators (“KPIs”) during the Review Year.
Considering the differences in business nature and operations, the digital
cable business unit adopts production volume whereas the cable assembly
business unit, server business unit and headquarters adopt the average
number of employees for emission intensity calculation, KPIs presentation
and the emission reduction target formulation. Due to business nature,
the emissions generated by the Group are not significant. Therefore, both
emissions and the intensity are presented in kilogram (kg) in the Review
Year.

Reporting Standards

This ESG Report is prepared in accordance with the “Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guide” ("ESG Guide"”) as set out in Appendix
27 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and
provides a simplified overview on the ESG performance of the Group.
The information in this ESG Report is derived from the Group's official
documents and statistics, as well as the integration and summary of
monitoring, management and operational information.
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ESG Governance

The Group has established sustainability strategies and related policies
with aims to create sustainable values to the stakeholders, thereby
strengthening the Group’s contribution to the environment and the
community. The Board has ultimate responsibilities for ensuring the
effectiveness of the Group’s ESG strategies and policies. In order to fully
implement the Group’s sustainability strategies, an ESG working team
composed of key members of senior management of the Group has
been set up at the corporate level in planning, advocating and managing
the ESG-related issues which includes addressing climate change and
identifying opportunity for further acceleration, so as to sustain the
Group's long-term development. On the operational level, a dedicated
team composed of staff from relevant departments has been established
at each PRC production facility to manage the local ESG issues, enforce
and implement the relevant ESG tactics and policies cascading from the
corporate level. The ESG working team would at least annually report to
the Board, assist in the assessment and identification of potential ESG risk
and whether its internal control system is appropriate and effective. During
the Review Year, the Group has reviewed the progress of ESG-related goals
and targets, as well as committed to monitoring the achievement progress
in future by formulating corresponding measures in due course to enable
realisation of the goals of sustainable development of the Company.
With the forward-looking guidance and well-designed plans of action
to address underlying ESG matters, the management and responsible
teams keep reviewing and enhancing the Group’s sustainability policies
to satisfy the ever-changing expectation of the stakeholders. The Group
is committed to achieving an excellent performance in ESG management
while also maintains competitive advantages in the industry. Details of the
Group’s management approaches in both the environmental and social
aspects are elaborated in different sections of this ESG Report. For the
corporate governance, please kindly refer to the Corporate Governance
Report of this Annual Report.

Stakeholder Engagement

The Stock Exchange has set forth four reporting principles for preparing
the ESG Report: materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency. The
Group believes that stakeholder engagement is crucial for identifying and
analysing material ESG issues. Stakeholders refer to groups and individuals
materially influenced or affected by the Group’s business. The Group’s
internal stakeholders include employees, management and Directors;
whereas external stakeholders include customers, suppliers, investors,
regulatory authorities and various types of community groups.

The Group has established a mechanism to maintain good communication
with the key stakeholders by a variety of channels. Through stakeholder
engagement, the Group can understand wide-ranging views from the
perspective of stakeholders, be aware of the impact of the Group's
business on the material environmental and social issues in order to
formulate effective policies to sustain the Group’s long-term development
and growth.
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Figure 1: Stakeholders and engagement channels

B FHERZRE]

Stakeholders
BHinE

Interests and
concerns

N RERE

Engagement
channels

ZHRE

Business growth

EEk

Corporate sustainability
EEAFERR

Legal compliance

FEIER

Stable ownership structure
TEEHIRR AL
Timely information of
financial performance

BRI NFE

Annual and interim
reports
FENRRE

Due diligence interview
ERES

ESG Report

B @ NERRE
Non-periodic meetings
FEHRESH

On-site visits at the PRC
production facilities

PB4 BRI B AR

Business ethics

[GESEL
Environmental protection
RIBRE

Legal compliance
FEIER

Occupational safety and
health

BEZ 2 LERE

Social investment

HERE

Collaboration with
non-profit making
organisations

BIRAF BN A
Donation and sponsorship
BN E

ESG Report

BIR g NERHRE
Non-periodic meetings

FFEMEE

Corporate governance
EER

Cost competitiveness
BAR S
Environmental protection
RIGRE

Occupational safety and
health

BER e KRR
Operational performance
LEXRR

Product safety and quality
EmZ2NEE
Protection of intellectual
property

MBERRE

Supply chain management

s E R

Annual and interim
reports

FE LIRS
Communications in daily
operation
HE&ERWES
Non-periodic client visits
and audits
FEMRFHFIAES
Purchase Order Portal

RIBETEPIP

£ E# % 2023 ANNUAL REPORT



B

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (conTD)

RIS - HEREARS (@)

e Career growth and
personal development
B R R B AR R

e Employee rights and
diverse equality
EBEEANNZ TS

e Hazardous substances
management
BEVmEE

e Legal compliance
S prvs:)

e QOccupational health and
safety
BEEREEZR

e Remuneration and
benefits
e IS

e Work-life balance

TREAETH

e Communication in daily
operation
HESETNER

e Human resources policies
and practises
ANERBER K IE

e Performance appraisal

e Staff handbook
ST

e Town hall meetings
BTA®

e Training and development
programs
S MR s Bl

e Weekly e-newsletter
FABTEN

e Whistleblowing policy
BEMBR

Stakeholders Employees B Shareholders @ Suppliers
FpE B8 IRERIEE HHER

Corporate governance
and sustainability
PEERRARFEN
Development strategy
TR

Legal compliance

S a=yr)

Operational performance
BERER

Return on investment and
dividends
BEDHRMES

Announcements and
circulars

N=PSEE

Annual and interim
reports
FERPHRE
Annual General Meetings
FERRRS
Corporate website
AR,
Non-periodic investor
conferences

FEHREEDE

ERMED

Corporate governance
EXER

Financial position
BATEAROR

Legal compliance
RaER

Order volume, seasonality
and profitability

%ﬁ% ~ EEMEREABE
Payment terms

ARG

Supplier management

HEmEE

Annual supplier
assessment

HLRERF TS
Communications in daily
operation
HESETNER
On-site visits at suppliers’
offices and factories
HERmPHAT R TRE
RE

Supplier Portal
HrEmris

Trade fairs and forums

TREREN®RE

Materiality Analysis

The Group values stakeholders’ opinions and always undertakes stakeholder
engagement activities to understand the materiality of various ESG aspects.
Topics of the greatest interest will be illustrated to the stakeholders. The
Group also commissions a professional consultancy firm to conduct the
materiality analysis by conducting online survey in accordance with the
identified material ESG aspect. With expert advice, the Group is able
to identify the material ESG aspects which are used to formulate the
sustainability roadmap. The Group is committed to addressing the material
ESG issues raised by stakeholders to enhance the Group’s operational
efficiency and practices accordingly.

During the Review Year, taking into consideration of the newly established
server business, the materiality has been re-assessed to better address
future ESG-related risks and opportunities. The Group has integrated a
series of material issues from global standards and initiatives, business
conditions and media reports in which 19 material issues were selected,
prioritised and positioned according to the influence on stakeholders and
the business in the Review Year.
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Figure 2: Materiality analysis outcomes
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According to the results of the materiality matrix, the Group has identified
six most important material issues which are the main concerns for our
stakeholders:

e Product safety and quality management

e Occupational health and safety

¢ Data security and confidentiality

e Human rights

e Waste and hazardous material management
e Ethical business practices

The Group will continue to manage these critical issues by adopting
policies and guidelines to further enhance the Group’s ESG performance.
Under the current dynamic business environment, the Group has to
respond to the market very rapidly for sustaining the competitiveness and
therefore stakeholders’ opinions are increasingly important. The Group
will maintain close communication with stakeholders continuously, collect
opinions from stakeholders through different channels more extensively
and make materiality analysis more substantive and comprehensive. At the
same time, the Group will enhance the reporting principles of materiality,
quantitative, balance and consistency to determine contents of the ESG
Report and presentation of the information that are more in line with the
stakeholders’ expectation.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

Emissions

Emissions from daily operational activities

The Group’s daily operation generates the emissions of nitrogen oxides
("NOx"), sulphur oxides (“SOx"), and particulate matter (“PM"). Also,
the use of electricity and the business air travel by employees generate
greenhouse gas (“GHG"). The approximate amount of NOx, SOx and PM
produced from the operation are shown in the table below:

Figure 3: Emissions from daily operational activities
B3 : HEEEREEERH

NO, emissions

REEIHE

' o

2023
2022

34.949
42.167

(kg 2FT)
(kg AFT)

Compared to the Previous Year, the air emissions decreased due to the
reduction in usage of electric generators as electricity restriction during
the Previous Year did not recur in the Review Year. In respect of reducing
the NOx, SOx and PM emissions, the Group is committed to ensuring the
efficient usage of private cars by implementing the following environmental
friendly measures: (i) encourage the use of public transport; (ii) optimise
the vehicle usage by carpooling with different employees; (iii) avoid peak
hour traffic; and (iv) encourage the use of bicycle. To ensure the emission
from private cars in reasonable level, the Group regularly reviews their
conditions and makes necessary arrangements to avoid excessive emission.
The Group also plans to replace some diesel-powered forklift with electric
ones in the next four years.
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The Group has set the intensity of air emission reduction target on 2% by
2025 compared with 2021 base year for digital cable business unit, cable
assembly business unit and headquarters.

Regarding the target setting for the server business unit, as the business unit
isin the early stage of development, the Group is working on establishing of
guantitative environmental targets to promote its sustainable development
and anticipated that the target formulation process will be completed
within the coming year.

During the Review Year, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with the environmental laws and regulations in respect of
emissions in the course of operation and vehicle usage.

Greenhouse Gas (“GHG"”) Emissions

During the course of operation, there are GHG emissions principally
resulting from the combustion of fuels in stationary sources (e.g. electric
generators), combustion of fuels in mobile source (e.g. private cars, light
goods vehicle and forklift), electricity consumed in the PRC production
facilities and aircraft navigation. The major of GHG emissions of the
Group comes from energy consumption. The Group manages to minimise
energy consumption by adopting policies and procedures on energy saving
mentioned in the section “Use of Resources”.

Scope 1 — Direct emissions
Due to the usage of private cars, light goods vehicle, forklift and electric
generators, a certain amount of GHG is emitted.

The Group strictly controls the emissions of GHG through the establishment
of a comprehensive data collection system and green approach guideline.
This system and guideline facilitate the Group to monitor the monthly
usage of all vehicles and maintain the efficiency at a prominent level.

Scope 2 — Energy indirect emissions

Apart from the direct emissions, the Group has also incurred indirect GHG
emissions (Scope 2), mainly generated from electricity used in the PRC
production facilities.

Scope 3 — Other indirect emissions
Other indirect GHG emissions of the Group are principally generated from
aircraft navigation during employees’ business trip.

Figure 4: Summary of GHG emissions
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Compared to the Previous Year, the Scope 1 GHG emissions have
decreased mainly attributed by the reduction in usage of electric
generators. Meanwhile, the Scope 3 emission has increased due to
demand for business visits and meetings to develop closer partnership with
customers after easing of COVID-19 restrictions. It was also contributed by
the frequent business travel in newly established server business.

The Group has set the following reduction targets for digital cable business
unit, cable assembly business unit and headquarters:

e Maintain the intensity of Scope 1, 2 GHG emissions by 2025 as
compared to 2021 base year.

e Maintain the intensity of Scope 3 GHG emissions by 2025 as compared
to 2019 base year.

Noise Pollution

The Group engaged licensed third party to perform regular inspection at the
noise level to check whether the Group has complied with Measurement
of Physical Agents in Workplace Part 8: Noise (GBZ/T 189.8-2007). Various
checking points have been set at different parts in the PRC production
facilities. No material non-compliance has been found.

Even though the PRC production facilities recorded no significant impact
on noise pollution to the surrounding community, the Group always
commits to maintaining communication with the community nearby about
the potential noise issue. The Group provides appropriate protective gears
(such as earplug and etc.) to the workers in order to protect their hearing.

Hazardous Waste and Non-Hazardous Waste Produced

The Group's rule for waste control is aimed at minimising generation of
waste for disposal as far as reasonably practicable and managing waste
disposal properly to prevent environmental pollution and effective use of
resource.

The Group's production processes involved the following hazardous waste
produced:

Figure 5: Hazardous waste
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figures of 2022 are not presented.
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With the impact from the establishment of new server business, the
generation of overall hazardous waste in the Review Year has increased
slightly as compared to the Previous Year. Amounting to approximately
10,000kg of hazardous waste produced by the new server business unit
offset the impact of overall hazardous waste reduction contributed by the
cable assembly and digital cable business unit.

In alignment with the national policy, the local governments will further
strengthen the environmental protection regulations and policies. As a
result, more and more materials will be classified as hazardous waste in
future. The Group will continue the dedication to proper management of
the hazardous waste. Specific area is assigned for the temporary storage
of hazardous waste for safety purpose. Licensed third party is engaged for
the collection of hazardous waste for proper handling.

Apart from that, the Group has also produced non-hazardous waste
during the course of production as follows:

Figure 6: Non-hazardous waste
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Note 3: In the Review Year, the Group has established server business and therefore the

figures of 2022 are not presented.

Compared to the Previous Year, the total amount of non-hazardous waste
produced in the Review Year remained stable. The increase in waste woven
bags and pallets, also cardboards, was due to the establishment of new
server business. The effect has been off-set by the overall decrease in other
non-hazardous waste which was attributable to implementation of waste
reduction measures.

In addition to reducing the hazardous waste, the Group also strives to
eliminate the non-hazardous waste, such as the usage of papers, printing
toners as well as paper towels. With the effort contributed by every
employee in the Group, it is believed the usage of non-hazardous waste
will continue to decrease.

The Group will continue the effort to maintain the target intensity on
hazardous waste and non-hazardous waste generated by 2025 compared
with 2022 and 2021 respectively for digital cable business unit, cable
assembly business unit and headquarters by adopting the following
measures:

e Continuously improve production process in order to decrease the
generation of both hazardous waste and non-hazardous waste;

e Increase investment in research and development, promote
technological innovation and strengthen process training in order to
reduce scrap; and

e Promote paperless office.
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Use of Resources

The Group has established guideline for energy management to give
its employees a general direction on the efficient use of resources. The
Group adheres to the concept of energy conservation and emissions
reduction for green production. The major resources consumed by the
Group are principally attributed to electricity and water used in the PRC
production facilities. The Group commits to achieving low-carbon practices
and emissions reduction throughout the production and operations, and
striving to save the resources.

The total water consumption in cubic metres by region during the Review
Year is shown in the table below:

Figure 7: Water consumption by region
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Note 4: In the Review Year, the Group has established server business and therefore the

figures of 2022 are not presented.

Compared to the Previous Year, the total volume of water consumption has
increased mainly attributed by the establishment of new server business. A
water recycling system has been installed in Linkz Ind (Suzhou) so that large
volume of water is saved by reusing the cooling water in the production
process. The Group will keep using the current monitoring mechanism to
ensure sustainable water consumption and promote reduction of usage by
adopting the following initiatives:

¢ Arouse employees’ awareness of water conservation;

e Conduct daily inspection of major infrastructure, promptly takes
corrective and preventive measures when leaking problems are found.

The Group has initiated a target of 4% reduction on water consumption

intensity by 2025, using 2021 as a baseline for digital cable business unit,
cable assembly business unit and headquarters.
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To identify energy saving opportunities, the Group measures and records
the energy consumption level regularly. The total energy consumption by
type is shown in the table below:

Figure 8: Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type
B8 : HIERBIPNERE SEREERERE
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Compared to the Previous Year, the energy consumption intensity for
server business unit has recorded 35,250.30kWh per employee primary
due to the nature of business which require intensive use of machinery and
relatively low labour force.
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The Group targets to maintain the intensity of energy consumption by
2025 as compared to 2021 for digital cable business unit, cable assembly
business unit and headquarters.

The Group determines to maximise energy conservation throughout the
production by promoting efficient use of energy and adopting green

technologies including the following measures:

e Frequency conversion air compressors are installed to reduce electricity
consumption;

e Upgrade machinery and equipment such as purchasing electrical
appliances with high energy efficiency label and using LED lighting in
order to accelerate energy efficiency;

e Switch off equipment after office hours or when leaving the workplace
except for production needs;

e Promote energy efficiency and raise employees’ awareness of
environmental protection;

e Promote Total Productive Maintenance to reduce production scrap and
energy consumption per unit product;

e Linkz Ind (Suzhou) continues to purchase renewable energy from a
solar energy company;

e Linkz Ind (Suzhou) is equipped with water recycling system and solar
photovoltaic system. Sky windows, High Volume Low Speed energy
saving ceiling fans are also installed to maximise energy efficiency;

e The production facilities in the Huizhou have initiated procurement of
renewable energy from a solar energy company; and

e Energy saving non-polluting water curtain is installed in Linkz Ind
(Suzhou) and Linkz (Shanghai) to increase the air humidity as well as
purify the dust and particles carried by the outside air.
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The Group has also used various packaging materials for the operation.
During the Review Year, the Group recorded the following packaging
materials usage:

Figure 9: Packaging materials usage®
B9 : BRMEAES

Paper cartons Plastic bags
i) ERLR
%
2023 (kg AJT) 1,851,649 209,081
2022 (kg AfT) 2,169,992 190,604
Note 6: In the Review Year, the Group uses kg as unit for packaging material. Therefore, the

figures in 2022 are restated.

The Group is dedicated to minimising the usage of packaging materials. It
is the Group’s practice to implement production planning in a timely basis
to assess the approximate amount of packaging materials needed before
mass production.

The Environment and Natural Resources

To develop a green approach, minimise environmental impact and natural
resources consumption, some of the PRC production facilities have adopted
a heat recovery system to recover the residual heat from the air compressor
to heat up the water supply in dormitory. Besides, the Group has also
developed and implemented a management software to move forward to
paperless operation in the production line. Video and phone conferences
are encouraged to minimise carbon footprint created by business-related
travel.

As a socially responsible enterprise, protecting the environment has
become an integral part of the Group’s corporate culture and important
value. The Group constantly looks for ways to maximise benefits with
minimal resource consumption and environmental impact, and continue
to strive for sustainable development.

The PRC production facilities have successfully accredited the 1SO14064
Greenhouse Gas verification which fully reflects the Group’s unremitting
efforts in strengthening environmental protection.

The Group has also set up an environmental system management task force
as part of the effort to develop an environmental management system that
supports sustainable development, and has obtained the certification of
ISO14001 Environmental Management Systems.

Climate Change

Climate change is one of the most critical and complicated challenges
faced globally in the new century. Global warming leads to more frequent
extreme weather conditions including changes in precipitation mode,
droughts, floods and bushfires. Rise in sea level may inundate coastal
areas. Faced with all sorts of natural disaster, individuals, corporations and
governments must take immediate actions to tackle climate change.

In response to the climate change related risks and opportunities that brings
to the operation of the Group, the Board at least annually holds meeting
to oversee climate-related strategies, policies, actions and disclosure, and
develops the related measures responding to the identified risks, in order
to mitigate the negative impact. The measures will be reviewed regularly
to assess their effectiveness.
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Over-emission of greenhouse gases is the main factor in causing global
climate change. To achieve a low carbon economy, the Group is committed
to reducing the greenhouse gas emissions through the approaches of
mitigation and adaptation. For example, the Group has strived to mitigate
the risks brought by climate change through the adoption of various
environmental policies and measures; and promoting energy saving
practices. The Group has also considered potential physical risks of climate
change to the daily operations such as storms, fires or heatwaves and
implemented the relevant protection measures to minimise the risks.

The Group has identified the following significant climate-related issues
which have impacted and/or may impact on the operations:

Figure 10: Significant climate-related issues
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Physical Risk
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Acute risk:

Extreme weather such as typhoon,
torrential rain and sandstorm
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Interruption of public transportation
systems will affect staff commutmg
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Under the extreme weather conditions,
the supply chain will be affected due to
transportation interruption. Production
delay will occur due to suspension of

operations.
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Weather-related events such as storms,
floods, fires or landslides that cause
damage to production plants, equipment
and inventories.
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Adopt flexible working arrangements

in case of adverse weather conditions if
necessary.
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Communicate with customers and
suppliers in real time to ensure the
timeliness of material and product
delivery.
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Formulate emergency response plans
and continuously improve emergency
response mechanisms for natural
disasters.
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Upgrade drainage system in the PRC
production facilities, install water baffles
at building, and reserve emergency
supplies such as fine sand and sandbags.
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Chronic risk:
Continuous high temperature, drought,
etc.
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e High temperature will badly affect the
working environment and production
efficiency; and cause possible health issues
such as heat stroke.
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e High temperature will lower the lifespan
of production materials; and equipment,
and eventually increase the operating cost.
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e Power and water shortage may interrupt
operation.
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e Apply more energy efficient cooling
equipment and measures.
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e Provide periodic health check to labour.
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e Upgrade equipment that can operate
under high temperature.
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e Maintain comprehensive insurance
coverage on assets.
HEEERF2HERR

e Perform periodic equipment inspection
and maintenance.
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Transition Risk
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The government may
introduce more stringent
policies and regulations to
mitigate climate change,
which would increase our
compliance workload or
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a timely manner.
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More customers are
concerned about climate-
related issues, which

may lead to changes in
customer preference.
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Prioritise the climate
change as a high concern
in the market decisions
to show the Group is
concerned about the
issues of climate change.
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Moving forward, the Group will continue to implement proactive measures
that minimise any adverse impacts on the environment including reducing
emissions in the operations, engaging suppliers to reduce emissions in
supply chain, strengthening the resilience of the business and advocating
for collective action. In the coming year, the Group will arrange employees
to participate seminars on climate change related issues and on-site visits

at resource centres to further strengthen the knowledge of the issue.
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Employment

Human capital is the most valuable asset of an enterprise and also the
cornerstone for sustaining corporate development and enhancing
competitive advantages. It is the Group's initiative to attract, retain and
develop quality talents through various human resources strategies and
tactics, e.g. efficient recruitment and selection, fair and competitive
remuneration and benefits, effective performance management, systematic
staff development and training, holistic health and safety management,
etc. The Group always reviews the human resources policies and practices
in order to maintain the competition and attractiveness in the job market as
well as ensure sufficient human capital for the Group's sustainable growth.

Being a corporate citizen, the Group always gives timely assistance and
solicitude to those needy employees. During the Review Year, the Group
has organized an internal fund raising activity with employees and labor
union to provide financial support to a former employee who urgently
need medical treatment. Also the Group actively assists in fostering young
talents for the community by offering the Employee Children Scholarship
Program to employees’ children who are taking full-time bachelor degree
at reputable universities. 19 employees of the Group were awarded this
scholarship in the Review Year.

The Group aims to refrain from any form of harassment and discrimination
with respect to age, gender, race, nationality, religion, marital status or
disability in the workplace. Hence, the ratio of male to female employees
show that gender inequality does not exist.

The Group always strictly observes the relevant legislations in the PRC and
Hong Kong regarding the equal employment opportunities, child labour
and forced labour. The Group abides by the employment regulations,
relevant policies and guidance of the jurisdictions where it operates,
including the “Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China” and the
“Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China” in the PRC; the
“Employment Ordinance” and the “Employees’ Compensation Ordinance”
in Hong Kong.

The Group has also developed rigorous and systematic measures for
recruitment and selection to prevent itself from illegally hiring child labour
and ensure that the employment has in compliance with relevant laws and
regulations. Furthermore, the Group has the human resources information
system to record employees’ information in order to review employment
practices systematically and regularly.

Huizhou TIME offers shuttle service that takes employees between the
public transit hubs and their workplaces. The shuttle service helps attracting
more new hires, and encourages friendship building with other colleagues
and creates a sense of belongings.

The Group also strives to establish harmonious labour relationships, create
a happy working environment, promote a positive and healthy lifestyle,
and strengthen the sense of belongings. With the COVID-19 outbreak
gradually under control, the Group resumed to organise spring dinner,
recreation activities, and continued to arrange lucky draws, gifts for
employees during festival. As such, the headquarters has been recognised
as “Happy Company” (See Figure 11) by the Hong Kong Productivity
Council and the Promoting Happiness Index Foundation. Moreover, the
Group has been granted the certificate of “Good MPF Employer 5 Years+"
(See Figure 12) by the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority.

The Group commits to improving employees healthcare. During the Review
Year, the Group has organised several events to promote employees’ health
such as Hiking Activity (See Figure 13) and Chinese Medicine Seminar (See
Figure 14). The Group also organised sports games such as Basketball
Competition, Badminton Competition and Tug of War (See Figure 15), etc.
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Figure 11: Happy Company Figure 12: Good MPF Employer 5 Years+
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Figure 13: Hiking Activity
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Figure 14: Chinese Medicine Seminar
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Figure 15: Tug of War
E15 : AL E

During the Review Year, the Group was not aware of any material REIEEEE » AEEN ERIB(TAIE A ERE
non-compliance with the labour requirements set out in relevant laws,  BE§4s T EBER L EAIRRE o
regulations and standards.

Figure 16: Employment
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Employee turnover rate in the Review Year

REEFEERERAE
Total employee Employee turnover rate Employee turnover rate Employee turnover rate
turnover rate’ by region® by gender® by age group?®
BlEERAE BB OMEERAE  EBMABESNEERAES REFRAE R B DR EMAZS

Hong  Male
Kong 51
B

2023

Note 7: Total employee turnover rate = number of left employees/((number of employees at
the beginning of the Review Year+number of employees at the end of the Review
Year)/2)/12x100

Note 8: Employee turnover rate in the specified category = number of left employees in the
specified category/((number of employees in the specified category at the beginning
of the Review Year+number of employees in the specified category at the end of the
Review Year)/2)/12x100

Health and Safety

The Group strongly believes that ensuring a stable and safe production
environment is the most important social responsibility to the stakeholders
and also one of the major priorities in the corporate management. The
health and safety measures listed below are some examples already taken
in place within the Group:

e Comprehensive occupational health and safety management systems
have been established in the PRC production facilities;

e Canopies and other protection devices have been installed to ensure
the safe operation of production machinery and equipment;

e Trainings on fire safety and fire drills are organised at the PRC
production facilities;

e Health checks are conducted on a regular basis at the PRC production
facilities to monitor employees’ health;

e Comprehensive medical insurance including outpatient treatments and
other wellness is provided to the headquarters’ employees;

e Fire-fighting facilities, e.g. fire extinguishers, smoke detectors and etc.,
are equipped at the PRC production facilities and headquarters;

e Exhaust air treatment system has been installed in Linkz Ind (Suzhou)
to eliminate volatile organic compounds emissions generated during
production processes; and

e The production facilities in the Huizhou installed a total of eight
activated carbon filter boxes on the rooftop. All the exhaust gases
produced in the factory, such as solder dust and injection gas, were
filtered through the filter boxes and then discharged at high altitude.
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Also, the Group has assigned relevant department to inspect daily
operations by the established risk assessment program which consists of
a series of steps such as risk identification, analysis, evaluation, treatment,
monitoring and reviewing and thus non-compliance will be identified and
rectified timely.

Although the outbreak of COVID-19 is gradually under control, the Group
continued to arrange frequent and intensive cleaning and disinfection in
the headquarters and PRC production facilities. The Group will continue
to host various health workshops and seminars to maintain employees’
health awareness regularly.

The Group makes every effort to create a healthy, safe, stable and
harmonised working environment effectively. Every case of injury (if any) is
required to be reported to the Human Resources Department immediately
and be assessed under internal guidelines. The Group is pleased to report
that the rate of accidents and injuries during the Review Year was extremely
low with zero fatal accident in the past 3 years. The total number of lost
days due to work injury is 109 (2022: 579 days) for the Group.

During the Review Year, the Group was not aware of any material
noncompliance with the health and safety laws and regulations.

Figure 17: Health and safety
B17 : #RREZZ

Number of
work injuries
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2023 2022
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Development and Training

The Group recognises the importance of skilled and professionally
trained employees to the business growth and future success. Therefore,
the Group advocates the culture of lifelong learning through providing
tuition fee subsidy and encouraging employees to participate in personal
development and job-related training courses. During the Review Year,
the Group organised quality assurance training in production processes,
inspection assurance of materials received from supplier, health and safety
precautions in using production equipment and machinery. Moreover,
in order to maintain the highest standard of professionalism among
employees, the Group also formulated training programs on quality and
environment management, including IATF16949, 1SO9001, 1SO14001,
ISO14064 as well as 1SO14064 internal audit, among others, to ensure
employees are informed of the latest international standard set by the
International Automotive Task Force (IATF) or International Organisation
for Standardisation (1SO).

In daily operations, the Group provides induction training for new employees
and experienced employees act as mentors to guide new recruits. The
Group believes such arrangement can facilitate communication and team
spirit, improve technical skills and managerial capability, encourage the
learning and further development of employees at all levels.

The Group also provides relevant training to develop and enhance the
employees in all management aspects, e.g. leadership, communication
skills, team building and motivation, meeting skills and etc., to train them
as the potential leaders and successors for the management team.
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The Group will continue to intensify the efforts to promote and develop
It believes that by means of offering 2l

employee training programs.

comprehensive training opportunities, it could help to provide sufficient
talent capital for corporate development. The Group annually evaluates
the training needs to ensure that employees are provided with suitable and
appropriate training according to their job nature, position, required and

potential competences for further development.

Figure 18: Development and training
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Percentage of employees trained in the Review Year
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Note 9: Percentage of employees trained in the specified category = Number of employees in

the specified category who took part in training/Total number of employees who took

part in training during the Review Yearx100

Note 10: Overall percentage of employees trained = Total number of employees who took part

in training/Total number of employees during the yearx100
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Average training hours completed per employee in the Review Year
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Note 11: Average training hours in the specified category = Number of training hours of the
specified category/Total number of employees under the specified category during the

Review Year.

Note 12: Overall Average training hours per employee = Total number of training hours/Total

number of employees during the year.
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Figure 19: Leadership Training
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Supply Chain Management

Optical fibres, copper wires, connectors, central processing units and hard
disks; copper and plastic are major materials used by the PRC production
facilities in the cable assembly, digital cable and server manufacturing
respectively.

The Group implements supplier management in accordance with the
principles of sustainable procurement and internal guidance which
governs the engagement of suppliers. Suppliers are chosen not only
subjecting to comprehensive screening and evaluation procedures on the
quality and price but also field visits and investigations to ensure suppliers’
capability in quality assurance, safety and environmental responsibility.
The investigation reviews all the measures related to production capacity,
technology level, quality assurance capability, supply capacity, safety
and environmental management qualifications, and social responsibility.
Only highly qualified suppliers complied with regulatory requirements are
eligible for the selection of supplier by the Group. The Group also conducts
regular assessment on suppliers’ overall capabilities, assets position, nature
of business, reputation in the industry, quality of products, goods delivery
and compliance with laws and regulations. Furthermore, the selected
suppliers are required to sign a set of agreements in which some of
the terms cover the area related to integrity, confidentiality, quality and
environmental protection.

The Group has obtained Quality Management System Certification
(ISO9001) and Automotive Quality Management System (IATF16949) that
are formulated by the International Organisation for Standardisation and
International Automotive Task Force respectively. The Group emphasises
defect prevention and reduction of variation and waste in the supply chain
and strictly requires employees to comply with the quality management
policies to provide continual improvement.

As customers are becoming more concerned about environmental issues
and the importance of using environmentally friendly materials, the
Group will continue to communicate and emphasise the importance of
environmental issues to the suppliers. The Group aims at strengthening the
cooperation with suppliers, collaborating with them in product trials and
producing socially responsible products.

Each supplier and subcontractor would be reviewed after completion of
their contracts. In case of major non-performance, the Group will review
their suitability to remain on the approved supplier list.
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In 2022, the Group has compiled and adopted “Responsible Conflict
Minerals Sourcing Policy” which required our suppliers to declare that
the corporation has complied with the “Code of Conduct” established
by the Responsible Business Alliance. The “Code of Conduct” outlines
standards for labour, health and safety, environment, business ethics
and management system with reference to international norms. Looking
forward, the Group will continue to monitor its supply chain regarding
the environmental and social standards and promote the sustainable
development of the industry as a whole.

The number of critical suppliers of major direct materials by region during
the Review Year is as follows:

Figure 20: Number of critical suppliers
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Product Responsibility

The Group is committed to pursuing product and service of high quality
by setting up implementing stringent and comprehensive quality control
procedures, and achieved the standard of Restriction of Hazardous
Substances Directive 2002/95/EC. The Group has formulated quality
control manual throughout the production processes from purchase of
raw materials to product packaging. Raw materials are inspected to ensure
the quality and in a good condition before proceeding to production to
minimise possible disruptions during the operation.

Huizhou TIME has obtained the 1SO13485 Quality Management System
— Medical Devices that consistently meets customer requirements and
regulatory requirements applicable to medical devices and related services.
Annual testing has been performed by the licensed third party to ensure
Huizhou TIME has complied with the relevant requirements.

The Group has developed guidelines to set out procedures for product
recall and prevent misuse of defective product. There were no substantiated
complaints received relating to the provision and use of products and
services that have a significant impact on the Group’s operations. The
number of defective products produced by the Group was minimal and
complaints by customers in respect of defective products were insignificant.

Protection of Intellectual Property Right And Consumer
Privacy

The Group recognises the importance of the protection over intellectual
property right and consumer privacy. Proper licences for software and
information are obtained by the Group before used in the business
operation. Disciplinary action is taken immediately if use of unlicensed or
infringed software occurs.

Meanwhile, the Group handles all information provided by clients, business
partners and employees in accordance with non-disclosure agreement,
Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance, related laws and regulations and internal
guidelines of intellectual property and privacy to ensure the information is
under proper protection.
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Anti-corruption

The Group is committed to maintaining the integrity of the corporate
culture. Employees are not allowed to solicit or accept any advantages.
The Group sets out the relevant policies and guides the employees to abide
by the code of conduct which provides a clear definition on the provision
and acceptance of interests, such as gifts and souvenirs, and ways to deal
with conflicts of interest.

When joining the Group, employees are required to sign a Notice of
Integrity Commitment which set out the prohibited conducts including
misappropriation of assets, leaking of sensitive information, acceptance
of interests; engaging in prohibited commercial activities, etc. to promote
corporate integrity culture.

Directors and employees are also required to make a declaration to the
management through the reporting channels when actual or potential
conflicts of interest arise. Employees cannot receive any gifts from any
external parties (e.g. customers, suppliers, contractors, etc.) unless
prior approval is obtained from the management. A training program,
collaborated with the Hong Kong ICAC, to enhance vigilance of senior
management and frontline employees to the problem of corruption
originally planned in the Review Year has been postponed due to the
outbreak of COVID-19. The Group plans to organise the training in the
near future.

To show the unwavering commitment to anti-corruption, the Group has
adopted an “Integrity and Honesty Management System”. Suppliers are
required to sign an Undertaking of Integrity before entering contractual
relationship. The Group also regularly delivers the message to all the
suppliers to reiterate the integrity and honesty business philosophy and
secure the alignment with the Group for fair procurement.

The Group has whistle-blowing procedures in effect, encouraging
employees and all other stakeholders to report directly to the chairman of
the Audit Committee about any misconduct and dishonest behaviour, such
as bribery, fraud and other offences. Furthermore, it is specified in the staff
handbook that the Group is entitled to terminate the employment contract
with any employee who is bribed with money, gifts or commission, etc.,
and reserves the right to take further legal actions.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has complied with the relevant
laws and regulations regarding anti-corruption and money-laundering and
has no legal case regarding corrupted practices brought against the issuer
or the employees.

Community Investment

The Group is committed to creating sustainable prosperity that brings
long-term social and economic benefits to all stakeholders, particularly
to maintain the relationship with interest groups which are relevant to
business operation.

The Group has been actively promoting strategic partnerships among
business and social service partners, encouraging employees to participate
in external community activities and fostering corporate social responsibility
through caring for the community, employees and the environment.

During the Review Year, the Group supported Junior Chamber International
Apex, a leadership development organisation in Hong Kong, as one of
the corporate sponsors. Except for the continued participation in various
charity activities, including the Mooncake donation to the Hong Kong
Down Syndrome Association and “World Sight Day 2022" of ORBIS Hong
Kong, etc., employees in Shanghai production facilities have participated
in a blood donation campaign in order to create shared value for the
community.

RE35

REBB O #HE J%EE’ME%?UK c BEAE
R IR - NEEGIERBEBER
jth%lf&%%??ﬁé?ﬁﬁu; BERE Y 89K
/.E%%Eﬁ WAV N ES - DIR AN BRI A
TREZE o

MAREEFR - REAFE BEAHES) &
RESISBRNILITR - BREEEE 8
BURER B2 E 0 MEFERIENEE
/i.?ib » DURERSEHEE -

EEREETNATREBBRNEEN REZE
RrimiB s KR EEEELZN - IRIFEL
ESEEENIE - SRIESRSEIEMI

RALBImER -~ HER  ABESF) E
A8 - MRBE019TREEHTE - R
EROEREEETBRBAZESERRLURT
RS RE MR EE T )5 AR E
fir%ﬂ\&%%#ﬁ?ﬁ o AEEFFEINARRIK KRB

REBRBITRESAR - ARERATRZEN
EEEHE, HEBARERZAMEAAES
BARUSHER - $$@JTEHHF'J%%1 e
A EE B E R AKBARZMENEEED -
Eﬁf%’mﬁéﬁi$%lﬁ SR BIRATER

AEBEEY YRR  SRESKAIEHE
RPEEEANBEREESTIREREEAANET
REANHEEE) - PIANE)s ~ SR - IR HAD
PRITH - %% $%lﬁ§l¥ﬁ¢%ﬁh
H o RS C BRNASEREE 0 A
%lﬁ%%tAuEE%E%uﬂiﬁ e
BITHIRER

REHE » AEEEEBTRES ARERE
HEDEGISOER - BWEAATHEE BT AR

BRTRHMEISREM -

=

AEERDAEAFERSE  RITE/FNES
REPHELEEND - LHRMEFEXEE

EHEBERA s EIAIRIR -

AERE (A RAE ML HE B 7 36 S A B RIS R A RO
BUSIE  BBEESNIFRERES I
%@Fﬁ%’%'ﬁ@ CRERERE C RELEHEE

REBEE  AEELABESTFHG (FEE
B aRIEFI8E) NhXEE e — - E%lz,‘i“
HRIBZRZTEI  BEAEEERGSED
SIEMASLIAZER L HES M FREER
2022 ,% - J:AEF:EEEE’J@EJT/,\Y@HH
EE - Rt RAERZEE

£ [Z R % 2023 ANNUAL REPORT

o ]



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (conTD)

RiG - HEREARE (@

The Group has been granted the following awards from various parties as
the recognition of the efforts in fulfilling social responsibility:

e The “15 Years+ Caring Company” logo by The Hong Kong Council of
Social Service (See Figure 21);

e The “Industry Cares” Award presented by the Federation of Hong
Kong Industries (See Figure 22);

e The “HSBC Living Business ESG Awards 2022 — Certificate of Excellence”
presented by the Business Environment Council (See Figure 23);

e The "Hong Kong Sustainability Award 2022 — Certificate of Excellence”
presented by the Hong Kong Management Association (See Figure 24);

e The “Social Capital Builder Logo Award” presented by the Community
Investment and Inclusion Fund and Home and Youth Affairs Bureau
(See Figure 25)

Figure 21: 15 Years+ Caring Company
E21 155+ R RERER

Figure 22: Industry Cares
B22 : TEBED

AEELKE I BHE D BABIRIE - DXRBEHE
HETHEEEMFHNE

o HEMERBHMESBEEHMN 15F+HRERH
RS (RE21);

. %55)%:[%%%@%?%8’9 TTEREO, R (RE
22);

e HARRBEREN "I __HFEEZ
EEMEBORIE (LG NE R - FHEE
(RE23);

s BREHEXRERABN TR _FF
BRAFERRE - RHiE, (RE24)

s HEBREXAZFESHRBATFEHERMA
R "THEERFNEREE, (RE25)
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Figure 23: HSBC Living Business
ESG Awards 2022 - Certificate of
Excellence
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Figure 24: Hong Kong Sustainability Award 2022 - Figure 25: Social Capital Builder Logo Award
Certificate of Excellence [E25 : tEEARE T
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UNITED NATIONS SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT GOALS E&EaiF @R REE

The Group has integrated the sustainability strategies into the initiative of AEBEPHAISERREREKSEHAIEE
United Nations Sustainable Development Goals (“SDG") and identified 6 ZEEE (TAIHEREBE)) ESFLES ¥l
key SDGs that are highly relevant to the business operations. Substantial  EHREHE#KELESABYIN6IEFEnFH4ES
efforts are put to resolve the related issues with non-profit organisation  ZxEEE » WEIIEL M B LB AR A S
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Goal
BE

Potentlal impact

BETE

The Group's status

AEEKR

Future direction

RIRF5[E

e Provide and
maintain a safe
and healthy work
environment
AR —E%
PEEMNTIERER

e Establish an
effective workplace
safety culture
EREVNTHES
CEES¢(d

GOOD HEALTH
AND WELL-BEING

/e

Good Health and
Well-being
Eﬁ?ﬁ’ﬂﬂ?&%ﬂaﬁt

e Promote healthy
lifestyles

{EIZ?{EF?E’JE/ETU
_t

HEHTE

Survey on the Emotional Health of Hong Kong

School Children 2023

During the Review Year, the Group has sponsored
the following pr %rams 'of JCI Ape

el LR s Er Rt T

— EE — —EE = /% ﬁ? %%/D\Eﬂ@%ﬂﬁ;ﬁ%ﬁﬁ

“Love Without Boundary — You're Not Alone”
to arouse the international community’s
awareness of depre55|on (See Figure 26)

EE DM - BRI,
HEEMEE (RE26)

DAMHE B et &

The production facilities in the PRC have arranged
oyees to participate in the following programs:

empl
EF“E’J&EFDXF@K? TRESHDITES :

Blood Donatlon of Anting Town, Jiading

District, Shangh

bEmEE nnzzﬁﬁ \\\\\\ SRE RIS S

“Identification of 9 Constitution Types in

Chinese Medicine and Medicinal Diet” seminar

Mo B R ZEERE g

Strengthen internal
promotion on high
standards of workplace
health & safety, and
support health-related
projects of non-profit
orgamsa‘uons
7JDE§¥T SR TIEGATEE
FE L 2PN EEHERE 0 A
EZ%JF:FW%%EE{LJ?@
BAR)EED

Offer training programs
and/or other tuition fee
subsidy to all employees
and encourage lifelong

Iearmn
?EETE{ iAi:Llu”n%
1&/ = H SRR

QUALITY
EDUCATION

|

: : 2EL o WEBARBE  During the Review Year, the Group has sponsored
Qual%iducatlon = the following programs of JCI Apex:
REHBE %%EEEEV AEEED T ZREFHENUT

children

The Group advocates the culture of lifelong
learning, and provides tuition fee subsidy for
employees and scholarshlp program for all
applicable emplo zjees

AEBEIREXRSE
%T”EHE&?%FEEA

SHIXE  WRESIRIVEES
BlEE M T iR EE S 8

“Life Planning Workshop” for students of Sir

Ellis Kadoorie Secondary School (West Kowloon)

(See Flgure 27)
RBIL
SETRIT Ly, (RE27)

sRERELPE(FIAE)BERRN L

“You Are Superstar” — A series of public

speaklng skills training

MrEERE 2  AFESEIEIRT]

Encourage and support
employees to improve
their technical and
vocational skills and
professional knowledge,
and provide training
service support to non-
profit orgamsa‘uons
SEASFEERARS
T i LR 22 1 e S SR A
% i RIEE TSR A
B BRIF IR

BE BRI AR A TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (conTD)
RIE - HEREARS @

Goal Potentlal impact The Group's status Future direction
BiZ BUETE AEERR REKF5[E
DECENT WORK AND Offer career The headquarters in Hong Kong has arranged Provide employment and
i opportunities and Winter Solstice Luncheon; Spring Dinner and lucky ~ business opportunities
assist in the economic  draws after easmg of COVID restrictions. to a wide range of
development of local ~ REMRRSHELENRERE 2 HBBITCLHERZE  stakeholders and indirect
communities FE  EME N EEmE build wealth in local

IREERS o Wi communit
BE it @AV E During the Review Year, the Group has sponsored be_j(}ﬂ;/}%}'ﬂ b EN
the following pr %rams 'of JCI Ape Me  Traihie

T Y e T Bl o

o

Decent Work and i @EEEF N

Economic Growth SEE) -

BemE LR

BR e “Workplace Communications and Mediation”

webinar

;F;L’%ﬁ F ZRAZE B BBERAR AT

e “The New Normal: Business Opportunities after
Pandem|c Seminar and Business ExcharLg_e

MRETERE BRI REBERM

RESPONSIBLE Ensure the sustainable  The production facilities in the Huizhou installed Facilitate employee
1 CONSUMPTION use and management  a total of eight activated carbon filter boxes on participation in the
A of resources the rooftop. All the exhaust gases produced in promotion of sustainable
ERERNA &M the factory, such as solder dust and injection gas,  development through
NEWEIE were filtered through the filter boxes and then various means
dischar%ed at high altitude. LﬂTH ' XEMES
BNNEELBCEREIR FRESHE/\EE |$ﬁ i L/H’E@J—Hm TR
: IBAE e F&%FEE’JFE’%E%@E@ TERRE
Responsible HRBEBAEEE - ARESEHK
Consumption and
Production Linkz Ind (Suzhou) has carried out a packaging
BEEHEN4AE material improvement project. It recycled the

packaging boards used by suppliers, and used them
on the Company’s product shipping packaging to
reduce waste generation. A total of 251 boards
were recovered during the year.

HER T2 (BRI ES%%@ MEIBCEIRE Bl
Y{,\F‘E‘?ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ’@#fﬁi ' itH%E%EMK’AEE’\J

Euuzjﬁ’ﬂ@ ' LB BEEMNEL - R &
HEOWEEFRIR2513 °
CLIMATE Monitor and reduce In order to strengthen the promotion of Explore other means to
13 ACTION the CO, emissions and  environmental protection, the Group has launched  contribute more to the
waste water discharge internal “Collage Makmg Competition” environment and strive to
generated from the BT INRIRE Efﬁ AEBENNERBRY TPt facilitate the building of
use of resources and  BE/NBIE f{%jt B, HRELE - a healthy and sustainable
product manufacturing society in the future
EBLCRAMEEAEIR During the Review Year, the Group has sponsored SREAMREDIINRE IR
&Euui{%kfﬂqﬂ%i{ the following program of JCI Ap BiER - YR D{EEE

Climate Action S L RS kB NERBEE - AEEEE ) SREFHENLT  BRURE SRR
RIRITE EE =3

e "UNSDG Board Game” workshop
BEEAERREESE JI{”Eiﬁ
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Goal

BiF

Potential impact

BETE

The Group's status

REEAKR

Future direction

RIRF5[E

Partner with non-
profit organisations to
contribute to the local

1 PARTNERSHIPS

FOR THE GOALS

The Group has established long-term strategic
partnership with non-profit organisations to create
shared value for the betterment of communit

Strengthen cooperation
with non-profit
organisations and

communit $%@EE@3F$@T%$§EQE%$&H§%H&E§ %+ explore more community
éﬁ?Ffﬁﬂ%ﬁé{’EZ—?b%ﬁ RNETEAEEZER investment projects that
et @ 4F SRR can help creating shared

During the Review Year, the Group has participated value

in/sponsored the followigig programs: INREIERRIEN S
ﬁ@ﬁ%ﬁfﬁfﬁ F AREERE B T LIRS E - WEEHRES 2 nl 2l ia 3t
ZEENEREIER

Partnerships for

the goals " ; " ;
; =Tk e "World Sight Day 2022" of the Orbis
EE SRNRE mibH T RIEEE 2022,
e “Skip Lunch Day 2023" of the Community
Chest

N TARITE . RHE2023,

* “Earth Hour 2023" of WWF Hong Kong
HMREBRESEEENE THII—/\F2023

e “S.H.LN.E with Diversity” of JCI Apex (See

Figure 28) _ N _
ZEeESFmE - Rme%i, (RBE28)

e 52 staff members participated the “Clean City
Campaign”, a volunteer service at Anting Town,
Jiading District, Sha\wha:ib(See ﬂgy_re 29% o
R2EET28MY LEhEERT=EMN 5,
BB, ELRE (RIE29)

Figure 26: Love Without Boundary-You're Not Alone
[B26 | BB RIEM - BIEETT

Figure 27: Life Planning Workshop
27 : £ EREI TS

Figure 28: S.H.I.N.E. with Diversity
[E28 : EhieeZ T

Figure 29: Clean City Campaign Volunteer Service
E29: "E. FHERIRHE
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Environmental performance indicators

Aspect A1: Emissions EBEA1 - B
Performance indicator BENIEE
Emissions BEm

Total NOx emissions (kg)

Total SOx emissions (kg)

Total PM emissions (kg)

Total GHG emissions — Scope 1 (kg)

Total GHG emissions — Scope 2 (kg)

Total GHG emissions — Scope 3 (kg)

RACDBIR (A FT)
TR CABBER (A T)
RBRIABIERR (AT
REREE - EEN1
(AFF)

B =R ISR - EE2
(AFT)

/ﬂﬂ:ﬂ:%ﬁ%nvu TJFE& f @ 3
(AF)

Hazardous waste

Mineral oil contaminated waste rags, organic

solvents contaminated waste rags, used
containers for chemical materials, wire-

BEBEEY

EmSABEZME B
HORES AT
EERERREE

drawing lubricants and waste batteries (kg) — RI#&EEE &
RBEZEM (AFT)
Non-hazardous waste WmEEEEY)
Industrial waste T ZREEZEY)
Metal, iron, plastic, waste wires, etc (kg) S8 - g~ BE -
EERE (AT
Waste woven bags and pallets (kg) FEARARS SRR (AFT)
Cardboard (kg) HARFE (AFT)
Used A3 and A4 paper (kg) EEBNASRAME (AFT)

Used toner cartridge (kg)
Used paper towel (kg)

EERvEmE (AT)
EEARAED (A7)

Aspect A2: Use of resources

BHEA2 - EiRER

Performance indicator BEE

Type of energy consumption HelRHFE REY
Non-renewable fuel (kwh) NATBAE R (TR
Renewable energy (kWh) A B4R (TEE)
Purchase of energy (kWh) BER (TRR)
Water J<

Total water consumption (cubic metres) HEFEKE (IF5K)
Packaging materials ‘BEMH

Total packaging materials (kg)

BEMREE (AF)

RIBIRWIER

Stock Exchange
ESG Reporting

Guide KPI

HSARFTIRIE

g REARE

2023 2022 1ES|IEAREVIEE
34.949 42.167 A1.1
0.887 1.997 A1.1
2.096 2.513 A1.1
149,410 329,885 A1.2
el NWPEGVA R 34,668,136 A1.2
59,912 44,040 A1.2
23,239 21,338 A1.3
1,526,801 1,819,121 Al.4
94,299 17,645 Al.4
301,827 113,489 Al.4
11,687 9,495 Al4
1,573 1,402 Al1.4
7.161 7,089 Al.4
Stock Exchange

ESG Reporting

Guide KPI

B FTIRIE

HEREARE

2023 2022 ¥E5|EESERIER
1,106,412 1,984,211 A2.1
4,656,234 3,530,682 A2.1
UPREt AN 42,597,578 A2.1
378,819 316,631 A2.2
3,724,358 4,430,110 A2.5
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Social performance indicators

Aspect B1: Employment BB : EE
Performance indicator BEE
Number of employees as at 31 March MR=A=+—HB®
EE A

Gender: PRI

Male B

Female g
Age Fih

<30 <30

30-50 30-50

> 50 > 50
Region @

PRC FPEY

HK BE
Employee turnover rate BB RKE

Aspect B2: Health and safety

[EWEB2 : REMZS

Performance indicator BEREE
Number of work injuries IEHF
Rate of work injury (per thousand ITEXR(BTRESR)

employees)

Aspect B3: Development and training

Performance indicator

[EEB3 * R K

HERIEE

Percentage of employees trained
Gender
Male
Female
Employee category
Managers or above
Supervisors and general staff
Workers

ZEllfES 55 Lt
gzl
EEyis
poNis
rEER!
FSEY
FEN—REE
TA

Average training hours completed per
employee
Gender
Male
Female
Employee category
Managers or above
Supervisors and general staff
Workers

BHEETMAZIFS
R

PRI
S
poxi

EEE5!
FSELY
EFER—REE
TA

BE BRI AR A TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED

MERBIER

Stock Exchange
ESG Reporting
Guide KPI
BEXPTIRIR
HERERRE
2022 {55|BBERIER
B1.1
1,443
1,789
B1.1
878
2,198
156
B1.1
3,176
56
4.7% B1.2
Stock Exchange
ESG Reporting
Guide KPI
BERFTERIR
fHELERWwE
2022 1ES|BEREVIER
8 B2.1
2.5 B2.1
Stock Exchange
ESG Reporting
Guide KPI
BEXPTERIR
HEREAWE
2022 1ESIBERERIER
B3.1
47%
53%
B3.1
4%
12%
84%
B3.2
22
22
B3.2
9
14
24
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Social performance indicators (continued) TTERWERE @

Stock Exchange

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management [BTEBS : {LEFEEIR
ESG Reporting

Guide KPI
B PTIRIE
HERERRE
Performance indicator BERIEE 2022 E5|EREIUER
Number of critical suppliers by BWEE S EEMHERS
geographical region 28
By region min & &5 B5.1
PRC =8 17
Hong Kong oy 7
Taiwan = -
United States = 2
Japan AR 1
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
BIZBETRE

Deloitte.

TO THE MEMBERS OF TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Time Interconnect
Technology Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as the “Group”) set out on pages 90 to 159, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2023, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2023, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs")
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code"), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

BE BRI AR A TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (conTD)
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

R EETRIH

FAEENEER®

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

KM EE NIRRT BIREITRIE

Valuation of right-of-use assets and property, plant and equipment measured at revaluation model

KERGRNGERAREERYE - BERZHEEE

We identified the valuation of right-of-use assets and property, plant
and equipment measured at revaluation model as a key audit matter
due to the inherent level of subjective judgements and complex
estimates required in determining the revalued values.

The Group's leasehold land (included under right-of-use assets) and
buildings (included under property, plant and equipment) located
in the People’s Republic of China (the “Land and Buildings”) are
accounted for using revaluation model. As at 31 March 2023, the
carrying amount of the Group’s Land and Buildings at revaluation
model are HK$284,552,000 (included in right-of-use assets) and
HK$262,459,000 (included under property, plant and equipment)
respectively, which represented approximately 5% and 4% of the
Group's total assets, respectively. The resulting net revaluation gain
of HK$2,434,000, comprising the revaluation gain of HK$9,750,000
arising from property, plant and equipment and revaluation loss of
HK$7,316,000 arising from right-of-use assets, has been credited to
the other comprehensive income and the resulting net revaluation loss
of HK$3,161,000, comprising the revaluation gain of HK$583,000
arising from property, plant and equipment and revaluation loss of
HK$3,744,000, has been debited to the profit and loss for the year
ended 31 March 2023.

As further disclosed in notes 4, 15 and 16 to the consolidated
financial statements, in estimating the fair value of these Land and
Buildings, the Group engaged an independent qualified valuer (the
“Valuer”), to carry out the valuation. The management of the Group
provided information to the Valuer and the Valuer established and
determined the appropriate technique and inputs to the valuation
model. The significant unobservable input of the approach is the
price per square metre of comparable properties. Changes in the
comparable properties adopted may result in a significant increase
or decrease in fair value.
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Our procedures in relation to the management'’s valuation of the
Land and Buildings measured at revaluation model included:

e Evaluating the competence, capability, and objectivity of the
Valuer;

e Obtaining understanding from the Valuer about the valuation
methodology, significant unobservable inputs and data used in
the valuations;

e Assessing the reasonableness of the price per square metre of
comparable properties and information used by the Valuer and
management of the Group in the valuation model, including
adjustment factors for conditions of the properties, in order to
assess the appropriateness of these inputs and comparing the
comparable properties adopted with fair market unit price; and

e Checking the mathematical accuracy of the valuation calculations.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual report, but does not
include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement
and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's
internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue
as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on
the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the
public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent auditor’s report
is Tsang Chi Wai.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

28 June 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FeRakEt2EmliaR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #HE_ZF _=F=A=+—HLEFE

2023 2022
NOTES HK$’'000 HK$'000
(g2 FET T
Revenue e 6 5,764,839 3,590,117
Cost of goods sold EHEREA (5,140,174)  (3,002,020)
Gross profit EF 624,665 588,097
Other income HAt A 7 21,729 5,873
Other gains and losses Hitlas S gsig 8 (16,253) 1,716
(Loss) gain on revaluation of property, plant and M - BERZERGEAREESMH
equipment, and right-of-use assets, net (E518) Wt 7 $%8 15 (3,161) 361
Gain on bargain purchase HEBEWG 32 - 3,201
Impairment losses under expected credit loss ("ECL") B SEREIE AEEEE
on trade receivables (TTEEAEEE1E.) B N2 RESE (3,425) -
Distribution and selling expenses D NREHERX (61,402) (66,043)
Administrative expenses THRX (140,153) (134,459)
Professional fees and costs relating to acquisition of BRNEEENESEANEEER
business and business restructuring PSIDEN - (6,496)
Research and development expenses R (109,939) (121,352)
Finance costs AE A 9 (55,821) (38,043)
Profit before taxation BRFREIR R 10 256,240 232,855
Taxation mE 12 (40,354) (64,582)
Profit for the year FREF 215,886 168,273
Other comprehensive income (expense) Hih 2w ()
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss: RFPEHDERIEES -
Gain (loss) on revaluation of right-of-use assets and FRBEELDE  BEK
property, plant and equipment REEHUE (BB) 2,434 (36,170)
Deferred tax arising from revaluation of right-of-use ERBEENDE  BER
assets and property, plant and equipment REEMEAELERIE (660) 8,497
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to HEAJBEEF D EE R AVER -
profit or loss:
Fair value gain on hedging instruments designated EERRSMEBINEIITE
as cash flow hedge NFEW - 417
Reclassification on hedging instruments to profit or BENAEP TEZRER
loss - (417)
Exchange differences arising on translating foreign EINERERRERHIRNER
operations =8 (109,911) 63,832
Other comprehensive (expense) income for the year HiFA2mE (FxR) B (108,137) 36,159
Total comprehensive income for the year FRDEW AR 107,749 204,432
Profit for the year attributable to: I ALIEAEFERIREF]
Owners of the Company VN/NEIE Z=N 215,140 168,223
Non-controlling interests Pludig 2 746 50
215,886 168,273
Total comprehensive income for the year TIALEAEEANZE W S
attributable to: HErE
Owners of the Company PN/NETEZZ =N 108,254 204,127
Non-controlling interests FEERG R (505) 305
107,749 204,432
Earnings per share BREF 13
- Basic (HK cents) - B (GBI 11.06 9.10
- Diluted (HK cents) - 58 GBI 11.05 9.01

EEBE R4 AR A TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ma MBI R

AT 31 MARCH 2023

R R _=F=R=+—H

2023 2022
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
[{hEz FET FHIT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment WE ~ BE MR 15 880,187 786,902
Right-of-use assets EREEE 16 343,650 383,731
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, plant RENE - BERZEENZS
and equipment 7,744 3,499
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss RATEFAEBRNEREE 17 6,542 6,284
Rental deposits HEZe 2,102 1,690
1,240,225 1,182,106
Current assets MENEE
Inventories =i 18 2,050,559 653,649
Trade and other receivables B 5 K EMERGIE 19 1,541,265 1,090,174
Contract assets BRNEE 20 4,583 29,708
Taxation recoverable AW EIRIE 7,680 450
Pledged bank deposits EEIRITER 21 974,649 5,769
Bank balances and cash RITHEBREED 21 288,003 220,906
4,866,739 2,000,656
Current liabilities mENaE
Trade and other payables E 5 REMENFIE 22 969,786 885,572
Contract liabilities aRaE 23 2,227 4,413
Amounts due to related companies FEN BN RIFNIE 26 508,328 -
Lease liabilities HE&E 24 19,159 10,584
Taxation payable FEBIIE 10,691 14,843
Bank borrowings SRITIER 25 1,295,258 788,147
Loans from related companies REBEATNER 26 1,465,186 -
4,270,635 1,703,559
Net current assets RENEEFE 596,104 297,097
Total assets less current liabilities HEERREERE 1,836,329 1,479,203
Non-current liabilities JERENEE
Lease liabilities HE&RE 24 49,721 48,251
Bank borrowings SRITIER 25 52,812 274,016
Loans from related companies REBEATNER 26 498,998 -
Deferred tax liabilities ERERIESE 27 90,728 93,491
692,259 415,758
Net assets BEFE 1,144,070 1,063,445
Capital and reserves BARE f#i%
Share capital B&A 28 19,460 19,460
Reserves & 1,112,892 1,031,714
Equity attributable to owners of the Company RATHEE AELRER 1,132,352 1,051,174
Non-controlling interests ElSliiy- i 11,718 12,271
Total equity iR 1,144,070 1,063,445

The consolidated financial statements on pages 90 to 159 were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 June 2023 and are signed on

its behalf by:

Cua Tin Yin Simon

LEPNA

Executive Director

BITEE

Wong Chi Kuen

HGHE

Executive Director

BITEE

FIER19BNGEMFRACEEFEN T _=
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

e sgEHR
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #HZE_F_=F#=A=+—HILFE
Attributable to owners of the Company
KDFHE AL
PRC Property Share Non-
Share  Share statutory  Special  Capital Hedging revaluation options Translation ~Accumulated controlling  Total
capital premium reserves reserves  reserve  reserve  feserve  reserve  feserve profits ~ Total interests  equity
L5 LS
BE BREE SRRE RURE ZABE MMM EGGE BRERE ERRE 0 B & JORER  4ER
HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
Tar TEr TR e TEr TEr TR TR TEx Tan  TEr TR TEx
(Notea) ~ (Noteb)  (Noteq)
() (WD) (W)
At 1 April 202 R-E-"EmA-A 19460 323485 62076 (642.504) 37,939 - AT 2817 149,097 884,066 1,051,174 12211 1,063,445
Profit for the year ERER - - - - - - - - - 25,140 215,140 746 215,886
Gain (loss)on revaluation of rightof- ~ FREEERYE « HE
use assets and property, plantand - RN (B58)
equipment - - - - - - 2,658 - - - 1658 (29 2834
Deferred tax arising from revaluation ~ (FEEEERNE » BiR
of rightof-use assets and property,  REREERLELHEL
olant and equipment i - - - - - - (716) - - - (116) 56 (660)
Fuchange differences arising on BISBELRERLR
translating foreign operations MEREE - - - - - - - - (108828) - (108828)  (1,083) (109.911)
Total comprehensive (expense) income A2 (53 i 48
for the year - - - - - - 1,942 - (108828) 215,140 108,254 (505) 107,749
Transfer £ - - B9 - - - - - - (23,298) - - -
Dividends declared (note 14) EERRS (it 1d) - - - - - - - - - (29190)  (29,190) - (2919
Change of interestinasubsidiary ~~ —-EKBAFAER
28 - - - @) - - - - - - (] (43) (%0)
Recogniton of equity<etled share- ~ REREENRARER
based payment (note 29) ffsEh ReaR (Hs29) - - - - - - - 1% - - 1% - 15
Cancellation of share options (note 29) 5+ $4%EREE (fF29) - - - - - - - (9n) - 4913 - - -
A3 March 2023 e
=+-H 19460 323485 85374  (642,546) 37,939 - 216,680 - 40,269 1,051,691 1,132,352 1,718 1,144,070
At 1 April 2021 R_3_-%mA-H 18404 272137 35616 (642546) 37,939 - 409 14,644 858712 788349 852474 11927 864,401
Profitfor the year ERE - - - - - - - - - 168223 168223 50 168,273
Losson revaluation of right-ofuse ~ BEBEERNE  BE
assets and property, plant and REEERESE
equipment - - - - - - (35699 - - - (35699 (@ 36170
Deferred tax arising from revaluation ~ FEEEERNE + BiE
of ight-ofuse assets and property,  RRBE(EELHER
plant and equipment il - - - - - - 8378 - - - 83 19 8497
Fair value gain on hedging instuments B4R EX I
desiqnated a5 cash flow hedge HRIEATENS - - - - - 47 - - - - 47 - a7
Reclasifcation on hedging instruments - B3840 T BZi8%
to profit or loss - - - - - (#17) - - - - #17) - (@17)
Fxchange differences arising on BAFHERARRLR
translating foreign operations MERER - - - - - - - - B - 83205 607 63832
Total comprehensive (expense) income A2 (R 48
for the year - - - - - - (21321) - 63,25 168,223 204,127 305 204432
Transfer 2% - - 26460 - - - - - - (26,460) - - -
Divdends declared (note 14) EEIRS () - - - - - - - - - (d6,046)  (46,046) - (4604)
Change of interestinasubsidiary ~~ FA—~EHBATAER
28 - - - £ - - - - - - Iy 3 81
Recogniton of equitysetled share- ~ REREENRARER
based payment g - - - - - - - 433 - -3 - 433
Brercise of share options TEERE 10% 51348 - - - - - (16160 - - 364 - 36242
At31 March 2022 ]
=t-f 19460 323485 62076  (642504) 37939 - 2478 2817 149,097 884,066 1,051,174 12211 1,063,445

EEBE R4 AR A TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (conT'D)
FEERETHR (w)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #HZE_Z _=F=FA=+—HLEE

Notes:

(a)

()

The People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") statutory reserves are non-distributable and the
transfer to these reserves are determined according to the relevant laws in the PRC and by
the board of directors of the PRC subsidiaries in accordance with the articles of association
of these subsidiaries. They can be used to make up for previous years' losses or convert into
additional capital of the PRC subsidiaries of the Company.

The special reserves represent

(i) the amounts arising from group reorganisation in 2017 and 2020 by using merger
accounting and

(i) the effects of changes in ownership in certain subsidiaries when there is no change in
control.

The amounts represent (i) deemed capital contribution arising from waiver of current
accounts by the group companies in prior years, (ii) deemed capital contribution arising
from the cash reimbursed for partial listing expenses by the then ultimate holding company
upon public offer and placing.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FEHEERER
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #HZE_ZF _=F=A=+—HLEFE

2023 2022
NOTE HK$’'000 HK$'000
BT FET FHET
Operating activities ETEED
Profit before taxation FREL B A 256,240 232,855
Adjustments for: T HIE/EREE
Interest income FBUA (11,907) (776)
Interest expense MEFZ 55,821 38,460
Impairment losses under ECL on trade receivables B HRENHIE TBREERE
BT REEE 3,425 -
Gain on change in fair value of derivative TESR T AN EEEIEGR
financial instrument - 417)
Gain on change in fair value of financial assets at BATEST A BRNSREEN
fair value through profit or loss NTESEUWER (229) (218)
Loss (gain) on revaluation of property, plant and M ~ BEEREREAEEE
equipment and right-of-use assets, net B (W) F58 3,161 (361)
Loss (gain) on disposal of property, plant and HEVE  MEIEENESR
equipment (Wt ) 7,737 (933)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment W ~ R NMREITE 68,695 55,897
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEETE 23,300 17,892
Write-down of inventories &R 26,978 4,929
Equity-settled share-based payments RS EELIG D RHEEIE 2,156 4,335
Gain on bargain purchase HEBEWGS - (3,201)
Operating cash flows before movements in working LESSEHFINIKERENE
capital 435,377 348,462
Increase in inventories FEEM (1,474,380) (127,820)
Increase in trade and other receivables and rental B o NREMBUGRIBULEELR S
deposits #m (503,622) (174,432)
Decrease (increase) in contract assets BREERD (EM) 25,125 (26,848)
Increase in trade and other payables B2 REMENFIEEM 126,128 243,939
Decrease in contract liabilities ERE’ERD (2,069) (769)
Cash generated from operations REELNIRS (1,393,441) 262,532
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid ENEBERER (25,719) (20,195)
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid ENPEREZERTER (28,832) (11,108)
Withholding tax in the PRC paid ETRBETER - (20,382)
Net cash (used in) from operating activities RETERD (FTFE) EANIRESFER (1,447,992) 210,847
Investing activities WERE)
Placement of pledged bank deposits BHEERBITER (2,137,404) (30,586)
Release of pledged bank deposits PERREIEMIRITER 25,733 32,198
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BB ~ RENEE (205,759) (56,526)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and RELEDE ~ BENZBEWFTE
equipment ENE 2,542 1,872
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, plant and PUBYZE ~ BB LRBENZRS
equipment (7,703) (2,827)
Interest received A E 11,863 733
Acquisition of business IS ZE TS 32 - (55,823)
Net cash used in investing activities WERE RN IR S F5E (2,310,728) (110,959)

EEBE R4 AR A TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (contD)

=] e -~ —8 -
FEHERER @
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #HZ _=F_

SE=A=+—ALEE

2023 2022
NOTE HK$'000 HK$'000
BT FET T
Financing activities RERED
Loans raised from related companies REBFEARELENER 3,749,630 -
Repayment of loans from related companies EERRBEEATNER (1,785,613) -
Advance from related companies 2R B [RIBEE A B B FRIE 508,942 -
Bank borrowings raised EEERITER 2,576,006 1,186,587
Repayment of bank borrowings ERBITER (1,121,105)  (1,152,103)
Interest paid BT A (53,889) (38,460)
Dividends paid BENKRE (29,190) (46,046)
Payment of lease liabilities YNHEESE (10,426) (9,491)
(Payment for) proceeds from change of interest in a (Z—TEMNB AR EREEN
subsidiary F}IE) —RME AR R
RT3 5/38 (90) 81
Net settlement of interest rate swap FE 2 A E SRR - 417
Repayment to related companies EETEEARMNKIE 32 - (22,344)
Proceeds from exercise of share options TR EBIRERTSEIR - 36,242
Net cash generated from (used in) financing activities —~ BIESEBIFTEAL (FTHE) NS T4 3,834,265 (45,117)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents RENIRSEEYRFEM 75,545 54,771
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year FENIRSNRESSEY 220,906 156,483
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes PEXEBNTE (8,448) 9,652
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year FRRENIREESEY 288,003 220,906
Analysis of balances of cash and cash equivalents: RENRSEEBDEHRIN
Bank balances and cash SRITRERR RS 288,003 220,906
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Time Interconnect Technology Limited (the “Company”) is a limited company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “HK Stock Exchange”). The
addresses of the registered office and the principal place of business of the
Company are disclosed in the “Corporate Information” section of the annual
report.

Prior to 16 March 2022, the immediate holding company of the Company
was Time Interconnect Holdings Limited which was incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands (“BVI”). The ultimate holding company was Linkz Industries
Limited (“Linkz Industries”), which was incorporated in Hong Kong. Its
ultimate controlling shareholder was Mr. Lo Chung Wai Paul (“Mr. Paul Lo"),
who was also a former non-executive director of the Company. On 16 March
2022, Luxshare Precision Limited completed the acquisition of 1,380,000,000
issued share capital of the Company, representing approximately 72% of total
issued share capital of the Company. Details of the transaction are set out in
the Company’s announcement dated 16 March 2022. The immediate holding
company of the Company is then changed to Luxshare Precision Limited.
The Company’s intermediate holding company is then changed to Luxshare
Precision Industry Co., Ltd. (“Luxshare”), a company incorporated in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") with its shares listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the ultimate
controlling shareholder of Luxshare and the Company is Luxshare Limited, a
company incorporated in Hong Kong.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal activities of
its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 35.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
("HK$") while the functional currency of the Company is United States dollars
("USD"). The reason for selecting HK$ as the Company’s presentation currency
is that the directors of the Company (“Directors”) consider that it is more
relevant to the users of the consolidated financial statements as the Company
listed its shares on the HK Stock Exchange.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current
year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRSs
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA™)
for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual period
beginning on 1 April 2022 for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds
before Intended Use

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018 —
2020

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRSs

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group's financial positions and performance for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.

EEBE R4 AR A TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (contp)
=& BRI ()

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 &Z S _=F=A=1+—HLIFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2. EREEMERELER (TEEMBRELD )18

REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Company has not early applied the following new and amendments to
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17 (including the October Insurance Contracts’
2020 and February 2022
Amendments to HKFRS 17)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture?

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback?

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)°

Amendments to HKAS 1

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants?
Disclosure of Accounting Policies’

Amendments to HKAS 1
Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8
Amendments to HKAS 12

Definition of Accounting Estimates'
Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction'

' Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

Except for the amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below, the directors of the
Company anticipate that the application of all other new and amendments
to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the financial statements in the
foreseeable future.

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current” and related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(2020) (the “2020 Amendments”) and Amendments to HKAS 1 “Non-
current Liabilities with Covenants” (the “2022 Amendments”)

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and additional guidance on
the assessment of right to defer settlement for at least twelve months from
reporting date for classification of liabilities as current or non-current, which:

e clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the option of the
counterparty, result in its settlement by the transfer of the entity’s own
equity instruments, these terms do not affect its classification as current or
non-current only if the entity recognises the option separately as an equity
instrument applying HKAS 32 “Financial Instruments: Presentation”.

e specify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-current should
be based on rights that are in existence at the end of the reporting period.
Specifically, the amendments clarify that the classification should not be
affected by management intentions or expectations to settle the liability
within 12 months.

In addition, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 was revised as a consequence of the
Amendments to HKAS1 to align the corresponding workings with no change
in conclusion.

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve months from reporting date
which are conditional on the compliance with covenants, the requirements
introduced by the 2020 Amendments have been modified by the 2022
Amendments. The 2022 Amendments specify that only covenants with which
an entity is required to comply with on or before the end of the reporting
period affect the entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability for at least twelve
months after the reporting date. Covenants which are required to comply with
only after the reporting period do not affect whether that right exists at the end
of the reporting period.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current” and related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(2020) (the “2020 Amendments”) and Amendments to HKAS 1 “Non-
current Liabilities with Covenants” (the “2022 Amendments”) (continued)

In addition, the 2022 Amendments specify the disclosure requirements about
information that enables users of financial statements to understand the risk
that the liabilities could become repayable within twelve months after the
reporting period, if the entity classify liabilities arising from loan arrangements
as non-current when the entity’s right to defer settlement of those liabilities is
subject to the entity complying with covenants within twelve months after the
reporting period.

The 2022 Amendments also defer the effective date of applying the 2020
Amendments to the Group's annual reporting period beginning on 1 April
2024. The 2022 Amendments, together with the 2020 Amendments, are
effective for the Group’s annual reporting period beginning on 1 April 2024,
with early application permitted. If an entity applies the 2020 Amendments for
an earlier period after the issue of the 2022 Amendments, the entity should also
apply the 2022 Amendments for that period.

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at 31 March 2023, the
application of the 2020 Amendments and 2022 Amendments will not result in
reclassification of the Group’s liabilities.

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Presentation to Financial Statements” and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “Disclosure of Accounting Policies”

HKAS 1 is amended to replace all instances of the term “significant accounting
policies” with “material accounting policy information”. Accounting policy
information is material if, when considered together with other information
included in an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be expected
to influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial
statements make on the basis of those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information may be
material because of the nature of the related transactions, other events or
conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial. However, not all accounting
policy information relating to material transactions, other events or conditions
is itself material. If an entity chooses to disclose immaterial accounting policy
information, such information must not obscure material accounting policy
information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “Making Materiality Judgements” (the “Practice
Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how an entity applies the “four-step
materiality process” to accounting policy disclosures and to judge whether
information about an accounting policy is material to its financial statements.
Guidance and examples are added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have significant impact
on the financial position or performance of the Group but may affect the
disclosures of the Group’s significant accounting policies. The impacts of
application, if any, will be disclosed in the Group’s future financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 8 “Definition of Accounting Estimates”

The amendments define accounting estimates as “monetary amounts in financial
statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty”. An accounting policy
may require items in financial statements to be measured in a way that involves
measurement uncertainty — that is, the accounting policy may require such
items to be measured at monetary amounts that cannot be observed directly
and must instead be estimated. In such a case, an entity develops an accounting
estimate to achieve the objective set out by the accounting policy. Developing
accounting estimates involves the use of judgements or assumptions based on
the latest available, reliable information.

E BRI AR A TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conT)
R e B WRMEE (o)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 &ZE_ZS_=F=A=1+—HILEE

FEREEMFENREER ("HEMFRELERL) &
HENC))

EEME MR ERHET RISIEETE B RS
28 (@)
EABTSERFE1IEET A B E S BR8N
FERE, URBEEZREESHE(CE_FE) 2
BIEET ((ZEZFF(E5T4K,) REES5EE
BSEIEET AN T 22 mEEE, (T =&
ZHEEETARL )
ﬁt% T THEBEARIE  BRERNNIE
BREATVFEREAEAEYBMHERBEERR
ﬁFFEE@:%EﬁiEﬁs#miﬂ MEBEEHEEZ
FEEMNEAIGRTEBNRENE T _BERRE
BETEAENERT @ R8ETRSFEHRE+Z
BAREERNRR -

R FEIIANER S _SEEBITAN
ERAPEEAEE "= MFNA—HBRFRKRH
FEREHE - S TFBITARERSZE
FEEANASE S _MENS — ARANE
EREHEER > WAFREER - HERET
Bm_F__FEIARNEHER ST _F
%§$ SRR EEER S e
BIA ©

REAEBNR _S_=F=R=+—HZKEE
&E  BR_F_SFEIAR_F_"FEF]
FEREERAEE CAEFTENIM -

EEBERIZE 5 FIHRRAIZ ], R E BRI
IR R BB E25E TE ST BRI 55T
ERGRTER B 1RKE TL,UE# FTBURERL
BT EZ ST BER, —ANMBER - HER
BERVERERANEMEN—HEE - JLUSETE
M BREN S EBRMBRRNIRER
ERBZSMBRRAEHARTE - AISSEER
BEHBEX -

ZFEETATEE - BMES KPR ARER
BERBERZME - AMFERSIER » &5
BRERDABER - AT > WIFATAEERER
X5 ~ Kt ERIEN BN BRERNAS
BBERN - HEREENEFFENSTRRE
B BREENANSEEERSTTHRER -

BRVHREEUNBHBRAE2S (ERERMH

i (TEBRERR ) MEIEET - LIS BE RS

r@ﬂﬁfuﬂﬁéﬁ MR F’éﬁﬁﬁ\ﬂ'ﬂzﬁﬁ}&g&
HEE E ST RN ERN WA BHRERE

R - BEZRRERINEERRAE

ERZEE] ARP RS HAEE MBIk
REAERTE  EBARYEASEIESHIK
F2WEE - AREBRANEE (A KRAEE
HErHHERBPTLUKEE

BB S ERIEHEFT A "EAHES Z TR
ZEBITAEESH AT AR IRBHEBRE
FENGBRERCEESE, - B BRTER
IEAT‘TE/T\HHEHI?E’JEH%%&%E’\JEE?Eﬁ.ﬁg
MES BRI R EMIRE RSB ENBRIR
ETTE&EE??W/E?LMS‘T RUEERT

BRERRESAUZED S JrIBZﬁﬁ‘WUE’JE
1R« MR GEHET MIRBEA 5 SENER

TEHRIA BT RR RR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (contD)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 &Z S _=F=A=1+—HLIFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 8 “Definition of Accounting Estimates” (continued)

In addition, the concept of changes in accounting estimates in HKAS 8 is

retained with additional clarifications.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have significant impact

on the Group's consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12 “Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction”

The amendments narrow the scope of the recognition exemption of deferred tax
liabilities and deferred tax assets in paragraphs 15 and 24 of HKAS 12 “Income
Taxes” so that it no longer applies to transactions that, on initial recognition,

give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences.

As disclosed in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, for leasing
transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable to the lease liabilities,
the Group applies HKAS 12 requirements to the relevant assets and liabilities
as a whole. Temporary differences relating to relevant assets and liabilities are

assessed on a net basis.

Upon the application of the amendments, the Group will recognise a deferred tax
asset (to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary difference can be utilised) and a deferred tax
liability for all deductible and taxable temporary differences associated with the

right-of-use assets and the lease liabilities.

The amendments are effective for the Group’s annual reporting period
beginning on 1 April 2023. As at 31 March 2023, the carrying amounts of
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities which are subject to the amendments
amounted to HK$52,595,000 and HK$61,637,000 respectively. The application
of the amendments is not expected to have significant impact on the financial

position or performance of the Group.

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements
Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, information is considered material if such
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions made by primary
users. In addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
HK Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies

Ordinance.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments and leasehold
land and buildings, which are measured at fair values and revalued amounts,
at the end of the reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies

set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given

in exchange for goods and services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (contD)

= B B EmRMEE (m)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #HZE_F_=F=H=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements (continued)

Basis of preparation (continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly
observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if the market participants would take
those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes
in the consolidated financial statements is determined on such basis, except
for share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS
2 "Share-based Payment”, leasing transactions that are within the scope
of HKFRS 16 “Leases”, and measurements that have some similarities to
fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2

“Inventories” or value in use in HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a
market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset
in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that

would use the asset in its highest and best use.

For leasehold land and building measured at revalued amounts, which are
transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs
are to be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation
technique is calibrated so that at initial recognition the results of the

valuation technique equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are
categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs
to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as

follows:

e level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the

measurement date;

e Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within
Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or

indirectly; and

e Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

3.2 Significant accounting policies
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements
of the Company and entities controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries.

Control is achieved when the Company:

e has power over the investee;

e s exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with

the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three

elements of control listed above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (contD)

= B M EmRMEE (|

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 &ZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—

=FE=A=+—ALFE

AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cOnNTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over
the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary.
Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control

until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-

controlling interests having a deficit ba

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the Group's

accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between the members the Group are eliminated in

full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately from
the Group's equity therein, which represent present ownership interests
entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the relevant

subsidiaries upon liquidation.

lance.

Changes in the Group'’s interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the
Group losing control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity
transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group's relevant components
of equity and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the
changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries, including re-attribution
of relevant reserves between the Group and the non- controlling interests
according to the Group’s and the non-controlling interests’ proportionate

interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests
are adjusted, and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is

recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

Business combinations

A business is an integrated set of activities and assets which includes an
input and a substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs. The acquired processes are considered substantive
if they are critical to the ability to continue producing outputs, including an
organised workforce with the necessary skills, knowledge, or experience to
perform the related processes or they significantly contribute to the ability
to continue producing outputs and are considered unique or scarce or
cannot be replaced without significant cost, effort, or delay in the ability to

continue producing outputs.

Acquisitions of businesses, other than business combination under common
control, are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration
transferred in a business combination is measured at fair value, which
is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally

recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Business combinations (continued)

For business combinations in which the acquisition date is on or after 1 April
2022, the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed must meet
the definitions of an asset and a liability in the “Conceptual Framework
for Financial Reporting 2018" issued in June 2018 (the “Conceptual
Framework") except for transactions and events within the scope of HKAS
37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21, in which the Group applies HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-
Int 21 instead of the Conceptual Framework to identify the liabilities it has
assumed in a business combination. Contingent assets are not recognised.

For business combinations in which the acquisition date is on or before
1 April 2022, except for certain recognition exemptions, the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed must meet the definitions of an asset
and a liability in the “Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of
Financial Statements (replaced by the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting issued in October 2010)".

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

e deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities related to
employee benefit arrangements are recognised and measured
in accordance with HKAS 12 and HKAS 19 “Employee Benefits”
respectively; and

e lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the present value of the
remaining lease payments (as defined in HKFRS 16) as if the acquired
leases were new leases at the acquisition date. Right-of-use assets are
recognised and measured at the same amount as the relevant lease
liabilities, adjusted to reflect favourable or unfavourable terms of the
lease when compared with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non- controlling interests in the acquiree,
and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree (if any) over the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment,
the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’'s
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle
their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant subsidiary’s net assets
in the event of liquidation are initially measured at the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets or at fair value. The choice of measurement basis is
made on a transaction-by-transaction basis.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cOnNTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation
is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle of
goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or services that
are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

e the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group’s performance as the Group performs;

e the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the Group performs; or

e the Group's performance does not create an asset with an alternative
use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration in exchange
for goods or services that the Group has transferred to a customer that
is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance with
HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group's unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time
is required before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer goods or
services to a customer for which the Group has received consideration (or
an amount of consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same contract are
accounted for and presented on a net basis.

A point in time revenue recognition

The revenue of the Group is recognised at a point in time except for revenue
from certain sales, which are recognised over time. Under the transfer-of-
control approach in HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”,
revenue from certain sales of goods to the Group’s customers in connection
with the production of cable assembly, digital cable and server products are
recognised when the goods are physically passed to the customers, which is
the point in time when the customer has the ability to direct the use of the
goods and obtain substantially all of the remaining benefits of the goods
upon customer acceptance.

Over time revenue recognition

For certain sales of goods of the Group’s customers in connection with
the production of cable assembly products, revenue is recognised overtime
when the performance does not create an asset with an alternative use
to the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date based on contract terms.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation is
measured based on input method, which is to recognise revenue on the
basis of the Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of a performance
obligation relative to the total expected inputs to the satisfaction of that
performance obligation, that best depict the Group’s performance in
transferring control of goods or services.

Variable consideration

For contracts that contain variable consideration, the Group estimates the
amount of consideration to which it will be entitled using the expected
value method, which better predicts the amount of consideration to which
the Group will be entitled.

The estimated amount of variable consideration is included in the
transaction price only to the extent that it is highly probable that such an
inclusion will not result in a significant revenue reversal in the future when
the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is subsequently
resolved.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group updates the estimated
transaction price (including updating its assessment of whether an
estimate of variable consideration is constrained) to represent faithfully the
circumstances present at the end of the reporting period and the changes
in circumstances during the reporting period.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services to a customer,
the Group determines whether the nature of its promise is a performance
obligation to provide the specified goods or services itself (i.e. the Group is
a principal) or to arrange for those goods or services to be provided by the
other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or service before
that good or service is transferred to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to arrange for the
provision of the specified good or service by another party. In this case, the
Group does not control the specified good or service provided by another
party before that good or service is transferred to the customer. When the
Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount of any fee or
commission to which it expects to be entitled in exchange for arranging for
the specified goods or services to be provided by the other party.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the respective functional
currency (i.e. the currency of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates
of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at
that date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on
the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations are translated into
the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses
items are translated at the average exchange rates for the year. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity under the heading of translation reserve
(attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (contD)

= B M EmRMEE (|

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 &Z S _=F=A=1+—HLIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cOnNTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take
a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are added to the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are

substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in

which they are incurred.

Retirement benefits costs

Payments to government-managed retirement benefits schemes and the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are recognised as an expense when

employees have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted amount
of the benefits expected to be paid as and when employees rendered the
services. All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an expense
unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the

cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as wages

and salaries) after deducting any amount already paid.

Share-based payment arrangements
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others providing
similar services are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments at
the date of grant. Details regarding the determination of the fair value of

equity-settled share-based transactions are set out in note 29.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments determined at
the date of grant without taking into consideration all non-market vesting
conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will eventually
vest, with a corresponding increase in equity (share options reserve). At the
end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the number
of equity instruments expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant
non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative
expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to

the share options reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in
share options reserve will be transferred to share premium. When the share
options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the
expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share options reserve will

be transferred to accumulated profits.

Cancellation or settlement of share options

When the Group cancelled or settled share options, the cancellation or
settlement of the share options is accounted for as an acceleration of
vesting. The amount that would otherwise have been recognised for
services received over the remainder of the vesting period is, therefore,
recognised immediately.  Any payment made to the employee on
cancellation or settlement of vested share options exceeds the fair value of
the share option granted at the payment date is recognised as an expense.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (contD)

= B B EmRMEE (m)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #HZE_F_=F=H=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and

deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable
profit differs from profit before taxation because it excludes items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it
further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted

or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements
and the corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can
be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition of other assets and liabilities
in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting

profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, except where the Group is able
to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with
such investments are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits
of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the

foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each
reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to

be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or

substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying

amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions in which
the Group recognises the right-of-use assets and the related lease liabilities,
the Group first determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to

the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable to the
lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 requirements to the leasing
transaction as a whole. Temporary differences relating to right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities are assessed on a net basis. Excess of depreciation on
right-of-use assets over the lease payments for the principal portion of lease

liabilities results in net deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities
and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by

the same taxation authority.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (contD)

= B M EmRMEE (|

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 &ZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—

=FE=A=+—ALFE

AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cOnNTINUED)

3. HREHMBHRRENELERIESTHER ®

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Taxation (continued)

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when
they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held for use in
the production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative purposes
other than construction in progress as described below. Property, plant and
equipment are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at
cost or fair value less subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Construction in progress represents a building under construction, which
is stated at cost less any impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost
comprises the direct costs of construction. Construction in progress is
reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment
when completed and ready for use.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of properties
which includes both leasehold land and building elements, the entire
consideration is allocated between the leasehold land and the building
elements in proportion to the relative fair values at initial recognition. To the
extent the allocation of the relevant payments can be made reliably, interest
in leasehold land is presented as “right-of-use assets” in the consolidated
statement of financial position. When the consideration cannot be allocated
reliably between non-lease building element and undivided interest in the
underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are classified as property,
plant and equipment.

Buildings held for use in the production or supply of goods or services,
or for administrative purpose, are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at fair value at the date of the revaluation less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.
Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity such that the carrying
amount does not differ materially from that which would be determined
using fair values at the end of the reporting period.

Any revaluation increase arising from revaluation of property, plant and
equipment is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in property revaluation reserve, except to the extent that it reverses a
revaluation decrease of the same asset previously recognise in profit or loss,
in which case the increase is credited to profit or loss to the extent of the
decrease previously charged. A decrease in net carrying amount arising on
revaluation of property, plant and equipment is recognised in profit or loss
to the extent that it exceeds the balance, if any, on the property revaluation
reserve relating to a previous revaluation of that asset. On the subsequent
sale or retirement of a revalued asset, the attributable revaluation surplus is
transferred to accumulated profits.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets
other than properties under construction less their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method or reducing balance
method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of
any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or
when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued
use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of
an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (contD)

= B B EmRMEE (m)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #HZE_F_=F=H=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for

consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of initial
application of HKFRS 16 or arising from business combinations, the Group
assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the definition
under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and

conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the consideration in the
contract to each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone
price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the
non-lease components. Non-lease components are separated from lease
component and are accounted for by applying other applicable standards.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to leases of
staff quarters and office premises that have a lease term of 12 months or
less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option.
Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised as expense on a

straight-line basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

e the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

e any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less

any lease incentives received,;

e any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

e an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling and
removing the underlying assets, restoring the site on which it is located
or restoring the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease, unless those costs are incurred to produce

inventories.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost except for leasehold land
which is measured under revaluation model as described below, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any

remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Any revaluation increase arising from revaluation of right-of-use asset is
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in property
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revaluation reserve, except to the extent that it reverses a revaluation
decrease of the same asset previously recognise in profit or loss, in which
case the increase is credited to profit or loss to the extent of the decrease
previously charged. A decrease in net carrying amount arising on revaluation
of right-of-use asset is recognised in profit or loss to the extent that it
exceeds the balance, if any, on the property revaluation reserve relating to
a previous revaluation of that asset. On the subsequent sale or retirement
of a revalued asset, the attributable revaluation surplus is transferred to
accumulated profits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (contD)

= B M EmRMEE (|

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 &Z S _=F=A=1+—HLIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cOnNTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
Right-of-use assets (continued)

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter

of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item on the

consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9 and initially
measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and included in the cost of right-

of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and measures
the lease liability at the present value of lease payments that are unpaid at
that date. In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group
uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed

payments) less any lease incentives receivable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest

accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use assets) whenever the lease term
has changed in which case the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using a raised discount rate at the

date of reassessment.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the consolidated

statement of financial position.

Lease modifications
The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

e the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the right to

use one or more underlying assets; and

e the consideration for the leases increases by an amount commensurate
with the stand-alone price for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of

the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease, the
Group remeasures the lease liability, less any lease incentives receivable,
based on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the

modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by making
corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use asset. When the
modified contract contains a lease component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the consideration in
the modified contract to each lease component on the basis of the relative
stand-alone price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone

price of the non-lease components.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (contD)

= B B EmRMEE (m)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #HZE_F_=F=H=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance
that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to them and that

the grants will be received.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable.

Such grants are presented under “other income”.

Research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period

in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development activities
(or from the development phase of an internal project) is recognised if, and

only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:

e the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will

be available for use or sale;
e the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;

e the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

e how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic

benefits;

e the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to
complete the development and to use or sell the intangible asset; and

e the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the

intangible asset during its development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible asset is
the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date when the intangible
asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above. Where no internally-
generated intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure is

recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible assets
are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses (if any), on the same basis as intangible assets that are

acquired separately.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and right-of-use

assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets to
determine whether there is any indication that these assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the

impairment loss (if any).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (contD)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 &ZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—
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AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cOnNTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets (continued)

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets are estimated individually. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate assets are
allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group of cash generating units for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be established. The
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit or group
of cash-generating units to which the corporate asset belongs, and is
compared with the carrying amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or
group of cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated
on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group
compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-generating units, including
the carrying amounts of the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
allocated to that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable
amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating the impairment
loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of cash-
generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the
highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use
(if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other
assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating units. An impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is
carried at a revalued amount under another standard, in which case the
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease under that standard.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of
the asset (or cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units) in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount under another
standard, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a
revaluation increase under that standard.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (contD)

= B B EmRMEE (m)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #HZE_F_=F=H=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is
calculated using the first-in, first-out method for cable assembly and digital
cable segment and weighted average method for server segment. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all

estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

Costs necessary to make the sale include incremental costs directly
attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs which the Group must

incur to make the sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. All regular
way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame

established by regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value
except for trade receivables arising from contracts with customers which
are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair
value though profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from the
fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on
initial recognition. Translation costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately

in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost
of a financial asset or financial liability and of allocating interest income and
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part
of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset or financial
liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount

on initial recognition.

Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently

measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to

collect contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount

outstanding.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cOnNTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (continued)
All other financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL").

(i) Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for
financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost. Interest
income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-
impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is no
longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following the determination
that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

(i) Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at
amortised cost are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (contp)
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reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses recognised in profit
or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any
interest earned on the financial asset and is included in the “other gains

and losses” line item.

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model on financial
assets which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9 (including trade
and other receivables, rental deposits, pledged bank deposits and bank
balances) and other item (contract assets) which are subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting

date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default
events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In contrast,
12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date. Assessments are done based on the Group's
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to
the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of future

conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables, trade
receivables from the then fellow subsidiaries, trade receivables from
related companies and contract assets. The ECL on these assets is assessed

individually.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal to
12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL.
The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since

initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (contD)

= B B EmRMEE (m)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #HZE_F_=F=H=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk
In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk
of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;

e significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk,
e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit default
swap prices for the debtor;

e existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor; and

e an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory,
economic, or technological environment of the debtor that results
in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to
identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk and
revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes
past due.

(i) Definition of default
For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event of
default occurs when information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full.

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has occurred
when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a
more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (contp)
=& BRI ()

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 &Z S _=F=A=1+—HLIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cOnNTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)
(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

(iv

=

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events of default
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower,;
(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons
relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider; or

(d) itis becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or

other financial reorganisation.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and
there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the
amounts are over one year past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial
assets written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default, loss
given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of default
and loss given default is based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-
weighted amount that is determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash flows
that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset unless the financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised cost of the financial
asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for
all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of trade receivables, trade receivables from the then fellow
subsidiaries, trade receivables from related companies and contract
assets where the corresponding adjustment is recognised through a
loss allowance account.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as
equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements
and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in
the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments
issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, bank borrowings,
amounts due to related companies and loans from related companies
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights
to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset
to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset at amortised cost, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the
Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date when derivative
contracts are entered into and are subsequently remeasured to their fair
value at the end of the reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss unless the derivative is designated and effective
as a hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the recognition in
profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge relationship.

Offsetting a financial asset and a financial liability

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset and the net amount
presented in the consolidated statement of financial position when, and
only when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the
recognised amounts; and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (contp)
=& BRI ()

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 &Z S _=F=A=1+—HLIFE

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY AND CRITICAL 4. (EEtAEREAEZZ T E R R RS e ot

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described
in note 3, the directors of the Company are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis.
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the
estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Critical judgement in applying accounting policies

The following is the critical judgement, apart from those involving estimations
(see below), that the directors have made in the process of applying the Group'’s
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

Deferred tax in respect of temporary differences attributable to the
undistributed profits of subsidiaries in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC")

During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, no deferred tax has been
provided for the undistributed profits in the PRC subsidiaries amounting to
HK$465,206,000 (2022: HK$295,059,000) as the Group is in a position to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable
that such differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Principal versus agent consideration (agent)

The Group is considered as an agent for its contracts with customers relating
to the reselling of certain server-related products as the Group, taking into
consideration indicators such as the Group does not has the discretion in setting
the price. When the Group satisfies the performance obligation, the Group
recognises a commission revenue in the amount it expects to be entitled as
specified in the contracts, which is fixed as a percentage of the gross amount of
consideration as specified in the contracts.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group recognised commission income
from resales of the server-related components amounted to HK$28,620,000
(2022: Nil).

Principal versus agent consideration (principal)

The Group engages in manufacturing and sales of server. The Group concluded
that the Group acts as the principal for such transactions as it controls the
specified good before it is transferred to the customer after taking into
consideration indicators such as the Group is primarily responsible for fulfilling
the promise to provide the goods and the Group has inventory risk. When
the Group satisfies the performance obligation, the Group recognises trading
revenue in the gross amount of consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled as specified in the contracts.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group recognised revenue relating
to manufacturing and sales of server amounted to HK$2,499,162,000 (2022:
Nil).

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumption concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, is described below.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY AND CRITICAL
ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Valuation of right-of-use assets and property, plant and equipment
measured at revaluation model

The Group’s leasehold land included under right-of-use assets and buildings
included under property, plant and equipment (the “Land and Buildings”) are
accounted for using revaluation model at the end of the reporting period.

The management of the Group works closely with the independent firm of
qualified professional property valuer to establish and determine the appropriate
valuation techniques and key inputs for fair value measurements. Where there is
a material change in the fair value of the assets, the causes of the fluctuations
will be reported to the management of the Group. Information about the
valuation techniques and key inputs used in determining the fair value of the
Group's Land and Buildings is disclosed in note 15.

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

The management of the Group estimates the amount of lifetime ECL of trade
receivables based on individual assessment, after considering the financial
background and the historical settlement records, including the past due dates
and default rates of each trade receivable. Estimated loss rates are based on
historical observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors and are
adjusted for forward-looking information. At every reporting date, the default
rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information are
considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The information about
the ECL and the Group's trade receivables is disclosed in note 37.

As at 31 March 2023, the carrying amount of trade receivables is
HK$1,247,344,000 (2022: HK$981,444,000), net of impairment losses under
ECL of HK$3,425,000 (2022: Nil). Details of trade receivables are set out in
note 19.

Assessment of the net realisable value of inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable values. The
management of the Group is required to exercise judgement in estimating the
net realisable value with reference to the ageing analysis of inventories and
recent or subsequent usages or sales of inventories. Where the expectation on
net realisable value is lower than the cost for certain items, a write down of
inventories may arise.

The carrying amount of inventories is HK$2,050,559,000 (2022:
HK$653,649,000) as at 31 March 2023. During the year ended 31 March 2023,
obsolete inventories of HK$4,315,000 (2022: HK$4,929,000) are written off.

Estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment

The management of the Group determines the estimated useful lives and
related depreciation charges for its property, plant and equipment as disclosed
in note 15. These estimates are based on the historical experience of the actual
useful lives of property, plant and equipment of similar nature and functions.

The management of the Group will increase the depreciation charge where
useful lives are expected to be shorter than estimated, or it will write-off or
write-down obsolete assets that have been abandoned or sold. Change in these
estimations may have a material impact on the results of the Group.

E BRI AR A TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conT)
=& BRI ()

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 &Z S _=F=A=1+—HLIFE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. SEpEFR

HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments” (“HKFRS 8") requires operating segments to be
identified on the basis of internal reports about components of the Group that
are regularly reviewed by Chief Operating Decision Maker (“CODM") in order
to allocate resources to segments and to assess their performance.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group commenced the business
engaging in server business and it is considered as a new operating and

BB EER B8 TR, (TEEBM
WMEERIE ) RERLE N ARRTIESE
REAN(TEEZEEREAN) RADEIEER
&?gﬁﬁﬁﬁi%@%F‘Fﬁﬁ@gﬂi%@ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂ’ﬁ%
NERREHA ©

BE_F_—_F_A=1+—HIFE  AEEHA
ZZAKE%EE&%%%%%% MEREBARARARZESE

reportable segment by CODM. BIEHKERAIZRAEL -

Specifically, the Group's reportable segments under HKFRS 8 are as follows: BEMmMES  AEEREBEE B EREERD S5
HIAT 23R T

1. Cable assembly 1. SBRAL

2. Digital cable 2. BIFER

3. Server 3. BR¥BE

The accounting policies the Group used for segment reporting under HKFRS AEFREBEEBUEHREER BIRHBEALLE

8 are the same as those used in its HKFRS consolidated financial statements.
Information reported to the Group’s chief executive officer, being the CODM, for
the purposes of resources allocation and assessment of segment performance
focuses on types of goods delivered.

Principal activities of the Group’s reportable segments are as follows:

PTG et R E B I S A %?f:l\

?%i&%ﬁﬂxﬁﬁ%@ﬁ o MAKETHRAE (BIE
BIERRAN) EWMBEDEER M EDERE

iﬁﬂﬁﬁ*i%iﬁéﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ’ﬂﬁ%E@%EB‘J

REHEA2HRDENERFFUT

Cable assembly — manufacturing and trading of cable assembly B4 - BEEAHELNEENES
products

Digital cable — manufacturing and trading of networking cable and HYFELS - AR EHENEEEERN
specialty cable products BETE S

Server — manufacturing and trading of server products fichees - REEESNEENES

These divisions are the basis on which the Group reports its operating segment REB D DZEHEAEEZREKSHIE

information. oo

Segment results represent the profit earned by each segment without allocation DEREAEIE R DR TR AN - ERNBIEEEA

of results attributable to professional fees and costs relating to acquisition of
business and business restructuring, finance costs, unallocated income and
unallocated expenses. This is the measure reported to the CODM for the
purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment.

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by operating and
reportable segments for the year:

WEEBNEBEENSXBEANRE @&
BA ~ RABMARKRD BRI BAARIEE D

B o WA EREERRABRENFAESN

DUEEAEHE RO BN FHERR -

T RAEBRFENRKE LT 2R D E0E 2
Wk R SAE DT

(a) Segment revenue and results

(a) DEBUIER R 3EHE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BECE [ =—t—HIFE
Total
Cable reportable
assembly Digital cable Server segments  Eliminations Total
2
33l S BR#5eR P ERLEET il st
HK$"000 HK$'000 HK$"000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FTERT FET FEx TART FET
Segment revenue AEBUGZR
External sales IMEREHE 1,889,886 1,347,171 2,527,782 5,764,839 - 5,764,839
Inter-segment sales DEREHE - 23,537 - 23,537 (23,537) -
1,889,886 1,370,708 2,527,782 5,788,376 (23,537) 5,764,839
Segment results DEPELR 171,777 70,903 73,914 316,594 - 316,594
Finance costs RIE A (55,821)
Unallocated income RAOBUWA 11,907
Unallocated expenses ROEEX (16,440)
Profit before taxation RFBIRF 256,240
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conT)
R e B WRMEE (o)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #HZE_F_=F=H=+—HILFE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CoNTINUED)

5. #EPER )

(a) Segment revenue and results (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2022

(a) PEBULES R 48 ()

HE_F - _HF=H=—F—HIFE

Total
Cable Digital reportable
assembly cable segments Eliminations Total
Ejifﬁ R
BRAH HFER DEPAEET ER st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tt FHET FATT FiET Tt
Segment revenue D EBULER
External sales SRSy 1,876,204 1,713,913 3,590,117 - 3,590,117
Inter-segment sales DERFEHE 77 41,519 41,596 (41,596) -
1,876,281 1,755,432 3,631,713 (41,596) 3,590,117
Segment results DEREELE 199,605 97,615 297,220 - 297,220
Professional fees and costs 5 BN BBZETS M
relating to acquisition of ~ ¥FFBAHMIEE
business and business BB REAK
restructuring (6,496)
Finance costs B & A A (38,043)
Unallocated income KAFUA 776
Unallocated expenses KAOBCHX (20,602)
Profit before taxation FREE BT A 232,855
(b) Segment assets and liabilities (b) PEPEEREE

An analysis of the Group’'s segment assets and segment liabilities by
reportable and operating segments is as follows:

AREZT S RRAEDBHINDHEE

BAEEEDHTIT

Cable Digital
At 31 March 2023 assembly cable Server Consolidated
RIEBE_=%=R=+—H ERAEH HF TR AR75es e
HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET FET
Assets BE
Reportable segment assets AEWMAHLEE 1,299,441 1,439,428 3,349,041 6,087,910
Unallocated assets RKAOBLEE 19,054
Consolidated total assets RRBEE 6,106,964
Liabilities =15
Reportable segment liabilities AEHAHarE 567,367 266,079 299,226 1,132,672
Unallocated liabilities KABLER 3,830,222
Consolidated total liabilities e BEERE T 4,962,894
Cable Digital
At 31 March 2022 assembly cable  Consolidated
R THF=RA=+—H BaRAN HFER wae
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tt T FHIT
Assets BE
Reportable segment assets AERAHEE 1,446,020 1,717,387 3,163,407
Unallocated assets RPBLEE 19,355
Consolidated total assets REREE 3,182,762
Liabilities 1=l
Reportable segment liabilities AE2HAHLERE 690,651 364,107 1,054,758
Unallocated liabilities KA EE 1,064,559
Consolidated total liabilities ReaERsE 2,119,317

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and allocating

resources between segments:

e all assets are allocated to operating segments other than certain other
receivables, bank balances and cash and other unallocated assets; and

e all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other than certain
bank borrowings, loans from related companies, amounts due to
related companies, other payables and other unallocated liabilities.

E BRI AR A TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (contp)
=& BRI ()

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 &Z S _=F=A=1+—HLIFE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5. DEREF @)
(c) Other information () Efth&Es
For the year ended 31 March 2023 BEE A=+ —HIFE
Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss or segment STADERMNEEERX DA EETENS
assets. B o
Cable Digital
assembly cable Server Unallocated Consolidated
THREYS HFE AR75es ROEC =a
HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT THET FHET FET TExT
Capital additions BRI 28,688 66,641 144,434 16,499 256,262
Depreciation of property, — #1% -~ BE M&E
plant and equipment e 28,329 31,732 8,333 301 68,695
Depreciation of right-of-use {FAEEETE
assets 11,186 5,533 5,280 1,301 23,300

B

Loss on disposal and written & Ko iiss4) 2
off of property, plantand &R K& EEE
equipment &8 2,028 5,709 - - 7,737

Impairment losses under & ZFEWGRIER
ECL on trade receivables ~ FAEA{= &8

BT ZRERE 78 64 3,283 - 3,425
Write-down of inventories 77 &5 #R 13,511 2,968 10,499 - 26,978
Income tax FTiS#: 19,790 3,035 17,529 - 40,354
For the year ended 31 March 2022 HE—F~ —HF=—H—F—HILFE
Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss or segment AL EEFREEN DI EETENSEE
assets.
Cable Digital
assembly cable Unallocated  Consolidated
BRAMF BT ER A2 e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT FHT FHIT
Capital additions BN 83,104 10,619 - 93,723
Depreciation of property, plant and W RENEEITES
equipment 21,687 34,210 - 55,897
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEETS 10,492 7,400 - 17,892
Loss (gain) on disposal and written off HE&KMSEYIZE « REK
of property, plant and equipment RBIEE (W) 118 (1,051) - (933)
Write-down of inventories BEMUB 4,929 - - 4,929
Income tax 554 46,014 18,568 - 64,582
Information about the Group's revenue from external customers presented BEEANERRBREENMIEAE 25)REINEE
based on the geographical location of the customers is as follows: ERszsEsnT :
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHIT
PRC =] 4,033,900 1,664,349
The United States of America ESS5| 876,165 887,552
Singapore H N 213,370 226,258
Netherlands e 135,773 220,668
Hong Kong =5 126,400 201,269
Mexico o=Tiiks: 124,473 99,583
United Kingdom HE 38,672 47,771
Others Hith 216,086 242,667

5,764,839 3,590,117
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (contD)

= B B EmRMEE (m)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #HZE_F_=F=H=+—HILFE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5. DEPEF @)

(c) Other information (continued)
Information about the Group’s non-current assets (excluding financial
assets at FVTPL and rental deposits) is presented based on the geographical
location of the assets:

(0 EfthEH @)
BEAEENFRBEE (RNEREATE
SPABRSNEREEREERS) NERHR
EEMMBAESZS

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
PRC ==]E7] 1,208,622 1,162,776
Hong Kong &5 22,959 11,356
1,231,581 1,174,132

Information about major customers BRALTEZFAIEN

Revenues from customers of the corresponding years contributing over
10% of the total revenue of the Group are as follows:

RBEFE WS BERMEAREERZ10%
PIEMERLT

2023 2022

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET T

Customer A (from cable assembly and server segment) HEEA(REEHRAEHLRIERIT) 1,220,539 N/A*REMA*
Customer B (from server segment) REB (XKRERIE2DER) 946,753 -
Customer C (from cable assembly segment) BEC(RESBHEAEHFAEL) 780,791 873,060
Customer D (from digital cable segment) ZED (REBFEHRDES) N/A*A55E 3 * 550,169
Customer E (from cable assembly segment) BEE(RESBHRAEHEDES) N/A* 5 3 * 434,203
Customer F (from digital cable segment) ZPF(REBFEEDER) N/A* A i * 406,006

*  The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total revenue of
the Group.

6. REVENUE 6.

Revenue represents the fair value of amounts received and receivable by the
Group in respect of the manufacturing and sales of (i) cable assembly products,
(ii) digital cable and (iii) server, during the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: (i)
cable assembly products and (ii) digital cable).

The revenue of the Group derives from manufacturing and sales of cable
assembly products, digital cable and server. The Group’s revenue is fixed price
and short-term contracts. The normal credit term is 30 to 120 days upon
delivery.

The revenue of the Group is recognised at a point in time except for revenue
from certain sales, which are recognised over time. Under the transfer-of-control
approach in HKFRS 15, revenue from certain sales of goods to the Group’s
customers in connection with the production of cable assembly products, digital
cable and server are recognised when the goods are physically passed to the
customers, which is the point in time when the goods have been delivered
or shipped to the customers’ specific location (delivery) and the customer has
the ability to direct the use of the goods and obtain substantially all of the
remaining benefits of the goods upon customer acceptance. For the resales of
server-related components that the Group acting as an agent, commission
income is recognised at a point in time when the Group completes its
performance obligation when the goods are physically passed to the customers.
For certain sales of cable assembly, revenue is recognised over time when the
performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and
the Group has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.

All sales contracts are for periods of one year or less. As permitted under HKFRS
15, the transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

E BRI AR A TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (contD)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 &Z S _=F=A=1+—HLIFE

6. REVENUE (CONTINUED) 6. Wzt
Revenue from its major products FEERFEYNR
The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue from its major products: AEBBEETEERMERENATAT -
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHTT
Cable assembly TIRAES
— Optical fibres — e 1,124,133 1,054,950
— Copper - & 765,753 821,254
Digital cable HrTeE
— Cat 6/6A cables - Cat 6/6AE#H 1,114,836 1,386,716
— Cat 5/5e cables - Cat 5/5eE 45 85,896 165,116
— Cat 7/7A cables —Cat 7/7AE#R 53,967 61,724
— Specialty cable - AR 92,472 100,357
Server BRFEeR
— Sales of server products - HERBRERD 2,499,162 -
— Commission income from resales of server related - REEE RIS BB IBHES WA
components 28,620 -
5,764,839 3,590,117
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Over time [rifiears| 780,791 873,060
Point in time RE—RFREEL 4,984,048 2,717,057
5,764,839 3,590,117
7. OTHER INCOME 7. EABIEA
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TFHIT
Government grants (note) BT Bh (Fst) 4,619 1,790
Interest income FEIA 11,907 776
Others Hith 5,203 3,307
21,729 5,873

Note:  During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group recognised government grants
of HK$1,116,000 (2022: Nil) relating to Employment Support Scheme provided
by the Hong Kong Government. The remaining government grants in both years
were related to export and other incentive payments received by the Group from
PRC authorities. There were no unfulfilled conditions attached to these grants.

8. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

it : WEBE_S_ZHE-A=-+—RLEE  F&%
E R EBBUTATR BUE BR w5 BN BUT
WBH1,116,0008 T (ZFE - "4 &) - ME
FERTIBUTFHBNISREAREBR PR E BUER
BIH O REAIERFRIERET o XS BI T
EARERIEN -

8. HitismREE

2023 2022

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET T

Net foreign exchange (loss) gain SME (B518) Wk 348 (8,032) 565

(Loss) gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment — HEWZE ~ BRELEREN (BE) W (7,737) 933
Gain on change in fair value of financial assets at FVTPL AV EF ABHFNESREENATE

BEI R 229 218

Others Hith (713) -

(16,253) 1,716
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conT)
R e B WRMEE (o)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #HZE_F_=F=H=+—HILFE

9.

10.

FINANCE COSTS 9. RAERA
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THTT
Interest on bank borrowings SRITIEFFIE 36,204 35,555
Interest on loans from related companies REBEARERIFE 16,305 -
Interest on lease liabilities HESENE 3,312 2,905
Fair value gain reclassified from equity to profit or loss on 3§ E&IRE RS ¥HT2 FIZEH 2 AT(E
interest rate swaps designated as cash flow hedges Wik AR B D EEER - (417)
55,821 38,043
PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 10. BRIRAIEF]
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FH&TT
Profit before taxation has been arrived at after charging:  B&%4 BRI TEEK
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment WZE - BENMEEITE 68,695 55,897
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEETE 23,300 17,892
Less: capitalised in inventories B BEERL (75,750) (58,822)
16,245 14,967
Directors’ emoluments (note 11) EERE (1) 12,377 13,330
Other staff costs HMET A 425,100 389,516
Retirement benefits schemes contributions for other staff ~ E 2 T HEAREREH 214tk 64,958 52,684
Equity-settled share-based payment for other staff Hih 8 T m S8 IR R BRI 2,156 3,942
Total staff costs BT EAHE%R 504,591 459,472
Less: capitalised in inventories B FEERL (351,274) (301,803)
153,317 157,669
Auditor’s remuneration 2
— Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu - =) e IR LEHAI T 2,500 2,170
— Other auditors — H iz EEm 2,876 766
5,376 2,936
Cost of inventories recognised as expense (including R RAZNEFERA (81526,978,000
the write-down of inventories amounting to BT (TS T4 ¢ 4,929,000%7T)
HK$26,978,000 (2022: HK$4,929,000)) BEEMR) 5,140,174 3,002,020
Impairment loss under ECL on trade receivables B ENGIB B EEEBIE T
BEEE 3,425 -

E BRI AR A TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (contD)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 &Z S _=F=A=1+—HLIFE

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ emoluments
The emoluments paid or payable to directors of the Company are as follows:

1. 5  TREARESHNE

() EEM=
ENNENEAAREETZMESHIINT

Equity-
Performance settled Retirement
related share- benefits
Salaries and incentive based schemes
Fees allowances payment  payments  contributions Total
RiEREE
&R LR BAKTEF]
e HEREE  EERE  ERNIHE HELEA st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T Tt FET THT FET FTET
For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE_S_=F=R
=t—HLHFE
Executive directors: HiTEE -
Mr. Cua Tin Yin Simon (note a) TR (fizta) - 3,120 3,572 - 144 6,836
Mr. Wong Chi Kuen BERELE - 2,470 1,786 - 114 4,370
Non-executive directors: JHRTEE -
Mr. Paul Lo (note b) BB (FEb) 20 - - - - 20
Ms. Wang Laichun (note b) FRELT (Mitb) 371 - - - - 371
Independent non-executive directors: B IFHTEE -
Mr. Ho Hin Shun fIEERE 260 - - - - 260
Mr. Luk Wai Shing BEER A 260 - - - - 260
Mr. Chan Chung Shun Eric fEREEE 260 - - - - 260
117 5,590 5,358 - 258 12,377
For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE_S_"&=R
=t—HItFE
Executive directors: HTEF
Mr. Cua Tin Yin Simon (note a) TIRASAE (fizta) - 3,120 3,746 152 144 7,162
Mr. Wong Chi Kuen BSELE - 2,470 2,173 137 114 4,894
Non-executive director: FEHFTEE -
Mr. Paul Lo (note b) EMEss (b)) 390 - - 26 - 416
Independent non-executive directors: BUIETESE -
Mr. Ho Hin Shun MBEEE 260 - - 26 - 286
Mr. Luk Wai Shing BB ITE 260 - - 26 - 286
Mr. Chan Chung Shun Eric BROERE 260 - - 26 - 286
1,170 5,590 5919 393 258 13,330
Notes: b5

(@) Mr. Cua Tin Yin Simon is the chief executive officer of the Company and his
emoluments disclosed above include those for services rendered by him as the

chief executive.

(b) Mr. Paul Lo has resigned as a non-executive director on 19 April 2022 and Ms.
Wang Laichun was appointed as a non-executive director on 19 April 2022.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services in
connection with the management of affairs of the Group. The emoluments
of non-executive directors and independent non-executive directors shown

above were for their services as directors of the Company.

The performance related incentive payment is determined with reference to
the operating results and individual performance.

(@) FRAFERAATMAITEMES » L FTHEEER
SEEREARDITRASRERENMNE -

(b) RIFEREBHR_BZ_EFEMA+ARBHIIEAT
BE  UREREFELLIEN_F__FOA+TAIA
EZERFRITES -

EXFRIBTESTMES D AREBREEERBE

B RBEME - EXFTIIIFRITES NBIIIF

BATEFNWNE AR SREAQARDESFRZE M

KREERARE2ELLEXELEAKREMETE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (contD)

= B B EmRMEE (m)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #HZE_F_=F=H=+—HILFE

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (conTiNUED)

(b) Employees’ emoluments
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, 2 (2022:
2) were directors and the chief executive officer of the Company whose
emoluments are included in the disclosures above. The emoluments of the
remaining 3 (2022: 3) individuals were as follows:

1. B  TBHERREEME &

(b) EEM=
AEFLEERFHALH ME(CFZ
ZF MR RAARNEFRTBEH (HE
SRR FAURER) c KR =R (TF T
ZF =R) ALHEemT

2023 2022

HK$'000 HK$'000

FExT FHTT

Salaries and other benefits e MEMETR 4,960 5,000
Performance related incentive payment RIERARES 1,896 1,647
Equity-settled share-based payments BB EEDIRD AERAFIE 219 414
Retirement benefits schemes contributions RINER TR 118 119
7,193 7,180

The performance related incentive payment is determined with reference to
the operating results and individual performance.

The number of the five highest paid employees who are not the directors
nor the chief executive officer of the Company whose emoluments fell
within the following bands are as follows:

REMEERE2ELLEXELEARTME

=

E o

FARAESHITRAREN OB EDHE
& HMENFTIIEmMA

Number of individuals

A
2023 2022
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,00187T22,500,0007%7T 2 2
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,00187TZ3,000,000/7T 1 1
3 3

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors of the Company and
the chief executive officer of the Group or the five highest paid individuals
(including directors, chief executives and employees) as an inducement to
join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. None
of the directors of the Company nor the chief executive officer of the Group
waived any emoluments during both years.

AREBWEAANRES MIAEETHAR
FLEEREHAL(BRES  KRETERA
ENRE) ZNEAMSFRIMARERESK
FEPNAAR SR E AV EE R SO B E - @
FE  BEFAQADESTHNAEFITEARIK
ZFEEfAEREN

12. TAXATION 12. RIE
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T
Hong Kong Profits Tax EEFNER

Current tax BREARLIR 10,770 22,113
Under-provision in respect of prior years PIBEFEERBRE 70 1
10,840 22,114

PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") R ZERTER (TIRZERMER )
Current tax BIHARLIE 27,914 14,574
(Over) under-provision in respect of prior years PIBREE (BLERE) BEAE (915) 385
Withholding tax in the PRC FREITEHRE - 20,382
26,999 35,341
Deferred tax (note 27) IRFEREIE (FEE27) 2,515 7,127
40,354 64,582

(i) Hong Kong Profits Tax
Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated assessable
profit for both years.

E BRI AR A TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED

(i) HEFER
RWBEEE - SBHNERE G ERREF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (contD)

= B M EmRMEE (|

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 &Z S _=F=A=1+—HLIFE

12. TAXATION (CONTINUED)
(ii) PRCEIT

12. MIE (%)
(i) PELEFRE

Under the Law of the PRC on EIT (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation
Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25%.
Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, certain entities of
the Group operating in the PRC were awarded the Advanced-Technology
Enterprise Certificate for a period of 3 years till 2025 (2022: for a period of
3 years till 2022) and are eligible for tax concessionary rate of 15% for the
years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.

Certain entities operating in the PRC that have taxable income of not more
than RMB3 million, the quarterly average of total assets does not exceed
RMB50 million as well as the quarterly average number of employees does
not exceed 300 are qualified as small and micro enterprises for the years
ended 31 March 2023 and 2022. For the first RMB1 million taxable income,
25% of its first RMB1 million taxable income would be taxed at a reduced
rate of 20%. With effect from 1 January to 31 December 2022, these
entities were entitled to a further reduced EIT rate of 10% on 25% of its
first RMB1 million taxable income. For the portion over first RMB1 million
and up to RMB3 million, only 25% of the taxable income would be taxed
at a reduced EIT rate of 20% from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2024.

No withholding tax is recognised during the year ended 31 March 2023.
The withholding tax of HK$10,833,000 during the year ended 31 March
2022 mainly represented taxation recognised in respect of dividend
income from PRC subsidiaries and was recognised at tax rates of 5% in
accordance with the Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law of the PRC
and HK$9,549,000 represented taxation recognised in respect of shares
transfer of subsidiaries in the PRC in relation to group restructuring with tax
rate of 10% under EIT Law during the year ended 31 March 2022.

According to relevant laws and regulations promulgated by the State Tax
Bureau of the PRC that was effective from 2021 onwards, enterprises
engaging in research and development activities are entitled to claim an
additional 100% of their research and development expense (“Super
Deduction”) so incurred as tax deductible expenses when determining their
assessable profits for both years. The Group has made its best estimate for
the Super Deduction to be claimed for the Group's entities in ascertaining

IEFEEPIJJ-_%EE SHLE (TREMERIE) K
EFFEPUEEIED - PEINEATAIB
TR25% ° RIFEPEBEEENER - A%
IE"EPI BHE ?;%?ﬁﬁﬁﬁé?ﬁ%iﬁim%
BERI=EECE_AF (TR
BESEE S ) PSR
=FERIFITFE=A=1+— Eiif?ﬁ“é
ERZEI5%NEERX -

RPRZEERRBATEBAREIR
#IT §F‘5Fi’lwﬁFTﬁEL/\Efﬁ§50E%
TUEZERE T B NEBE300 ARE

TERRBE S =GR B "F=#
=t—HUEFEFENMILENER - 81t
HEARB I BETNERTWA  HEE
ARE1VEETTERTMAN25%151220%
HYBUARTL B © E*?::E—H—EE
E+_A=1t—RH  ZSERERIEEE
AE@NE%IE%MH&]\E’JZS%?& &
E10%DEMEBBE - AR __F—H
—AEE_F_MOF+_A=1+—H  #HR
HEAREI BB LT AREIEETL
THYERD © E25%IERTLUAAGR20% 89
BRSPS B B R AR -

HETZ"=F-HA=1+—HIFE » 1LE
BRENH -HE S _F=A=1+—H
IHAE R F840%810,833,00058 7T X EEHE AR
B EMEATRIRESWAERNFIE I
RIBHESEMEREEELIR5%MF
REER - UABE_S " _F=F=+—H
WEAFE » 9,549,000 Tt B BB EE N
HEAMEENBARRMDERNHRIE » 1L
RIRDZERTERIEIR10% T RHER ©

REDEEKRRBRAEME — S ——FE
A MANEBDERSIER fﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁé/ﬁiﬂﬁ’ﬂﬁ
FNETEMEFENERTUS IR - GEER
K HEL M R AIERIN00% (TEHE
L) FIEAHIRRAY - AEECHAKEE
ERAERNBEIEIE R REME - DR
EHE_S_=_FRFF=A=1—

their assessable profits for the year ended 31 March 2023 and 2022. HIEFEMERF 2R -
Taxation for the year can be reconciled to the profit before taxation as FEBIA A ERBADS A ERNT
follows:
2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FHTT

Profit before taxation BRA B A 256,240 232,855
Tax charge of Hong Kong Profits Tax at 16.5% (2022: #16.5% KT ENEBF S/ H

16.5%) (CB "5 ) 42,280 38,421
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purposes WX =] E’]Z‘T?Dﬁﬁﬁi‘iﬂ’ﬁm‘%ﬁﬁﬁ 5,962 5,060
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purposes BELE B AR ANR R E (2,521) (1,521)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERHIEBENHR IS E 880 3,183
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses previously not BRI RER A BN BT E

recognised (1,032) -
Effect of income tax on concessionary rates for PRC PSS EBARRERENTE

subsidiaries (17,915) (2,358)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries in jurisdictions & IUINENERE R B A T RER =

other than Hong Kong R E 18,240 6,791
(Over) under-provision in respect of prior years PIBTEE (BEERE) BERNE (845) 386
Super Deduction for research and development expenses 3 B sk 9B 2B K (4,538) (6,255)
Effect of withholding tax on dividend income from PRC TE}DiFR*‘TﬂEQ AR Ff B A B R AR S

subsidiaries I - 10,833
Effect of withholding tax on transfer of PRC subsidiaries f@ﬂ*ﬂ%’f‘?lﬁﬁ%’&jiﬁﬁéﬁ =24 - 9,549
Others Hith (157) 493
Taxation for the year FEBIR 40,354 64,582
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conT)
R e B WRMEE (o)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #HZE_F_=F=H=+—HILFE

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE 13. BEREF
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to AARFEE ANEIEEREARANEERF TR T
owners of the Company is based on the following data: BURETE -
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Earnings for the purposes of calculating basic and diluted RLGtESREARLEERFINEF
earnings per share (profit for the year attributable to owners  (AA TG AEILEREF))
of the Company) 215,140 168,223

Number of shares

B2y
2023 2022
‘000 ‘000
Fh% TR
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose LT E G IEEL A Z R B 578 M hn e
of calculating basic earnings per share R E R 1,945,952 1,849,527
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares: BT BRI E
— Share options - FEReRE 1,636 17,243
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose LT 5 A 58 2 R B9 58 B e
of calculating diluted earnings per share EHRDE R 1,947,588 1,866,770
14. DIVIDENDS 14. B2
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFHET FHET
Dividends recognised as distribution during the year: REAERRDIKNE
2022 final dividend — HK1 cent TERITHERBKE - T AR
(2022: 2021 final dividend — HK1.5 cents) per ordinary BN CE I F 5 —F
share REAR S — SR B 55540) 19,460 27,606
2023 interim dividend — HKO.5 cents TERIHFRHKE - giREER
(2022: 2022 interim dividend — HK1 cent) per ordinary 05BI(CE_“F: "5 —
share RIS - SR AL 154L) 9,730 18,440
29,190 46,046
On 28 June 2023, a final dividend of HKOQ.5 cents per ordinary share in respect AN_BRT=—FXAZT/N\H AQTEELE
of the year ended 31 March 2023, totalling HK$9,730,000 has been proposed BB E_ ST =—F=—A=1t—HIEFERER
by the board of directors of the Company. The final dividend is subject to HARG S EA @ AR0.558 - A#8%849,730,0005
approval by the shareholders of the Company in the forthcoming annual JC o KRR EBEFAARRENEREKREBAER
general meeting. BLEHE -

-32 E BRI AR A TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conT)
=& BRI ()

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 &Z S _=F=A=1+—HLIFE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. Y% - MER&E
Furniture,
Leasehold Plant and Toolsand  fixtures and Motor  Construction
Buildings  improvements machinery moulds  equipment vehicles in progress Total
[ 53 %ﬁ;%% BERRE  IARER  XERuR AE HEIE st

HK$'000 HKS 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TiEn FiET TR TiEn T TiEn TiEn

COST OR VALUATION HAGEE
At 1 April 2021 R-5_—45WA-A 224,019 122,85 794,601 44178 83,750 1,233 - 1,280,066
Currency realignment G 10,283 5,819 36,572 2,142 4157 432 31 59,436
Acquired on acquisition of WEEBRER
business . - - 8,958 2,105 549 122 - 11,734
Additions HE - 9338 30,687 2,281 19,155 347 1373 63,181
Disposalshuriten off e/ - - (220 (859) (1,189) (33) - 2617
Gain on revaluation to profit STAERNBENE
orloss ‘ _ . 361 - - - - - - 361
Redlassification on revaluationto T AZMEENERETHE
revaluation reserve (4,846) - - - - - - (4,846)
At 31 March 2022 R-E_"EZA=1-H 229817 137,482 870,598 49,851 106,422 11,781 1,404 1,407,315
Currency realignment g Wmﬂ;ﬁ*ﬁ (17,804) (10,827) (68,221) (4,298) (8.229) (844) (111) (110,334)
Additions hE - 10,202 106,813 10,642 47,673 64 47,020 222,814
Transfer from construction in EREHEIR
progress 46,746 - - - - - (46,746) -
Disposalsfuritien off pE/E (592) (1.601) (25,078) (2,08) (1,735) (564) - (31,628)
Gain on revaluation to profit ST ABRNERNE
orloss N o 583 - - - - - - 583
Redlassfication on revaluationto T AZMBENERENHE
revaluation reserve 3,709 - - - - - - 3,709
At 31 March 2023 RZET=EZA=1-H 262,459 135,216 884,112 54,131 144131 10437 1,967 1,492,459
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION ;'é;’r?ﬁ%
At 1 April 2021 R_5_—H£NA-A - 86,110 374,031 26726 51,335 8198 - 546,400
Curren reahgnment e o 167 4,106 17,700 1341 2,559 339 - 26212
Provided for the year lidiy ﬁ 6,251 6,921 30,167 2,837 8,753 968 - 55,897
Disposals/written off LE /e - - (163) (189) (1,008) (318) - (1,678)
Eliminated on revaluation RERFES (6,418) - - - - - - (6.418)
At 31 March 2022 B-5_"E=A=1-f - 97,131 41,735 30,715 61,639 9,187 - 620413
Curren reahgnment Bl (9) (7,665) (33,232 (2,783) (5,077) (680) - (49,446)
Provided for the year EE%{% 6,322 12,43 31,871 3,405 14,058 7% - 68,695
Dlsposalslwrltten off HWE /M (n) (894) (15730) (1,789) (1, 157) (507) - (21,349)
Eiminated on revaluation RERHS (6.041) - - - - (6,041)
At 31 March 2023 RIZT=E=A=1-A - 100,821 403,644 29,548 69,463 8,79 - 612,272
CARRYING VALUES FEE
At31 March 2023 R_Z_=EZR=1-R
- Cost -BA - 34,395 480,468 24,589 74,668 1,641 1967 617,728
- Valuation - 148 262,459 - - - - - - 262,459
262,459 34,395 480,468 24,589 74,668 1,641 1,967 880,187
At31 March 2022 RZE_"E=A=1-H
- Cost -BA - 40,305 443,863 19,136 44783 2,594 1,404 557,085
~Valuation -1 29817 - - - - - - 29817
229,817 40,305 443,863 19,136 44,783 2,594 1,404 786,902
Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of items of property, plant and FZE ~ B REREBEE (EETERN) ZRER
equipment (other than construction in progress), using straight-line method or DU Al R HR A B AR A SR RE AR ok A Bl o Ak
reducing balance method over the following useful lives: REHRITE -
Straight-line method: BAVE
Buildings Over the shorter of the remaining term of the pet=al #EEE T Hb SR N AAEA TR
related land lease or estimated useful lives Euf_j@)iﬁf'zgq (Dl
FRE)
Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the term of the lease or 10 S E FAHAS 104 (LIEEEE AE)
years
Tools and moulds 5- 10 years TERBE 5E 104
Furniture, fixtures and 5-10 years Bifh ~ EBEREE 521084
equipment
Motor vehicles 5 years JRE 54
Reducing balance method: ERERIERIE ¢
Plant and machinery 10— 15 years S 10E 154
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (contD)

= B B EmRMEE (m)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #HZE_F_=F=H=+—HILFE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

Fair value measurement of the land and buildings

The Group's Land and Buildings were revalued on 31 March 2023 and
2022 by RHL Appraisal Limited, an independent qualified valuer not related
to the Group. During the year ended 31 March 2023, the net revaluation
gain of HK$2,434,000 (2022: net revaluation loss of HK$36,170,000),
comprising the revaluation gain of HK$9,750,000 (2022: revaluation gain of
HK$1,572,000) arising from property, plant and equipment, and revaluation
loss of HK$7,316,000 (2022: revaluation loss of HK$37,742,000) arising from
right-of-use assets, have been credited (2022: debited) to property revaluation
reserve, and the corresponding total deferred tax of HK$660,000 (2022:
HK$8,497,000), have been debited (2022: credited) to the property revaluation
reserve. In addition, during the year ended 31 March 2023, the net revaluation
loss of HK$3,161,000, (2022: revaluation gain of HK$361,000) comprising of
revaluation gain of HK$583,000 (2022: HK$361,000) arising from property,
plant and equipment and revaluation loss of HK$3,744,000 (2022: Nil) arising
from right-of-use assets, is debited to profit and loss (2022: credited to profit or
loss) and the corresponding total deferred tax of HK$878,000 (2022: Nil) have
been credited (2022: Nil) to profit or loss. The valuations by the independent
qualified valuer are arrived by direct comparison approach assuming sale of the
Land and Buildings in their existing states with their highest and best use and by
making reference to comparable sales transactions as available in the relevant
market. The direct comparison approach is based on market observable recent
transactions of similar properties in similar locations. There has been no change
to the valuation technique during the year.

If the Land and Buildings of the Group had not been revalued, they would
have been included in these consolidated financial statements at historical cost
less accumulated depreciation and their carrying amounts would have been
approximately HK$195,788,000 (2022: HK$166,825,000) as property, plant
and equipment and approximately HK$85,039,000 (2022: HK$94,856,000) as
right-of-use assets as at 31 March 2023.

The following table gives information about how the fair values of these Land
and Buildings are determined (in particular, the valuation technique and inputs
used), as well as the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value measurements
are categorised (Level 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair
value measurements is observable.
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Fair value Valuation techniques and Significant
Description Fair value at hierarchy key inputs unobservable inputs Sensitivity
it RUTEHSNATE ATVEER GHERGEKIZBAZE ERTATEREBARE BRE
31.3.2023  31.3.2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET TET
Buildings in the 262,459 229,817 Level 3 Direct comparison method based Price per square metre, using A significant increase in the price per
PRC on market observable transactions  market direct comparable square meter used would result in a
of similar properties adjusted properties and taking into account  significant increase in the fair value
timing of reference transactions location and other individual measurement of the buildings, and
and property-specific adjustments  factors such as road frontage, size  vice versa.
including nature, location and of property etc., which is ranged
conditions of the property. from RMB1,544 to RMB2,138

(2022: RMB1,409 to RMB2,106)
per square meter.
AIFAFRE) 262,459 229,817 #£=H BELRE - DENELWENT STHKES DHRATSEEN MERSTAKERKERLAKE
BF BUBERYG  HBERGNER LRMXDAEEVENREHE BBTATESERNRLA R
AR WEMMESTRE - B VENGHMENRZ & 2R
BEMENEE - BRI - FIHARNFARK SM4TEAR
82,1387 (ZF " - ARE
1,40970E AR¥2,1067T) ©

Leasehold land 284,552 328,600 Level 3 Direct comparison method based Price per square metre, using A significant increase in the price per
in the PRC on market observable transactions  market direct comparable square meter used would result in a
of similar properties adjusted properties and taking into account  significant increase in the fair value
timing of reference transactions location and other individual measurement of the leasehold land
and property-specific adjustments  factors such as road frontage, size  and vice versa.
including nature, location and of property etc., which is ranged
conditions of the property. from RMB1,327 to RMB1,881

(2022: RMB1,403 to RMB2,165)
per square meter.

fﬁﬁ::‘jjt@’\]ﬁ 284,552 328,600 HE=#H BELBE - DERENDENT

FYTKER  DRATNSERY  EASTAKRERAELAHE

BAEERS  HSEXGNERE  LENEWLEEGENREEE WASTHATESFERNEL
TR  WEEMESTERE - B WEANSRILENRR RIS ©
BIEMENTEE - BRI - FHRNFARKE327TTEAR

11,8810 (ZE 2 - AR

1,403 ARY2,1657T) °

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the year ended.

E BRI AR A TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (contD)

= B M EmRMEE (|

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #HZE_F "=

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

FZAZT—HIEFE

16. EHEEE

Leasehold Leasehold
land properties Total
ST HEME HEEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT T
(note a)
(PyzEa)
At 31 March 2023 W =F=H=1+—H
Carrying amounts IRE(E
— Cost - K - 59,098 59,098
— Valuation - HE 284,552 - 284,552
284,552 59,098 343,650
At 31 March 2022 WIZ__H#=R=+—H
Carrying amounts IREE
— Cost — B - 55,131 55,131
— Valuation —{HE 328,600 - 328,600
328,600 55,131 383,731
For the year ended 31 March 2023 BEZ =F=A=t+—HLFE
Loss on revaluation for the year (note a) EWE{EEE?E (M9sta) 11,060 - 11,060
Depreciation for the year FEE 6,284 17,016 23,300
For the year ended 31 March 2022 BEZZT"HF=-—A=t—HILHFE
Loss on revaluation for the year (note a) FABEHEE (fsFa) 37,742 - 37,742
Depreciation for the year FEITE 7,551 10,341 17,892
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFET FHET
Expense relating to short-term leases (note b) BREREBEMNRXZ (stb) 3,596 3,479
Total cash outflow for leases HERSRHAEE 17,334 15,875
Additions to right-of-use assets FEREEERE 28,926 7,464
Acquired on acquisition of business I ZE TS AN - 14,688
Derecognition of right-of-use assets upon termination of lease #2 FFHE#& AL I ERERREEE 3,598 -

Notes:

(@) The leasehold land held by the Group was accounted for as revaluation model with
effect from 30 June 2020. Please refer to note 15 for details.

(b) The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for office and staff quarters, of
which the Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to leases of office
and staff quarters. As at 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022, the portfolio of short-
term leases in which practical expedient was applied is similar to the portfolio of short-
term leases to which the short-term leases expense disclosed above.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group recognised additions of right-
of-use assets amounting to HK$28,926,000 (2022: HK$7,464,000) and additions
of lease liabilities amounting to HK$28,926,000 (2022: HK$7,464,000), which

constitutes non-cash transactions.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group has early terminated a lease
which constitute a lease modification. As a result, the Group has derecognised
right-of-use assets of HK$3,598,000 (2022: Nil) and lease liabilities of
HK$3,653,000 (2022: Nil), and a gain on lease termination of HK$55,000 is

recognised in profit or loss.

fE -

) AEBEFTFANEELMIARIVEEGER - 8
TRTREAAZ=THRER - FBEFLHEME
15°

(b) AEBEZEHHMATRETIESITIGHEE - M
FEESMAZERETEEHERMAEHHEERER
e M_F_ZFZAZ+-HRF_"F=
A=1+—RH EBERTUTRERZNEHEEES
SUGHIRERSN EXRBRRIEASAEAM -

REE_ZE_=FA=A=1+—HIEE  &~&EEH

EAREREEERE28,926,0008 T (ZF -
£ 1 7,464,000% 7)) RIAE&ERE28,926,000
BT (CR T 1 7,464,000 5T) © HEEALIE
HERG

BET_=F=B=1+—HILFE ' A£EE
REIRIE—EEBREEERNEE - Bt - A&
B e LERERREES, 598,000t (ZF -
TAF ) RIAE & E3,653,0008 T (R -
4R WRNB s PR &4 1 I3 55,000
BT o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conT)
R e B WRMEE (o)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #HZE_F_=F=H=+—HILFE

16.

17.

18.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

For both years, the Group leases leasehold properties for its manufacturing
operations. Lease contracts for leasehold properties are entered into for fixed
term of 1to 15 years (2022: 1 to 15 years) respectively, but may have termination
options as described below. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. In determining the
lease term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group
applies the definition of a contract and determines the period for which the
contract is enforceable.

The Group has a termination option in a lease for a production plant in the PRC.
This is used to maximise operational flexibility in terms of managing the assets
used in the Group’s operations. The termination option held is exercisable only
by the Group and not by the lessor. No extension options are included in any of
the lease agreements entered by the Group.

The Group reassesses whether it is reasonably certain not to exercise a termination
option, upon the occurrence of either a significant event or a significant change
in circumstances that is within the control of the lessee. During the years ended
31 March 2023 and 2022, there is no such triggering event.

In addition, the Group owns several industrial buildings where its manufacturing
facilities are primarily located and office buildings. The Group is the registered
owner of these property interests, including the underlying leasehold land. Lump
sum payments were made upfront to acquire these property interests. The land
and building components of these owned properties are presented separately
since the payments made can be allocated reliably. The land component of
the Group is classified as right-of-use assets and the building component is
classified as property, plant and equipment.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

A wholly owned subsidiary of the Company entered into a policy with an
insurance company to insure a director of the Group (the “Policy”). Under the
Policy, the beneficiary and policy holder is a subsidiary of the Group and the total
insured sum is USD2,000,000 (equivalent to HK$15,500,000). At the inception
of the policy, the Group paid an upfront payment of USD610,000 (equivalent
to HK$4,742,000) and a single premium charge of USD37,000 (equivalent to
HK$283,000). The Group will receive cash back based on the account value of
the Policy at the date of withdrawal. The Group receives interests at interest
rates guaranteed by the insurer.

Life insurance policy is classified as financial assets at FVTPL as these financial
assets have contractual right to cash flows that do not represent contractual
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
outstanding. The fair value gain of HK$229,000 (2022: HK$218,000) relating to
fair value of the financial asset as at 31 March 2023 was recognised.

As at 31 March 2023, the directors of the Company expected that the Policy
would be terminated at the 16th policy year in 2026 with no surrender charge
in accordance with the Policy. Therefore, the Policy was classified as non-
current as at 31 March 2023. Subsequently in April 2023, the management
has initiated the termination on the Policy, which has been settled in cash in
May 2023 with amount of USD821,000 (equivalent to HK$6,445,000) after
deducting the surrender charge of USD15,000 (equivalent to HK$118,000) for
early termination.

16.

17.

EREEE»

RWEFE  AEBRHEELERRBEEYE -
BERHENENRESNDRET N E15E (TR
“FEORISF) NEEFS  BRTE AL
R o FRETYIRE R EERER - MBS RBRRME
AR - EEES LA RN T BSEMRER -
AEBERANES @ UREERRHBITAHN
HR ©

FEERTH-EEERENEERAKILE -
ENRAEEEAEELEMHEERBFERE
BREM - MFANRILRI AT RAEEMIFL
BAITEE - AEE M EAEE W EET)
EH R -

ERESREMABERBEBRE(CTABEAT
ZHNERT AEESENTHRSAEEE
AETTHRAALRE  REREZF_=FL 2"
F=RA=+—HULFE - WERLZBHEH -

st » REEGERRE T BT LFARE
MERERBEZMNZEET - AEERZSE
MEESEMAEEA  BEMEBEEELTM -
FEE-FBARUMEZ S ES - AR
MBS SR - S BB IR TR
DAL - KEBN I D ERECHRE
E > METHIRIEAME - BEIRE -

BRAFEGABRZNEMEE

AAF—ER2ENBARERBR AR IRE
ZRABAEE —REE (TRE ) - RIERE
ZRARBRABAEE —EHRBAR » HRE
¥8/%2,000,0003 7T (A2 15,500,000/ 7T) °
PRERAR - AREEITAIEIFIE610,0003€
It (F85124,742,0005870) R EZERE37,000%
JC (185572 283,000/87T) - NEBMRIZFRH &
RREBIRFEAKIBIRSORHR - REFRRBRA
BRBHF RILELF B, ©

AEREDERIEAFETANERNSHEE
NRZESMEENT JTWEIRSRENALR
A MEBRESREBVIFGRIEAERS REKE
EASHAENETTNENESTE - N5
=F=ZHA=1+—H  ARFAIEERESBEEN
TFEGENA T EWREE229,0008 T (Z2 -
£ 1 218,0007T) ©

RIB_=F=B=1+—H ' AAEEEHR
BN _SEZFEI6EREEEZRILE - RE
REBBEIMNERER - At ' REVR_F—
=FE=A=1+—HB28EAERD - HEN _F_
—FEMA EEEEMBRILRE  WERZ
ST =FHALIRSENSEES21,0003<TT (HBE
726,445,000/7T) * EHENRIEFALILAVER
#F315,0003 7T (FB5572118,000/7T ) °

INVENTORIES 18. F&
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET BT
Raw materials R 1,549,255 275,651
Work in progress e ) 71,510 80,703
Finished goods By 429,794 297,295
2,050,559 653,649

E BRI AR A TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conT)
=& BRI ()

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 &Z S _=F=A=1+—HLIFE

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 19. BS R EMERZIE

2023 2022

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHTT

Trade receivables B S EWGIE 1,240,414 981,316
Trade receivables from the then fellow subsidiaries REEEFRRNEATNE ZERKIE - 128
Trade receivables from related companies REBEATNE ZEWGIE 10,355 -
Bills receivables FEWZE 19,200 17,366
1,269,969 998,810

Less: Allowance for credit losses B (EEEERE (3,425) -
1,266,544 998,810

Value added tax receivables FEWUIEERL 230,934 56,582
Other receivables HIBEWGERIE 13,563 8,480
Deposits and prepayments BERTENFRIE 30,224 26,302
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables B~ TENIE ARG IE 274,721 91,364
Trade and other receivables E 5 REMERIIE 1,541,265 1,090,174

As at 1 April 2021, trade and bills receivables amounted to HK$752,619,000.

The Group allows credit period ranging from 30 days to 120 days to its trade
customers. Before accepting any new customers, the Group will internally
assess the credit quality of the potential customers and determine appropriate
credit limits. The ageing analysis of trade and bills receivables net of allowance
for credit losses as presented, based on the right to consideration became
unconditional/invoice date at the end of the reporting period at the end of the

RIF"—FNA—H - BZESGHIAREKRE
¥ 4752,619,000557T ©

AREBRTHESGRFZEEBENF30BE120
B - BEMNTAFRFZH » NEBEBEHIEL
BEZEEERIERNTTHE » BT &BEER
% o EHEMGIEREREE IREEBER
%) RIS R IR E 2 R BB R
BEHI2Y)ZRBEDITNT -

reporting period is as follows:

2023 2022
HK$000 HK$'000
TFHET Tt
0 - 30 days 0&30H 736,447 488,962
- 60 days 31260H 268,288 179,704
- 90 days 61290H 150,357 206,860
91— 180 days 91F180H 100,138 122,539
Over 180 days #E1B180H 11,314 745
1,266,544 998,810

At 31 March 2023, included in the Group's trade receivable balances are EA_EE_*E BH=+—H - @ﬁﬁ@!&%lz%

trade receivables of HK$68,212,000 (2022: HK$71,657,000) which are past

due at the end of the reporting period. An amount of HK$786,000 (2022: 71,657,000567T) B S EUFIEN R EHAREE

HK$762,000) has been past due 90 days or more and is not considered as in B o 721786,000% 7T (ZF "4 * 762,000

default based on financial information available in the market, creditability and 75) MFIBEE AR E - IRIENTHIZ LA

good repayment records of those customers. The Group does not hold any BHUBEEN - GEERZEREFPFNEETERNT

collateral over these balances. ﬁi ZAREARRELN - REEBREZSE
MRS AERG -

FEWGRIBAE#RAY68,212,0008 T (ZF -

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables for the year BES_—F=-A=1+—HILFE EBHEH
ended 31 March 2023 are set out in note 37. b B ERIE A B E ST s IS B T 5E37 o

Included in trade and other receivables are the following amounts denominated
in currency other than functional currencies of the respective group entities:

E?ﬁ%ﬁ%l‘f’?ﬁ—zlﬁﬁ‘éi@‘fﬂ%% B 5 LEMER
FIRBRBLUTEBIIEC S |

2023 2022
HK$"000 HK$'000

FET FETT

usb ES 7,199 253,903
HK$ BT 1,350 3,550
Euro BT 2,484 2,801
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conT)
R e B WRMEE (o)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #HZE_F_=F=H=+—HILFE

20.

21.

22.

CONTRACT ASSETS

The contract assets from sales of cable assembly to a customer primarily relate
to the Group's right to consideration for work completed and not billed because
the rights are conditioned on the Group’s future performance. The contract
assets are transferred to trade receivables when the production of cable assembly
products are completed, being when the rights become unconditional.

As at 1 April 2021, contract assets amounted to HK$2,860,000.

The significant decrease as at 31 March 2023 is the result of the decrease in
purchase orders from the customer at the end of the year. For the prior year
ended 31 March 2022, the significant increase was the result of the increase in
purchase orders from the customer as at 31 March 2022.

20. SHEE

MEFHEERATNANEETRIERERK
B T AR TRRAENERN - REZ
ZERANUARERRER RGN - BREE
RERABME R E ST (BN 2 SRR B
IR BEEE HRUGRR -

RIF_—FHA—H GNEESER
2,860,000/7T ©

RCBT=F=ZA=1+—HZKERDTIERE
FEREFRBEITERIAE - REEZST
“HFZR=t—HLEE—FE &K@ H
N B _HE=RA=t+—HBEFREIERA
B o

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK BALANCES AND CASH 21. SIEREITER RITHERRE
Pledged bank deposits represent deposits placed in a banks to secure general EERRITHEREERNIRIT SRR FAER
banking facilities granted to the Group and carry fixed interest rates ranging Z—RIRITEEZEN » WERESNTF0.30%E
from 0.30% to 7.25% (2022: 0.30% to 2.25%) per annum. Deposits 7.25% (""" 1 030%%F2.25% ) 2 EEF
amounting to HK$974,649,000 (2022: HK$5,769,000) have been pledged to Kt B o &E8/974,649,0008 T (ZF - _F:
secure short-term bank loans and bills payable and are therefore classified as 5,769,00057T) MR E B LIINERHRTE
current assets. The pledged bank deposits will be released upon the settlement AREWEE At ERREBEE - 2EF
of relevant bank borrowings and bills payable. RITEAENEEERRTERLERERERE
BERR o
Bank balances and cash include demand deposits and short-term deposits for SRITHB MR SBEERERNEHER » B
the purpose of meeting the Group’s short-term cash commitments, which EEAREBRBHHRSAIE  LIRERHSER
carry interest at prevailing market rates ranging from 0.001% to 4.64% (2022: #0.001%E4.64%T 2 (CE-"F 1 0.01%E
0.01% to 1.33%) per annum. 1.33%)°
Details of impairment assessment of bank balances and pledged bank deposits SRITAARIVRVE R & BRI IRIT I BE
are set out in note 37. RRIEE37 ©
Included in bank balances and cash and pledged bank deposits are the following BREBREEERCIIEES) » RITHERKRE
amounts denominated in currencies other than functional currencies of the DR BERRITEREREUTEEIE 5
respective group entities:
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET Tt
usD ESIW 635,323 22,659
HK$ BT 22,834 23,056
Euro BRIt 3,144 5,005
Renminbi (“RMB") AR (TARK, 769 3,159
TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 22. B5 R EAMEMTRIA
2023 2022
HK$"000 HK$'000
FET T
Trade payables E S EFIE 664,008 748,461
Trade payables to related companies FENRINE SENIE 139,435 -
Bills payables e R 63,893 46,659
Trade and bills payables B S ENTRIERENER 867,336 795,120
Other payables HAENTRIE 23,839 7,225
Salaries and staff-related costs payables e M8 THBERAENFIE 42,127 45,808
Accrued charges FEstER 23,789 27,566
Other tax payables HbENBIE 12,695 9,853
Accruals and other payables FEstE R REMENTIE 102,450 90,452
Trade and other payables ESREMENATIE 969,786 885,572

The average credit period of trade payables ranges from 30 days to 120 days.

E BRI AR A TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED

E2ENFAENTHEERNF30HE1208 -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (contp)
=& BRI ()

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 &Z S _=F=A=1+—HLIFE

22.

23.

24.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (CONTINUED)

The ageing analysis of trade and bills payables based on invoice date at the end
of the reporting period is as follows:

22. B REMEMTIE @)

BN RRERENRENREMRZERAH
EITZERDHTNT -

2023 2022

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHTT

0 - 30 days 0Z30H 385,129 448,782
31-60 days 31E60H 168,325 123,150
61— 90 days 612=90H 57,242 93,947
91 - 180 days 91Z180H 225,089 129,032
Over 180 days #BiB180H 31,551 209
867,336 795,120

Included in trade and other payables are the following amounts denominated
in currencies other than functional currencies of the respective group entities:

BABSEER LB B 5 LEMEN
FABELUTEBIEC SR |

2023 2022

HK$°000 HK$'000

FHET T

usD ES 47,099 32,965
HK$ BT 361 10,905
Euro BT 763 1,168
RMB PN - 4,947

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

The amounts represent deposits received from customers in relation to their
purchase orders placed with the Group. At 31 March 2023, the deposits
received from customers are contract liabilities and the Group does not expect
to refund any of the deposits.

As at 1 April 2021, contract liabilities amounted to HK$5,093,000.

The contract liabilities at 1 April 2022 and 1 April 2021 were fully recognised as
revenue for the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, respectively. When the
Group receives a deposit before commencement of the production activity, this
will give rise to contract liabilities at the inception of a contract.

23. EHaE

ZEBEREFAAEBRFHNRBIIEMS
MEFPWRNEZES RIB_=F=A=+—
H  EBEUEFREHENEEEAREETRNRAS
REEAZERS -

RZF_—FMWA—H  A%&ER5093,000
BT o

N2 _FNA—-—BR-F_—FNOA—Hz
AREBENINBEZR_=FR"F "
ZHA=T—HUERFERIER WG - HAE
ERAEEDRRABERS - BERAKRNE
RELANER -

LEASE LIABILITIES 24. HERE
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FiET
Lease liabilities payable: EMEEEE
— within one year - —FR 19,159 10,584
— more than one year but not exceeding two years - —FR HEREBEMF 22,604 10,493
— more than two years but not exceeding five years - MEM EERNBBRE 24,733 29,602
— within a period of more than five years - BIBRF 2,384 8,156
68,880 58,835
Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 months shown B OmENEE AT 218 A AEIE
under current liabilities HIEZE (19,159) (10,584)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months shown under IERBEETPIRR12ME A B EIHHN
non-current liabilities | 49,721 48,251

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied by the relevant
group entities range from 3.80% to 5.64% (2022: 2.75% to 5.64%). These
lease liabilities were measured at the present value of the lease payments that
are not yet paid.

Lease obligations are denominated in currencies which are same as the
functional currencies of the relevant group entities.

BEAE BB EEATE BN MEF R EEFR X
NF380%E564%(ZF__F:1275% =
5.64% ) ZEREEERHRISHAELTTYN
RETE -

HEAEDABREEEREEBARNE
SIfE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conT)
R e B WRMEE (o)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #HZE_F_=F=H=+—HILFE

25. BANK BORROWINGS 25. $RITIEFR
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET Tt
Bank loans RITER 1,247,755 833,670
Import/export trade borrowings #HOBSEM 100,315 228,493
1,348,070 1,062,163
Secured (note) B (fEE) 957,960 -
Unsecured Fiigiiv e 390,110 1,062,163

1,348,070 1,062,163

Note:  The bank loans are secured by pledged bank deposits, which are set out in note 21.

BiEE 0 SRATEMAEM M2 1 NIRRT E R E R IR -

The carrying amounts of the above borrowing are repayable: _FiftfEErBR EEEN T HIEAEEE

Within one year —FR 1,245,650 610,840
Within a period of more than one year but not exceeding —E P HEREBWELRE
two years 52,812 197,213
Within a period of more than two years but not exceeding R H{BRBIE A E AR
five years - 76,803
1,298,462 884,856
The carrying amounts of borrowing that contain a repayment #HHEZEREEER T TR EE TS

on demand clause (shown under current liabilities) but REVE BRI BB 5 EIREEER:

repayable*:

Within one year —FR 49,608 177,307
Total borrowings fEFREA%A 1,348,070 1,062,163
Less: Amounts due within one year shown under current B OREVEE TR —EREIEN

liabilities &% (1,295,258) (788,147)
Amount shown under non-current liabilities FEREBEE TSR 52,812 274,016
*  The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out in loan agreements. *  FEHSREIIENRNERRESNEEETEEY

R e
The bank loans and import/export trade borrowings carry variable interest rates SRITERNRE H OB ZERTIIHENRNT
range from 1.55% — 2.5% over Hong Kong Inter-bank Offered Rate (“HIBOR") REBRITRERE ("EFBBRITRZERS L) M
(2022: 2% — 2.5% over HIBOR) per annum and at the PRC loan prime rate plus 1.55%%F2.5% (ZF -4 : FBRITRERS
a fixed margin. MN2%%E2.5% ) LIKFEERREEFEINEE
¥ oo
The range of effective interest rates (which are also equal to contracted interest REERR » REBWNERCERNE (EE
rates) on the Group's borrowings as at the end of the reporting period is as RERFZE)ESEEMT *
follows.
2023 2022
Effective interest rate: HRRFK :

Fixed-rate borrowings BEEFRER 2.37% t0E5.89% N/ATRIE A
Variable-rate borrowings ST ERIZEAMER 3.00% to%5.64% 1.27% t0ZE5.65%
Included in bank borrowings are the following amounts denominated in MEBEEEERCIEEEES - RITEREREL

currencies other than functional currencies of the respective group entities: TEMIES%E
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
usD ESH 483,025 93,046
HK$ BT 89,490 531,489
EUR BT 146,612

E BRI AR A TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (contp)
=& BRI ()

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 &Z S _=F=A=1+—HLIFE

25. BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

While the Hong Kong Dollar Overnight Index Average ("HONIA") has been BEBTREIEFHEEH (B ITREEHIEE)

identified as an alternative to HIBOR, there is no plan to discontinue HIBOR. EREEEREARIAZERS » BUWEKIES

The multi-rate approach has been adopted in Hong Kong, whereby HIBOR and BIRITRIZEFREMEE - BEEEHERZH X

HONIA will co-exist. The Group's bank loan linked to HIBOR will continue till N R  BRRITRER BB ITER T

maturity and hence, not subject to transition and the exposure to interest rate BRI o AEEMREBRITRIZEST SHMAN

benchmark reform is insignificant. RITETRFEEEE - BARZEERREA X

EENFEBRIAEKX -
26. AMOUNTS DUE TO/LOANS FROM RELATED COMPANIES 26. FEMRAEQFFIA REAEAFINIER

As at 31 March 2023, the balances with related companies represents the RIF_=F=A=+—H ' BEATHRE

balances with Luxshare and its subsidiaries excluding the Group (”Luxshare VAMEBAR (NBIEAEER) ("IZEEE )

Group”) and comprises: HIFEERIEAE

(a) the loans amounting to RMB780,000,000 and USD72,900,000 (equivalent (a) AR@%780,000,0007TL 772,900,000t (4H
to approximately HK$891,012,000 and HK$572,242,000) are unsecured, &N #9891,012,0007% JT M 572 242,9005%
interest bearingat 3% per annum and repayable in March 2024, and are TT) UEGR  AHEIRE  REFIE3% B0
included as current liabilities; %EMZEZIEEEH HiE - WESFARBE

=N

(b) the loan amounting HK$498,998,000 is unsecured, interest bearing at (b) 498,998,000 LAY 71 A I » 1%
3% per annum and repayable in December 2025, and is included as non- FERE3I%FEW AR _S_AF T AR
current liabilities; o WEFFASEREIAE |

(0) theinterest payables amounting to RMB667,000 and USD 19,000 (equivalent (0 AERM667,0007T K 19,000 7T (M ER K
to approximately HK$762,000 and HK$145,000) and HK$1,025,000, and 762,000 7T & 145,000/ ) LA 1,025,000
are included as current liabilities; and BITHENFIE - EstASEREIEE &

(d) the remaining amounts due to the related companies of HK$508,328,000 (d %T;Eﬁ A58 /A EI 7/ 1E508,328,00058 7T
are unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand. AEIRIR  ANEFEMIREREE -

The carrying amounts of above loans are repayable: FREFRMREEATEE
2023
HK$'000
FHET
Within one year RAEB—ENIEA 1,465,186
Within a period of more than one year but not exceeding two years — DI F  {BREMRERIRE -
Within a period of more than two years but not exceeding five years ML L » {(BR3E A A HE 498,998
1,964,184
Less: Amounts due within one year shown under current liabilities 35 : WABI&EE T 23R —FERNZIHARIE (1,465,186)
Amount shown under non-current liabilities RIEREEEIR T 2FIMFKIE 498,998

Included in loans from related companies are the following amounts BEBEEESRE IR EI, - REEEENT
denominated in currencies other than functional currencies of the respective MNERBFEL NEES (G %8 -

group entities:

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FiET

UsD E3w 572,387 -
HK$ BT 500,023 -

27. BRERIEERE
DTARERNFERNEEEEHRIEAE (BE)
N H#EeE)

27. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

The followings are the major deferred tax liabilities (assets) recognised and
movements thereon during the year:

Revaluation
surplus on Land  Accelerated tax Other timing
and Buildings depreciation Tax loss difference Total
TR . b i, )
BFELRER INERIBHE HER ] ] iact
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT T T T
(note)
(bgst)
At 1 April 2021 R5”"—#MF—H 81,068 11,113 - (649) 91,532
Charge to profit or loss (note 12) Bk (MiEE12) - 6,362 - 765 7127
Credit to other comprehensive STAEMRERA
income (8,497) - - - (8,497)
Exchange realignment A% 3,627 (107) - (191) 3,329
At 31 March 2022 R_BE__&FE=F=1—H 76,198 17,368 - (75) 93,491
(Credit) charge to profit or loss (Gt AER) BERR
(note 12) (frizE12 (878) 13,111 (3,830) (5,888) 2,515
Debit to other comprehensive MREEMRERA
income 660 - - - 660
Exchange realignment (B A% (6,663) 687 5 33 (5,938)
At 31 March 2023 RIE_=F=F=1—H 69,317 31,166 (3,825) (5.930) 90,728

Note:

ZE R R AT E R AREER
HESEREAMEENRBYE -
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The amount represents the tax effect of timing difference of revenue recognition
and timing difference of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (contD)

= B B EmRMEE (m)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 &ZE_ZS_=F=A=1+—HILEE

27. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

At the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group has unused tax losses of
HK$34,131,000 (2022: HK$16,328,000) available for offset against future
profits. A deferred tax assets has been recognised in respective of approximately
HK$17,585,000 (2022: Nil) of such loss. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of the remaining losses approximately HK$16,546,000
(2022: HK$16,328,000) due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.
Included in unused tax losses are losses of HK$22,256,000 (2022: HK$6,843,000)
that will expire in five years. The remaining unused tax losses may be carried
forward indefinitely.

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed on dividends declared
in respect of profits earned by the PRC subsidiary from 1 January 2008 onwards.
Deferred taxation has not been provided for in the consolidated financial
statements in respect of temporary differences attributable to accumulated
profits of the PRC subsidiary amounting to HK$465,206,000 (2022:
HK$295,059,000) for the year ended 31 March 2023, as the Group is able to
control the timing of reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable
that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

28. SHARE CAPITAL

The share capital as at 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2023
represents the share capital of the Company. The followings are the details of
the share capital of the Company:

7. BERIEEE (=)

REE_B-_SE-A=+—HILEE &
R T

%341moom%mc_7:::¢ 16,328,000
BIT) EREEBRDBER uﬂlﬁzéi%
M7%5mwym_§::¢ ﬂ) *

ﬂé/ﬁnﬂﬂéﬁﬁ’JTTﬁ‘T M jtﬂ?)iﬁf?TEﬂa
16,546,0003 7T (— % — —4F : 16,328,00037T)
BREXRBEE - st AXBHRIBEBNE
$8422,256,000/7T (ZF "4 : 6,843,000/
7T) BRAFEREW - BT ARSEARIEEEY
MR o

XE%ZEPIJL%% SRE  BPEMBEATRC

NE—R _HZTﬁﬁﬁf?/ﬁniFU/ﬁgéB’]HQEZE@(
fﬁﬂm o PEMIBARNBE _S_=F=
=+—HBLEEEA465206,0008 T (-
£F 1 295,059,00058 7T ) 2 Ratim Al fE(L & b5 =
B WEN A BRI L IEER IERE
EREALEES %@%*%I%E##%E%%@E’Jﬂﬁﬁﬁﬂaz
ERS AR ARSI A T8 RS RN B o

(huks 4)*51

28. A
W_FE_—FmWA—RA - _F__F=RA=+—
AN S =F=B=1+—HZBRAERQATZ

A o ITAARARZRAFFS

Number of
shares Amount
# SF
HK$ HK$'000
BT FHIT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each SREE.OETTEER
Authorised: EE
At 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022, RIB_—FENA—-[ ZF__F=A=+—AK
and 31 March 2023 ST =#=RF=1+—H 3,000,000,000 30,000,000 30,000
Issued and fully paid: BRI
At 1 April 2021 N_ZE_—FmA—H 1,840,432,000 18,404,320 18,404
Exercise of share options ﬁ{@%ﬂ%& 105,520,000 1,055,200 1,056
At 31 March 2022 and 2023 TR TERTST=F=A=+—H 1,945,952,000 19,459,520 19,460
29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTION 29. DRI RRBIR 5
2018 Share Option Scheme —ER—\FRERIEETE
The Company’s share option scheme was adopted pursuant to a resolution ZF’L\\TE’JE%H&%&FQ EREZF-N\F—RA"+
passed on 24 January 2018 (the “2018 Share Option Scheme”). The 2018 Share LE’J/}’%:’%*?&%% (r_%’é NIRRT

Option Scheme was terminated pursuant to a resolution passed on 21 March
2023.

The purpose of the 2018 Share Option Scheme is to attract and retain the
best available personnel, to provide additional incentive to eligible participant(s)
including employees (full-time and part-time), directors, consultants, advisers,
distributors, contractors, suppliers, agents, customers, business partners or
service providers of the Group and to promote the success of the business of
the Group.

The maximum entitlement of each eligible participant under the 2018 Share
Option Scheme should be (1) not to exceed 1% of the shares in issue in any
12-month period unless approved by the shareholders of the Company; and (2)
share options granted to substantial shareholder or independent non-executive
directors or their respective associates in any one year exceeding 0.1% of the
shares in issue and with a value in excess of HK$5,000,000 must be approved
by the shareholders of the Company.

Share options granted must be taken up within one month of the date of grant
upon payment of HK$1 on acceptance of the offer, which shall be paid within
7 days from the offer date. Share options may be exercised at any time during
a period commencing on or after the date on which the option is accepted and
granted and expiring on a date to be notified by the board of directors to each
grantee which shall not be more than 10 years from the date on which the
option is accepted and granted.

E BRI AR A TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED

%lJJ) ° —/\FRB R EffE?J%_%E::fE
=R :—1— HEBRIRRRE L

—F- \FEREFSEERSI MR ERBE
AE - ARERBEE  BEFEEES (28
&%Hﬁ) EE B KA DiEE AR
7 e KB FF - mEBARBHE
Zgﬁh{ %ﬁ%ﬁi%ﬂ&&?&iﬂ$%¥i‘%§wﬂi

REZS— N\FHERESE > B25EK2HE
ZEE%EELBE;E WEA+ @R BEAEmE %
TRAPZ1% @ EEARQTRERERIER
FQREM—FER » BFEBREXBEILIEH
TESARESENBBACBRIERBDRT
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29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTION (CONTINUED) 29. LB AT IR 5 (42)

2018 Share Option Scheme (continued)

The exercise price should be the higher of: (i) the closing price of the shares of
the Company as quoted in the HK Stock Exchange on date of grant, which must
be a business day; (i) the average closing price of the shares of the Company
as quoted on the HK Stock Exchange for the 5 business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the shares of the
Company on the date of grant.

On 24 August 2018, the directors of the Company announced that 88,992,000
share options (the “Old Options”) to subscribe for ordinary shares of the Company
of HK$0.01 each were offered to be granted to 37 eligible persons, subject to
acceptance of the eligible persons, pursuant to the Company’s 2018 Share
Option Scheme.

On 7 August 2020, the directors of the Company announced that 65,328,000
share options (the “New Options”) to subscribe for ordinary shares of the
Company of HK$0.01 each were offered to be granted to 50 eligible persons,
subject to acceptance of the eligible persons, pursuant to the Company’s 2018
Share Option Scheme.

Details of 2018 Share Option Scheme were as follows.

(@) New Options
The New Options were granted on 7 August 2020 with an aggregate
estimated fair value of HK$7,187,000.

1/3 of the New Options can be exercised after 18 months of the date
of grant (i.e. 7 February 2022), further 1/3 of the New Options can be
exercised after 30 months of the date of grant (i.e. 7 February 2023), and
the remaining of the New Options can be exercised after 42 months of the
date of grant (i.e. 7 February 2024) and all of these New Options will be
exercisable until 6 August 2030.

The closing price of the Company’s shares immediately before 7 August
2020, the date of grant was HK$0.320.

(b) Old Options
The Old Options were granted on 24 August 2018 with an aggregate
estimated fair value of HK$14,496,000.

1/3 of the options can be exercised after 18 months of the date of grant
(i.e. 24 February 2020), further 1/3 of the options can be exercised after 30
months of the date of grant (i.e. 24 February 2021), and the remaining of
the options can be exercised after 42 months of the date of grant (i.e. 24
February 2022) and all of these options will be exercisable until 23 August
2028.

The closing price of the Company'’s shares immediately before 24 August
2018, the date of grant was HK$0.349.

At 31 March 2022, the number of shares in respect of which options had
been granted and remained outstanding under the 2018 Share Option
Scheme was, in aggregate, 45,296,000, representing 2.33% of the shares
of the Company in issue at that date. At 31 March 2022, 1,984,000 share
options are vested and exercisable.

ZE— \FREIRESTE ()

ﬁ@it“iﬁ%?ﬁl BE()EHES(EALEH)
ﬂ/\ﬁﬁﬁﬁiw/&?ﬂ%ﬁm%ﬁﬁ (S35

Hd El HRISEE X HNEBHIMATHRAAT K

ga@%@uﬁ% R B EBAA R BRI E
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o tﬁ%z&@aa@:%—/\ﬁaﬁﬂ&%ﬁu A
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BAQABNZZ— \FERETE - m5086
B ATIE2E 765,328,000/ Al R EERE
E0.01 B IT R A/ B) 48 A 8 e (TS BE RS
") '\Eéiaﬁéﬁtﬂl\i}ixﬁﬁvﬁﬁ o
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 &ZE_ZS_=F=A=1+—HILEE

29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTION (CONTINUED) 29. DR AMTRREIR B ()

2018 Share Option Scheme (continued) ZER—\FERERTE )

(b) Old Options (continued) (b) EREHEE )
During the year ended 31 March 2023, a total of 45,296,000 share options BEZEF=F=-A=1+—HIFE  &#
were cancelled on 19 April 2022 with a payment made by an intermediate 45,296,000 R ER S " " FMA+
holding company. RESE - WA —APEZERATNR
The Group recognised the share based payments of HK$2,156,000 (2022: AREFNREE S _=F=A=+—HitHE
HK$4,335,000) for the year ended 31 March 2023. ERERLUE RS FR2,156,0005% T (ZF -

£ 1 4,335,0007T) °

The following table discloses movements of the Company’s share options TEREANATNEENAEFRSHEE"S
held by directors of the Company and employees of the Group under 2018 — R RS AN E B AR R A
Share Option Scheme during the periods: E’Jﬁiﬂ/: B ’

31 March 2023 TS =g =—H=+—H

Number of share option
BiiE"R
Exercise price Balance at Cancelled during Balance at
Date of grant per share Exercisable period 1.4.2022 the year 31.3.2023
) ) R . _ _WZECEE
bl =1 BiRTiEE T mA—BRYkEER FREE =A=T-BNEER
Employees E5
2482018 HK$0.34975 7T 24.2.2020-23.8.2028 168,000 (168,000) -
2482018 HK$0.34935 7T 24.2.2021-23.8.2028 168,000 (168,000) -
2482018 HK$0.3497%5 7T 24.2.2022 -23.8.2028 168,000 (168,000) -
7.8.2020 HK$0.3207%7C 7.2.2022 - 6.8.2030 1,480,000 (1,480,000) -
7.8.2020 HK$0.32057C 7.2.2023 - 6.8.2030 21,656,000 (21,656,000) -
7.8.2020 HK$0.320% 7T 7.2.2024-6.8.2030 21,656,000 (21,656,000) -
45,296,000 (45,296,000) -
31 March 2022 I HF=H=1+—H
Number of share option
Exercise price Balance at Cancelled during Balance at
Date of grant per share Exercisable period " %4.2021 the year " 31 3. 20%&
BhAH BRITEE 16 MA—RivEE EnfTft =R= -I- EE%
Executive directors HiTEE
2482018 HK$0.34938 7T 24.2.2020-23.8.2028 6,672,000 (6,672,000) -
2482018 HK$0.34975 7T 24.2.2021-23.8.2028 6,672,000 (6,672,000) -
2482018 HK$0.34935 7T 24.2.2022 -23.8.2028 6,672,000 (6,672,000) -
Non-executive director FHTEZ
2482018 HK$0.34975 7T 24.2.2020-23.8.2028 608,000 (608,000) -
24.8.2018 HK$0.34935 7T 24.2.2021-23.8.2028 608,000 (608,000) -
2482018 HK$0.349:8 7T 24.2.2022 -23.8.2028 608,000 (608,000) -
Independent non-executive directors BUFHiTEE
24.8.2018 HK$0.349/5 7T 24.2.2020 - 23.8.2028 1,824,000 (1,824,000) -
2482018 HK$0.34938 7T 24.2.2021-23.8.2028 1,824,000 (1,824,000) -
2482018 HK$0.34975 7T 24.2.2022 -23.8.2028 1,824,000 (1,824,000) -
Employees 5
2482018 HK$0.34938 7T 24.2.2020-23.8.2028 19,224,000 (19,056,000) 168,000
2482018 HK$0.34975 7T 24.2.2021-23.8.2028 19,656,000 (19,488,000) 168,000
24.8.2018 HK$0.34935 7T 24.2.2022 -23.8.2028 19,656,000 (19,483,000) 168,000
7.8.2020 HK$0.320:5 7T 7.2.2022 - 6.8.2030 21,656,000 (20,176,000) 1,480,000
7.8.2020 HK$0.320%8 7T 7.2.2023-6.8.2030 21,656,000 - 21,656,000
7.8.2020 HK$0.32077T 7.2.2024-6.8.2030 21,656,000 - 21,656,000
150,816,000 (105,520,000) 45,296,000

-44 E BRI AR A TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
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29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTION (CONTINUED) 29. LU FE9ZE 5 ()

2023 Share Option Scheme
The company has adopted a new share option scheme pursuant to a resolution
passed on 21 March 2023 (the “2023 Share Option Scheme”).

The purpose of the 2023 Share Option Scheme is to recognise the contribution
or future contribution of the Eligible Participants (as defined below) for their
contribution to the Group by granting options to them as incentives or rewards
and to attract, retain and motivate high-calibre Eligible Participants in line with
the performance goals of the Group and the related entities of the Company.

The Eligible Participants of the 2023 Share Option Scheme include:

(@) the directors, chief executive and employees of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries (including persons who are granted options under the 2023
Share Option Scheme as an inducement to enter into employment contracts
with the Company or any of its subsidiaries) (“Employee Participants”);

(b) any persons (whether a natural person, a corporate entity or otherwise)
who provide services to the Group on a continuing and recurring basis in its
ordinary and usual course of business which are in the interest of the long-
term growth of the Group, including (a) suppliers of services to any member
of the Group; and (b) advisors (professional or otherwise) or consultants to
any area of business or business development of any member of the Group
(“Service Providers"”); and

(c) the directors, chief executives and employees of the holding companies,
fellow subsidiaries or associated companies of the Company (“Related
Entity Participants”).

Employee Participants, Service Providers and Related Entity Participants, are
collectively known as the “Eligible Participants”.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon the exercise of all options
to be granted under the 2023 Share Option Scheme and all options and awards
to be granted under any other share option schemes and share award schemes
of the Company shall not in aggregate exceed 194,595,200, representing 10%
of shares in issue on the adoption date unless the Company obtains approval
from the shareholders of the Company. The total number of shares which may
be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted to Service Providers shall not
exceed 19,459,520 shares, representing 1% of the total number of the shares
in issue on the adoption date unless the Company obtains approval from the
shareholders of the Company.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options and awards granted to each Eligible Participant in any
twelve-month period up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the number
of the total issued shares as at the date of grant. Where options are proposed
to be granted to an independent non-executive director or a substantial
shareholder, or any of their respective associates in any twelve-month period
up to the date of grant shall not exceed 0.1% of the relevant class of shares in
issue. Any further grant of share options and awards granted and to be granted
to such person in excess of the above limit shall be subject to the issue of a
circular by the Company and the approval of the shareholders of the Company
in a general meeting.

Share options granted must be taken up within twenty-one business date of the
date of grant upon payment of HK$1 per option on acceptance of the offer.

An option must be held by the option holder for at least twelve months before
the option can be exercised unless a shorter vesting period may be granted to
the employees at the discretion of the board of directors. No options have been
granted under 2023 Share Option Scheme since its adoption.
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29.

30.

31.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTION (CONTINUED)

2023 Share Option Scheme (ConTINUED)

The exercise price shall be determined on the date of grant by the directors,
which shall be at least the highest of: (i) the closing price of the shares of the
Company as stated in the HK Stock Exchange on the date of grant, which must
be a trading day; (ii) the average of the closing prices of the shares of the
Company as stated in the HK Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for five
trading days immediately preceding the date of grant; (iii) the nominal value of
the shares of the Company on the date of grant.

Subject to early termination by the Company in a general meeting or otherwise
in accordance with the terms of the 2023 Share Option Scheme, the 2023 Share
Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years commencing
on the adoption date which is 21 March 2023.

At 31 March 2023, there is no outstanding options.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

29. LU MI RIS ()

“ERZFRBIRIEEE )
ITREAKKRIEHAMETE - AEARLUTE
BPREE  ()VEBBNEL A8 (LA
BRZH) BINARTRDUHE ; ()REER
H HBRI L ER S BN E BB RFTHE A RER
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R H B E(E -

“F=FBRESFSERMAM IR =
FZATH R R TERERRER - WA
HAATRBRRAGHRE - _=FERES
BIMBEFIR R -

ATETZF=A=+—H  BEBRERET
f& o
30. BARKIE
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET

Capital expenditure in respect of the acquisition of property,
plant and equipment contracted but not provided for in the
consolidated financial statements

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme for all qualifying
employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the scheme are held separately
from those of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees. The Group
contributes 5% of the relevant payroll costs to the scheme, subject to a cap
of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000 of employees, which contribution
is matched by the employees. The Group also makes voluntary contribution in
addition to the mandatory contribution.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries in the PRC are members of a state-
managed retirement benefits scheme operated by the government of the PRC.
The subsidiary is required to contribute a specified percentage of payroll costs to
the retirement benefits scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to the retirement benefits scheme is to make the specified
contributions.

The total expenses recognised in profit or loss of HK$65,216,000 (2022:
HK$52,942,000) for the year ended 31 March 2023 represent contributions
paid and payable to these plans by the Group at rates specified in the rules of
the plans.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, forfeited contributions of HK$64,000
(2022: Nil) under these retirement benefits schemes were used by the Group to
reduce its existing level of contributions. As at 31 March 2023, the Group had
no forfeited contributions available to reduce its contributions in future years
(2022: Nil).

E BRI AR A TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED

BERERITNERNRINGETE
RAR(EH BRI ~ BB R
RIBNEARFT

20,686 5,725

31. BARTEFIETES

AEEAETENIEaERESSEAHMEAR
B8 - AR BNEEDEAEENEEDH
FA THRENRIFEAMEHNES - A5E
MZat B SHBABRIS % ERAER - T LR
AEESRBRALE30,00087T  BREAMHRTIHE
BEMER—B - FRAGIMEAFRS - AEET
fEH B RAfLR -

REERTENBARNRESRTEBNAE
MR ERRABANABINKE - RBEARA
BT ERARIEE A2 IR KB AT BTN
REBRNEE - AEBERINEFIEE TR
—EERFRIEEMR -

REBE_S_=F=-HA=+—HILEE  £X&
BERZEE R T AN ERm LS EIE
HENRENHHEANEEHERNAZEER
65,216,000580(—F ~ "4 :52,942,0005#7T)

BE_S_=F-A=t—HILFE  AEEE
ERZEFRNEN B THE R HEFR64,0007%
T(CERTF ) DIRREREHIUKT - 10
“RCZF=ZR=TR  AEENED KB
AR RIRBEFIER(CF 6 )



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conT)
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32. ACQUISITION OF BUSINESS 32. BT

On 31 May 2021, a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered
into a sales and purchase agreement with GP Industries Limited, who owns
38.13% Linkz Industries and is a connected party of the Company, to acquire
100% of the entire issued share capital of Time Interconnect Wire Technology
Limited (“Time Wire Technology”) at a cash consideration of HK$69,000,000.
Time Wire Technology and its subsidiary, Time Interconnect Wire Technology
(Huizhou) Limited (“Time Wire Huizhou”), are principally engaged in the
manufacturing and trading of automotive wire harness. The acquisition of
business was completed on 31 August 2021 and accounted for using the
acquisition method.

Acquisition-related costs amounting to HK$ 1,388,000 had been excluded from
the consideration transferred and had been recognised as an expense during
the year ended 31 March 2022 and included in the “professional fees and costs
relating to acquisition of business and business restructuring” line item in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. There
was a gain on bargain purchase amounting to HK$3,201,000 arising from the
acquisition, which was a result of fair values of net assets acquired exceeded the
fair value of the consideration paid.

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of acquisition:

RIB_—FHA=+—H AQBENEES
BENBAREGPTEBRAR (FHEELILE
38.13% 1% » WhAAATNEEES) I EE
W& DUBEEBRRRRIEERAR (TEBRR
R ) 2EEBITHRAMNI100% » RERER
69,000,000/&7T - [EBERR L LEHB AT E
BRERE (EMN) BRAT (TEBREREIMN)
TERERERBEMRENE S - WEXDE
RIB_—FEN\A=+—HERLRBUEEEIA
iR o

I B 8 B8 5% A 1,388,000 58 TT A S 5F A\ d# s 4%
B TEERABE_ZS__F=B=1+—H
EFERIRTAGEESEEMEEKE R
TERWEEENESEENEXER AR, 1B
B o REWEENZEERE B U %3,201,0005%8
JT O JYHAREWEBEESEATEBHENRE
NFEFTE ©

USRI E E N FERIEME -

HK$'000

FHT
Property, plant and equipment W2 ~ BB MR 11,734
Right-of-use assets FREEE 14,688
Inventories 5E 32,026
Trade and other receivables (note a) B2 NEMPERGRIE (Hista) 82,406
Bank balances and cash BITHRARNIRS 13,177
Trade and other payables 5 REMENTIE (44,363)
Amounts due to related companies (note b) FENTBREABIFIE (fisEb) (22,344)
Lease liabilities HE&aE (14,785)
Taxation payable FENREIE (338)

72,201
Gain on bargain purchase SRS 58 (3,201)

69,000
Net cash outflow on acquisition: EEEAE

HK$'000

FHT
Cash e 69,000
Less: Bank balances and cash acquired B FTSRITAMREIRS (13,177)

55,823
Notes: Mzt -
(a) The receivables acquired (which principally comprised trade receivables amounting to (a) FAUEE B H3/AE 482,406,000/ TCHY FT1S FEWGK

HK$66,398,000) with a fair value of HK$82,406,000 at the date of acquisition had
gross contractual amounts of HK$82,406,000. No contractual cash flow was expected
not to be collected.

B(XEBEEZENRT IE66,398,OOO%75)E’JA
KIS 582,406,000/ 70 © TEHISUEL R EBAAY
HEmeE -

(b) The amounts due to related companies were due to GP Industries Limited and its (b) WEHE@gQ\j RIE s FEAT GP L 2H R B S E [t
subsidiaries. The amounts were settled after the acquisition during the year ended 31 BATRNGIE - ZEHECNE8E_S__F=H

March 2022. =t— Eﬁfﬁﬁuﬁzﬁﬁéima o

Impact of acquisition on the results of the Group

Included in the profit for the year ended 31 March 2022 was HK$3,986,000
attributable to the additional business generated by Time Wire Technology
and Time Wire Huizhou. Revenue for the year ended 31 March 2022 includes
HK$88,270,000 generated from Time Wire Technology and Time Wire Huizhou.

W EIEHAEEEENZE
HE_F - F-A=t+—HIFE&MNEEE
%ﬁ?ﬁﬂ&&@%ﬁsﬁﬁﬂIPﬁFEEG%Eﬁbéﬁi%@
153,986,000/ - HE_F__F=A=+—
B I FEW S B IEER R R L ERARREM
FirEE4£ 1988,270,0005 7T ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conT)
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FZAZT—HLEFE

32. ACQUISITION OF BUSINESS (CONTINUED)

33.

Impact of acquisition on the results of the Group (continued)

Had the acquisition of Time Wire Technology and Time Wire Huizhou been
completed on 1 April 2021, revenue for the year ended 31 March 2022 of the
Group would have been HK$3,674,265,000, and the profit for the year ended
31 March 2022 attributable to the owners would have been HK$169,026,000.
The pro-forma information was for illustrative purposes only and has not
necessarily an indication of revenue and results of operations of the Group that
actually would have been achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1
April 2021, nor was it intended to be a projection of future results.

In determining the ‘pro-forma’ revenue and profit of the Group had Time Wire
Technology and Time Wire Huizhou been acquired at the beginning of the year
ended 31 March 2022, the directors of the Company calculated depreciation
and amortisation of property, plant and equipment based on the recognised
amounts of property, plant and equipment at the date of the acquisition.

32.

B 7% ()

W EIEHAEEEENZE @)

HEBRERBENERGREMNOKEEETD
AZE_—FNA—HBHRER AEEHEHEC
ST THF=—A=T—HILEFENKRZARES
3,674,265,00057C * MBE_FT__F=A=
+—BLEERBNADEE AN EES
169,026,0005%73 o EEERMEFHBAZ - R

RIASBEE_S_—FHUA—HERBES
IEE’JIE/R'F;WZWE SRV M B 0 IR
REHERREBAITON -

BEAEEGERE_S_"F=A=1+—HI%F
EA R E R AR RB B K EREREBIMNNIENR
TS L Wk SOs A K@Té%@?ﬂﬁl
BHHE®RANYE BENAREBSETED
% BB NRBIITE R

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 33. [ AR5
(@) In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in the (@) BRI E M IFmRFTEMILAIRBIIRZ ML
consolidated financial statements, the Group entered into the following BRAM - ANESE B N7 T AR B DUSMNI AN ER [ B
transactions with related parties or connected persons of the Group other FEEATEI IR S (320 ™SI EE(b)
than the Luxshare Group (as disclosed in note(b) below): Frigse) a0 F -
2023 2022
Relationships EA® HK$'000 HK$'000
Nature of transactions XHNE FET THTT
The then fellow subsidiary (note i) ERNERMMEBLAS (BT )
Sales tHE 155 846
The then ultimate holding company (note ii) '“"H?E’Jrﬂ‘?? %3 7 (BfEEii)
Service fee R¥5E 9,142 11,014
Expenses relating to short-term lease ﬁ@%@ﬂ;ﬁ%ﬂ%ﬂ’ﬁﬂi’i 2,438 3,236
The then related company (notes iii) EIFRIRFELD B (B EEiii)
Sales SHE 949 54
Purchase KB 1 5
Utility fee KEE 3,124 1,774
Expenses relating to short-term lease BREBHENRS - 243
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HESENFI SR 37 17
Repayment of lease liabilities EEAEEE 984 -
Sundry fee paid ERMEER 25 -
Notes: B
(i) Sales to Lighthouse Technologies (Huizhou) Limited, which was a then fellow (i) FEMNHIKIEAE ENBBRATRFHIEE

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

BE =

subsidiary before the completion of acquisition by Luxshare Precision Limited on
16 March 2022.

Service fee and expense relating to short-term lease paid to Linkz Industries, which
was the then ultimate holding company before the completion of acquisition by
Luxshare Precision Limited on 16 March 2022.

Mr. Paul Lo, a former non-executive director of the Company, is the controlling
shareholder of the related company, Huizhou Light Engine Limited. The Group
entered into new lease agreements for the use of leasehold properties with the
related company for 1 to 3 years during the year ended 31 March 2022. The Group
recognised an addition of right-of-use asset and lease liability of HK$2,101,000
and HK$2,101,000 respectively. Lease liability as at 31 March 2022 amounted to
HK$1,655,000.

Mr. Paul Lo was resigned as a non-executive director on 19 April 2022 while
Mr. Paul Lo is the controlling shareholder of the then fellow subsidiary, the then
ultimate holding company and the then related company, which are no longer
the related parties of the Group since 19 April 2022. Under Chapter 14A of
Listing Rules, the associate of director in the past twelve months is connected
person to the Company.

Bl BR 2 A TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED

=
+7xH Juﬂﬁfﬁﬁﬁﬂ’\jﬂﬁlgﬁmﬂzﬁuﬁf‘ﬁﬂ’]
RIAMEAR -

(i) E%I%i{#ﬂ&i‘%%&ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%@%ﬁ%ﬁ’ﬂﬁﬁ
CEETERTES T A+ HIH
1eE ﬁﬁﬁ@\—ﬁl&a%ﬂ:@@HU/EEMH%E'JEQF\?;EQ/\

EI*WH

NAHIEIFRITER B PR AL RBEENT
d‘lmﬁﬁt%ﬂﬁ@ﬁﬁﬁf\ﬁzmﬁ&ﬁ o R

ZHE=A=+—HIEFE  xEEH®
%E%%%E’Jﬁ)ﬂiﬁigﬁu/}mw%ﬂﬂ Siihid
RP—Z2=F  AEERREHAEEERBER
%ﬂ%‘%{;ﬁ%l 752,101 000%75&2 101,000
TR E_—E=B=t+—AMHEEaEs
1,655,0005# 7T ©

EffEA N — 2 _ —FNA+AHBEF
PITESR  MEMRELILEFNEARNEA
8 BRRKIZERARREFNEEAR (5
R _EMATNRRATEAS KB
73) ZEERRCR - RB EHARAEI14AT - B
ERBETERACBRARAARZBEEA

(iii)

|+H Eh

a0

(iv)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (contD)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #ZE_Z "=

33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(b) Transactions and balances with Luxshare Group for the year ended 31 (b)

March 2023

FZAZT—HIEFE

33. AR5 ()

BE_m_—f
BfR 5 RRE

ZA=t—HILEEE

RVAGHES

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in the
consolidated financial statements, the Group entered into the following
transactions with Luxshare Group. The majority of these transactions also

BRINER G BB IR R E A AR D BRI R 2 Ko it
RN AEBBETNEBTNRZMT -
REDZEXZTERFERERS (&

constitute continuing connected transactions as defined under Chapter B B AIE14AE):

14A of Listing Rules: -

2023
HK$'000
FET

Sales (note ii) SHE (It 19,642

Purchase (note ii) B8 (FIsEi) 2,410,945

Manufacturing cost paid ENEERAE 1,998

Utility fee paid ENKEE 6,903

Interest expenses on lease liabilities %ﬂ%%{éﬂ’yﬂ%%ﬁi 514

Repayment of lease liabilities (note ii) BEBEEaE (i) 5,606

Interest expenses arising from loans from related companies B RS AR SRR SR 16,305

Sundry fee paid ENHEER 6,374

Additions of property, plant and equipment (note ii) NBWE ~ KBNS () 31,107

Proceeds from loans from related companies (note i) KRB B%E@T%TAB’]}EEF =18 (MyETi) 3,749,630

Repayment of loans from related companies BERKREEEARNER 1,785,613

The outstanding balances related to transactions with Luxshare Group are HITMEBNR ZE BN EARERGRETA

included in the following accounts captions summarised as follows: DITERE - SRt T ¢

2023
HK$'000
FHET

Trade receivables B ZEW RIS 10,355

Other receivables HthEWRIE 6

Deposits and prepayments e RIENTIE 414

Trade payables E S ENFIE 139,435

Lease liabilities HEaE 19,511

Amounts due to related companies (note 26) FESEBEARRIFRIE (MI5E26) 508,328

Loans from related companies (note 26) REBEARNER (15526 ) 1,964,184

Notes: 5T -

(i) During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group has signed several loan () BE_S_=H=F=4+—HIFE>
agreements with Luxshare Group for working capital of the Group at an AEFCHUMEERAERAHARE
aggregate amount of RMB1,800,000,000 (equivalent to HK$2,058,660,000), 1,800,000,000 Jt (8 & 7% 2,058,660,000 &
USD151,400,000 (equivalent to HK$1,191,972,000) and HK$498,998,000. TE) 151,400 OOO%E(@%E@LI%BZZ,OOO
Interests were charged ranged from 0.1% per annum to 3.5% per annum for HBIT) &498,998,0005%7‘58’\]%E;ﬁﬂﬁ%ﬂl
these borrowings. EEHBE - ZFEBHRRENENF0NRE

35%:5H8. -

(i) The Group has made sales of cable products to, purchases of inventories and (iy BE_S_=F=A *‘f'—Bﬂ:ﬂ’:F* ZF%I

acquisition of property, plant and equipment from, repayment of lease liabilities
to Luxshare Group during the year ended 31 March 2023, which constitute

continuing connected transactions to the Group.

Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of key management personnel was as follows:

EREREESEER -
R~ BB N 0 WA L
E8E HERAKENFERERS -

(0 XEEBAEWS

FEEEASHMENT

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Short-term employee benefits mHEERA 27,521 29,865
Equity-settled share-based payments RS IS E LU A B R AR IR 888 1,894
Retirement benefits schemes contributions RINER TR 1,640 1,709
30,049 33,468

The remuneration of key management personnel is determined by the FTEEEASNMES I RTFMEE S KINIT

remuneration committee and the executive directors, having regard to the

performance of individuals and market trends.

EEZREAXRRLTZEBMEE °
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34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY 34. AR BB
The statement of financial position of the Company is as follows: KANBRN AR RFTAOT -
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFET FHT
Non-current assets ERENEE
Investment in subsidiaries REBAREE 805,436 805,436
Property, plant and equipment EINY NG 8,394 .
Right of use assets FREEE 6,503 -
Rental deposits HEZ® 771 -
Amounts due from subsidiaries NGRS E] - 87,237
821,104 892,673
Current assets MENEE
Other receivables HAEUWERIA 1,046 1,095
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEW B /AT FIE - 55,938
Bank balances and cash IRITHMRNIRS 2,340 18,259
3,386 75,292
Current liabilities MENEE
Accruals EstER 2,399 2,395
Lease liabilities HEaE 2,785 -
Amount due to subsidiaries FERT B /AT FIA 409,725 137,248
Bank borrowings IBITRER 9,917 181,474
424,826 321,117
Net current liabilities mEBEEFE (421,440) (245,825)
Total assets less current liabilities WEERREEE 399,664 646,848
Non-current liabilities ERENEE
Lease liabilities HEBE 4,458 -
Bank borrowings IRITRER 29,965 274,016
34,423 274,016
Net assets BEFE 365,241 372,832
Capital and reserves BARERf#fE
Share capital & 19,460 19,460
Reserves (note) & (BET) 345,781 353,372
Total equity Mt 365,241 372,832
Note: FfsE -
Share
Share Capital options Accumulated
premium reserve reserve profits Total
B RE BRI L eEdE RECEF st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHIT FHIT FHET FHT FHIT
(note a)
(Bftzka)
On 1 April 2021 RIZF_—FmMB—H 272,137 7,324 14,644 18,784 312,889
Profit and total comprehensive  £E U FI X 2 HIUM A8 58
income for the year - - - 47,008 47,008
Dividends paid [SENP::ESS - - - (46,046) (46,046)
Recognition of equity-settled &4 E DU /R ELHE
share-based payments RIS TR AR - - 4,335 - 4,335
Exercise of share options 1T RERGHE 51,348 - (16,162) - 35,186
At 31 March 2022 R_S__#=R=+-A 323,485 7,324 2,817 19,746 353,372
Profit and total comprehensive  £E AR & 2 U a5 4B 58
income for the year - - - 19,443 19,443
Dividends paid e - - - (29,190) (29,190)
Recognition of equity-settled &4 E UKD B R
share-based payments RN TR 2 HERR - - 2,156 - 2,156
Cancellation of share option SHEHEEAG R - - (4,973) 4,973 -
At 31 March 2023 RZZB_=#=B=+—~H 323,485 7,324 - 14,972 345,781
Note a: The amounts represent capital contribution from Linkz Industries, the then ffizta : SREIRKE ERFNRLIERATELTENT
ultimate holding company. z -

-50 E R Rl B R A TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conT)
=& BRI ()

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 &Z S _=F=A=1+—HLIFE

35. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 35. X EMBARRIGFIE
AN _B_=FA_EFE__F=HB=+—H
FENMBARMNEBAT ¢

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries held by the Company as at 31 March
2023 and 2022 are as follows:

Nominal
Place of value of issued Proportion of nominal value
incorporation/ share capital/ of issued share capital held
Name of subsidiary establishment reglstered_capltal by the Company Principal activities
Eiﬂ_ﬂﬁﬁﬁ/ E?’H‘rﬂﬂk/ ARARHBERTRA
L=UNGEA ] PRIIHE AMELAEE 82 TEEHR
2023 2022
Directly held
ERAER
Time Interconnect Investment Limited BVI ) UsD10,000 100% 100% Investment holding
EBRUEE REEKR
Linkz Cables Limited BVI ) HK$8,390,000 100% 100% Investment holding
FRSEERAA HERAHE REZKR
Indirectly held
EREE
Time Interconnect Limited Hong Kong HK$2,000,000 100% 100% Trad;:g of cable assembly products
ERTEERAR E BEERAKESR
Tlme Interconnect Technology (Huizhou) Limited PRC UsD28,602,860 100% 100% Manufacturing and trading of cable
) R assembly products
ﬂ&( I ARAR (Ea) LERBSERANER
Hover (Kunshan) Electronic Material Company Limited PRC HK$30,000,000 100% 100% Manufactunng of digital cables
_ (Notea) . HE products
51 (1) BT HAERAT (Hika) EHTRAES
Hover Manufactunng Company Limited Hong Kong HK$8,000,000 100% 100% Investment holding
SNEIERRAR Fib REZK
Lln\kz (HK) Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 100% 100% Investment holding
EREEERAT BE REEKR
Linkz Industries (Shanghai) Limited (Notes b and ¢) PRC USD15,000,000 95% 95% Manufacturing and trading of digital
ERERTE (L) BRAR (Fitbke) FE cables products
FEREESTERER
Linkz Industries (Suzhou) Limited (Note a) PRC USD30,000,000 100% 100% Manufacturing and trading of digital
FRTEEMN)BRAR (Fiita) i cables products
LEREESTERER
Linkz International Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100% Tradl j of dl%lta| cables products
BETXERARAR BE EEHTSREMD
ElmBEamAaRAT (Note d) PRC RMB10,000,000 100% 100% Manufactunng of digital cables
BImEg#maRAT BﬁuiEd) FE products
FEETERER
HUIZhOU ChuangxmnngechnoIogy Limited (Note d) PRC RMB145,250,100 100% 100% Manufacturing of cable assembly
ENRI=REAERAR (std) FE products
EF EREHER
Time Robotics Technolog (Shanghai) Limited (Note d) PRC RMB4,056,550 100% 100% Manufacturing and trading of
EEREARNE (HR) %KE’ N (FizEd) HE robotic products
LEREERBAER
ERTARE (FM) BRAR (Note d) PRC RMB683,890 100% 100% Development and trading of
B ARE (B BRAR (Fztd) H computer softwares
FRNETERTY
Time Interconnect (HK) Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100% Trading of cable assembly products
ERTX(E8) BRAT BA EBEREMER
Time Interconnect Wire Technology Limited Hong Kong HK$68,935,878 100% 100% Trading of automotive wire harness
ERGERBHERAR s products
EEHE@E%?EW
T|me Interconnect Wire Technology (Huizhou) Limited PRC RMB29,975,300 100% 100% Manufacturing and trading of
HE automotive wire harness products
Emﬁﬁﬂ?ﬁ UI) BIRAR (Mzd) AEREERBRRER
Time X-Ware Technology Limited (“Time X-Ware") Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% N/A Trading of server products
ERREZHHARAN (ERREERL) 8% HEkERES
Da Chuang Precision Intelligent Manufacturing PRC RMB200,000,000 100% N/A  Trading of server products
Dongguan Co“lelted (Notes a and e) R BERBRER
ERIREEE (R%R) BRAR (Wtake)
Da Chuang Precision Intelligent Manufacturing (Kunshan) ~ PRC RMB200,000,000 100% N/A " Manufacturing and trading of server
Co., Limited (Notes d and e) HE

\ products
ERIRERE (RIL)ARAR (HitdRe) tEREERBRER
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35.

36.

37.

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(@) These companies were established in the PRC in the form of wholly foreign-owned
enterprises.

(b) The company was established as sino-foreign joint venture registered under the PRC
law.

(c) The non-wholly owned subsidiary has immaterial non-controlling interest and related
financial information is not disclosed.

(d) These companies were established in the PRC in the form of wholly owned enterprises.

(e) On 11 May 2022, Time X-Ware entered into a sale and purchase agreement with
an intermediate holding company at a cash consideration of HK$1 to acquire 100%
of the entire share capital of these subsidiaries which are accounted for as assets
acquisitions. These subsidiaries held insignificant assets and liabilities at the date of
acquisition.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of both years.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able
to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to stakeholders
through the optimisation of the debt and equity balances. The Group’s overall
strategy remains unchanged throughout the year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts, which includes lease
liabilities, bank borrowings and amounts due to/loans from related companies
in notes 24, 25 and 26 respectively, net of bank balances and cash and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital and
reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a regular basis.
As part of this review, the directors of the Company consider the cost of capital
and the risks associated with the capital. Based on recommendations of the
directors of the Company, the Group will balance its overall capital structure
through the payment of dividends, new share issues and raising or repayment
of bank borrowings and amounts due to/loans from related companies.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

a. Categories of financial instruments

35.

36.

37.

BB BIRIEEIE ()
Fi5E -

FARIRRELSNEBE EET KL -

a
i

(a
(b) ZARRBPEEZEIMAILAFIEESED

O ZERENBADEEAEAEERES - Bitm
BEBYEEE -

ZENA IR PEUSEEA BRI -

=
2y
R

(e MIZZ_H#AR+—H  EBRBHEFEE—M
PEZERABITIIEERE - LRENE BTN
BZSEWBAR2IRA100% - EEAEEKE
AR © ZEWBATDNKE AR ENEERAE
WARER e

RAEEER @ BENB AR BT EMERE
o

EXREEE

RERAEEMBESIHELE » AEEHH
ERETEE > WEBEEENERERRET
BRIFNEFHERANER - AEEAVEERRER
BEFENERIE -

AEBMEALEBEESE TR (D BEEHE
24 ~ 25R26MTHE A& ~ RITERLENEE
NEFIEREBBEATNER) - NRBPITE
HEBSUEANTHEE ANELER (BREEH
TERRERE)

FAREFERERERRE - FRzBHN—
D AATEFEEEARA N EEARERE
Bk - REAQRDEENEZR  AEEKEE
IRATIES ~ B|ITHRD ~ BREERRITER
DR ENBEARRIERREBEARNERT
WHEBRREARRE -

EWMTA
a. TWMTEMNSHE

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET Tt

Financial assets EREE
Financial assets at amortised cost REBHEHAAST EN SRS E 2,544,861 1,235,654
Financial assets at FVTPL BAFEFNERCZSREE 6,542 6,284
2,551,403 1,241,938

Financial liabilities EA=Lr
Amortised cost A 4,711,757 1,864,508

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include financial assets at FVTPL,
trade and other receivables, pledged bank deposits, bank balances, trade
and other payables, bank borrowings, amounts due to related companies,
loans from related companies and lease liabilities. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with
these financial instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these risks
are set out below. The management of the Group manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure that appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 37. &M I A

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued) b. M#ERAKEEBEERBRK®)

Market risk i/ fE
Interest rate risk Vil

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to the fixed-
rate pledged bank deposits, lease liabilities, bank borrowings and loans from
related companies. The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
in relation to variable rate bank balances and bank borrowings (see notes
21 and 25 for details of the balance). The Group cash flow interest rate risk
is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of interest rates on bank balances
and HIBOR and PRC loan prime rate arising from the Group's borrowings.
The Group currently does not have a policy on cash flow hedges of interest
rate risk. However, the management of the Group monitors interest rate
exposure and will consider hedging significant interest rate risk should the
need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure
to interest rates for variable-rate bank borrowings. The analysis is prepared
assuming that variable rate bank borrowings outstanding at the end of
the reporting period were outstanding for the whole year. 50 basis points
(2022: 50 basis points) increase or decrease represents the assessment
management of the Group of the reasonably possible change in interest
rates of bank borrowings. No sensitivity analysis is presented for bank
balances as the directors of the Company considered the Group's exposure
to cash flow interest rate risk is not material.

If interest rate had been 50 basis points (2022: 50 basis points) higher or
lower for variable rate bank borrowings and all other variables were held
constant, the Group’s post-tax profit for the year ended 31 March 2023
would decrease or increase by HK$5,134,000 (2022: HK$4,295,000).

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the
inherent interest rate risk as the exposure at the end of the reporting period
does not reflect the exposure during the year.

Foreign currency risk

The carrying amounts of the Group’s monetary assets (mainly including
trade and other receivables, pledged bank deposits and bank balances)
and monetary liabilities (mainly including trade and other payables bank
borrowings and loans from related companies) denominated in currencies
other than the respective group entities’ functional currencies at the end of
the reporting period are as follows:

AEEARHEEENRSEMBITER - E
EaE  RITERIREBEATRNESRE
BRAFEMNERE - AREIAZETE)
MERITHEBLRITERBENRENERN
K (RREHEERMEE21425) - &A%
BIRSMEFRE R T EERRAEBER
ELNBRITEBA R NREBRITRZERE
KB ER&EENRALE - AEE B
WEBBEMNZERNESRERINBCR - A
m > AEEEEBESERMERMNXER I
RN BRREERETERFERR -

SR E T

DT SURE DT T IR Ep A REB1T AR
MEEBEE © REDITRDERKENREH
RAEET N RFTERNBEEER
B8 - EASNTIRS0EERR(CE "4

SOfEIEE) KERAEEEE B HRITERN
MENSEAREBETE - BRAARE
ERR/RAERS MNREMER AR A
BR - BAESIRITEMRAVERE DT

it S B F) R ER 1T & FRAVRI R L F3k 5018
B (CF & S0EEE) Mgt
BHERAE > ARBREE-S " =F=
AZ=+—H I FENRRE BN RIE
505,134,000 70 (Z 5 — —4F : 4,295,000
BIT) °

BRERR - GREDITREARAEFE
B - ARREHRNEREERRINFER
HEER °

SME RS
REBREWRAEENEREE (28T
B 5 N HEMEWEIR « EEIRRITERUN
WITHRR) AERaE (E2BRESLHEM
FEFRIR ~ RITEFREREEEATMEN)
POEREE LA B S E BRI TheE & i UMY
EWEHE - XA

Assets Liabilities
BE =1

2023 2022 2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET FET T
HK$ against USD BITHETT 24,184 24,771 589,874 531,211
RMB against USD AREEHZET 769 3,159 - -
Euro against USD BT RZETT 5,628 7,806 147,375 1,168
USD against RMB ETHARE 642,405 10,520 1,102,511 122,584
USD against HK$ ETLRBTT 117 266,042 - 3,427
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ConTINUED)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
Market risk (continued)
Foreign currency risk (continued)
Other than above, several subsidiaries of the Group have the following
intra-group receivables (payables) denominated in HK$ and USD, which are
foreign currencies of the relevant group entities.

37. 2T R @)

b.

RS EEREBUR (1)
HiGEE ()

SR (s
fr s BTAREERBAR U TERE
AFEWFIE (B FI8) ISt k=TT (A8
FSEEEREMINE) 5HE -

Amounts due from (to)
group entities

FEU (FEfT) EBIERETRIR

2023 2022

HK$'000 HK$ 000

FExT THET

HK$ against USD HBITHETT (22,279) (114,939)
USD against HK$ ETTHBTT 173,433 (285,236)
USD against RMB ETRARE 58,499 160,794

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy in
respect of foreign currency exposure. However, management monitors
the related foreign currency exposure closely and will consider hedging
significant currency exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to the foreign currency risk of USD, HK$, RMB
and Euro. Under the pegged exchange rate system, the financial impact
on exchange difference between HK$ and USD will be immaterial as most
HK$ denominated monetary assets and liabilities are held by group entities
having USD as their functional currency, and therefore no sensitivity analysis
has been prepared.

The sensitivity analysis below details the Group's sensitivity to a 5% increase
and decrease in USD against RMB and Euro. 5% is the sensitivity rate used
which represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in foreign currency rate. The sensitivity analysis includes the Group’s
monetary assets, monetary liabilities and amounts due from/to group
entities denominated in RMB, Euro and USD. A positive (negative) number
indicates an increase (decrease) in post-tax profit when USD strengthens
5% against RMB and Euro. For a 5% weakening of USD against RMB and
Euro, there would be an equal but opposite impact on the post-tax profit
for the year.

ANEE[E B IR BN B R RO SN S R
R A > BEEGHRIERERENER
B W BBERREEITEREERAR -

BE T

REFTEAZET BT - ARBKERT
RSN RS o [EEFESHET - AREE
ERFHIAREILUBTAHENEREEN
BELETRHINGEEY » BT ETER
ERINMBREERAER - FILIERRE
REDHT -

TXERED T AASEE T AR
RETT EFARTHRS%NBRE - FKHA5%
ABRELEAREEEHERNSE S
BEINET - SREDITBEREENUAR
T BOTRETAIENEREE C ER&aE
RREW, RN SEEERNIA - E(8) 85kn
EXTHARBREBITIES%E - BREE
EWAPEIN OBiA) « ZITRARERETTERE
5% > ISR FEEMRREENELESH
BRRFE -

2023 2022

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHT

RMB against USD ARBERZETT 38 132
Euro against USD BROTH2ETT (7,087) 277
USD against RMB ETAARE (20,080) (1,827)

In the opinion of the management of the Group, the sensitivity analysis
is unrepresentative of the inherent foreign currency risk as the year end
exposures do not reflect the exposure during the year.
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 37. &M I A

b. MERAKEEEERBRK @)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties default on
their contractual obligations resulting in financial losses to the Group.
The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to trade receivables, trade
receivables from the then fellow subsidiaries, trade receivables from related
companies, other receivables, contract assets, bills receivables, pledged
bank deposits and bank balances. The Group does not hold any collateral to
cover its credit risks associated with its financial assets but maintains credit
insurance policies to insure trade receivables with details mentioned below
to insure counterparty risks with customers.

Trade balances (including trade receivables, trade receivables from the
then fellow subsidiaries, trade receivables from related companies, and
contract assets)

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has
delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits and credit
approvals. Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses an internal
credit scoring system to assess the potential customer’s credit quality and
defines credit limits by customer. Limits and scoring attributed to customers
are reviewed twice a year. Other monitoring procedures are in place to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition,
the Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model on trade
balances individually. In this regard, the directors of the Company consider
that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has concentration of credit
risk as 16% (2022: 23%) and 65% (2022: 69%) of trade receivables
were due from the Group’s largest customer and five largest customers,
respectively. As at 31 March 2023, the Group has the concentration risk
from customer A, customer B, customer C and customer D amounted for

EEEER HIESE
EERREAEEXZUFERITENEE
FHHEREYN  BEAEESIZTBEEN
R - ZIK%E’\JEE@I@I%%E%%EW
IR~ REEFRANEQTDHE 2GR
IE %QE@%@TE’J%%F&L& RIE Efﬂlﬁg
WA ~ BNEE - BKREE - IR
Tﬁ\&ﬂ%ﬁmﬁ% AR E A E A
 LURZESRERL LNEERAR Bl
ﬁkﬁ{%ﬁﬁﬁlﬁ BB ZEWERIARR © T
XA ERREF NHF I ARRR -

S5 (B ESEWIR KEE

%/fﬁ/‘; R FIE ZBEWE 5/55/5'5@@7
HIE BIEWHER EHIEE)
AERBREEEEAR AEBEEEECHER
EXRaSETEERENMEEER - RER
EHELH - AREERNBEETDR
BAEEEREPNEEER TREFPR
EEERE - EFMRENTOEFEZM
R o EFRIMAVE A E AR A ORI AR SRER R
ERTBWCIAIET - I NEERES
EERRBEANESEREIVETERBIERT
i - BN S - AADEFBRAEENE
SEBRERBREE -

RHERR » AREAZEREERR

l%%ﬂ’%uﬁz IEE’J16%( ST F: 23%)
K 65% (— 4 69%) ARIRERE
laﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁj@fﬁ RZE_=F=H
=+—H AEEEBREFA -EFB X

a total of 54% (2022: 64%) of trade balances. They are international well- PCREFDMEFRE  HAHXGE S
known companies engaging in telecommunications and global networking BRAN54% (B " "F 1 64% ) - ZFEXKF R
industries and/or with strong financial backgrounds. The Group also REBESARDIRMRITEN R EENIE

maintains the credit insurance policies to insure against counter-party risk
with certain customers, with the gross carrying amount of HK$692,273,000
(2022: HK$883,184,000) would be covered by the insurance policies. The
Group's concentration of credit risk by geographical location is mainly in
the PRC which accounted for 53% (2022: 54%) of trade receivables as at
31 March 2023.

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group applies internal
rating for its customers. The following table provides information about
the exposure to credit risk for remaining trade receivables that are assessed
individually as at 31 March 2023 and 2022 within lifetime ECL (not credit-
impaired).

Gross carrying amount

EMBEBRMZAT - AEBIMEREERR
BRMUBEETREFNHFHRAKRKER &
YEBETH(E2692,273,0008 T (S - "4 :
883, 184 00077t ) BIREIRE - BA FT=
F=A=+—H ' AEBEZMIELL Egé}e@
%EPF%EHB?EE?%EPI 158 B IEWER
BI53%(ZF " 4F 1 54%) °

ERASEEERREEN D  A5H
HARFRBNTHEETR - FRERR

—ERF_F_A=+—AREH
EHESHE (LREERE) NERTE
BN B ZRUGIRNEEERINER -

HARE(E

2023 2022

Trade

Trade receivable

receivables from the
Average Trade from related Contract Average Trade  then fellow Contract
Credit rating lossrate  receivables  subsidiaries assets loss rate receivables  subsidiaries assets

REHE REERRZ

WEAEM WBARN
EETH THEEE BHEKNE HERENGE AHEE  THBEX BHBUEE EHRIEE AHEE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 % HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT Thn ThR ThR Thx
Strong B 0.05 62,257 10,355 4,583 0.05 78,770 128 29,708
Good R 0.25 426,065 - - 0.25 16,249 - -
Satisfactory wE 3.90 59,815 - - 3.90 3,091 - -
Wiatch list gz 13.00 4 - - 13.00 22 - -
548,141 10,355 4,583 98,132 128 29,708
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ConTINUED)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Trade balances (including trade receivables, trade receivables from the
then fellow subsidiaries, trade receivables from related companies, and
contract assets) (continued)

Gross carrying amount (continued)

Quality classification definitions:

“Strong” © The counterparty has very low risk of default and
a prompt payment pattern. They are international
well-known companies with strong financial
background.

“Good” . The counterparty has low default risk and has
strong financial background.

“Satisfactory” The counterparty has moderate default risk and
occasionally repays after due dates, but with fair
financial background.

"Watch list” The counterparty has moderate default risk

and frequently repays after due dates, but with
fair financial background. They require special
attention from the management of the Group.

During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, trade receivables, trade
receivables from the then fellow subsidiaries, trade receivables from related
companies and contract assets were assessed individually with considering
the financial background and the historical settlement records, including the
past due dates and default rates of each trade balance and forward-looking
information is reasonable, supportable and available without undue costs
or effort. Estimated loss rates are based on historical observed default rates
over the expected life of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking
information. During the year ended 31 March 2023, those trade balances
are assessed under lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) and the Group
provided allowance for credit losses of HK$3,425,000 (2022: no impairment
allowance was recognised as amounts involved were insignificant). As at 31
March 2023, the allowance for credit losses is HK$3,425,000 (2022: Nil).

Other receivables and rental deposits

Other receivables and rental deposits amounted to HK$10,050,000
(2022: HK$10,170,000) were assessed individually for ECL. The Group
has considered the consistently low historical default rate in connection
with payments and concluded that credit risk inherent in the Group’s other
receivables and rental deposits are insignificant and no loss allowance was
recognised.

Pledged bank deposits, bank balances and bills receivables

For pledged bank deposits, bank balances and bills receivables, the directors
of the Company considered the probability of default is negligible on the
basis of high-credit-rating issuers as such amounts were receivable from
or placed in banks with high external credit rating of A or above, no
loss allowance was recognised as amounts involved were considered as
insignificant.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains
a level of bank balances and cash deemed adequate by the management
of the Group to finance the Group’s operations. The management of the
Group also monitors the utilisation of borrowings and ensures compliance
with loan covenants.
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ConTINUED)

FZAZT—HIEFE

37. 2T R )

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued) b. M#ERAKEEBEERBRK®)
Liquidity risk (continued) HEVEL/RSE ()
The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for TRFMAEERIMITESHEBHNB TS
their non-derivative financial liabilities. The table has been drawn up based HNEHE - 2R B BEAEETREENTZR
on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest FHzSREBERTRESREMGEH -
date on which the Group can be required to pay. The maturity date for HiJerE<maEmEIBHREREE SR
other non-derivative financial liabilities is based on the agreed repayment HEREEE -
dates.
The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent that ZEBENERASRESARE - HAERE
interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from YRR RITRSANDREEREHRMN
current interest rate at the end of the reporting period. BIHARIER -
Liquidity risk tables MENE TR Rz
Weighted
average  Ondemand Total
effective  or less than 3 months undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 3 months tolyear 1to2years 2to5years OverSyears  cashflows amounts
MiEFH BEXS KR
ERfiE  OR=ER Z@ERE-F —EWE MELF BERE KenEes REE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T Tién T T T Thx
31 March 2023 ) e
Non-derivative financial  JEfT4ERIERE
liabilities
Trade and other payables  EARAMERFR N/A TiER 855,417 35,758 - - - 891,175 891,175
Lease liabilities HE&E 5.24 8,000 14,145 24,142 21,230 2,450 76,567 68,880
Bank horrowings (note) BiTiea () 315 26101 1,076,867 53,193 - - 1356161 1,348,070
Amounts due to related ERNBEARNE
companies N/A FER 508,328 - - - - 508,328 508,328
Loans from related companies  REFBEATNER 3.00 5,674 1,518,379 14,970 510,225 - 2,049,248 1,964,184
1,603,520 2,645,149 92,905 537,455 2,450 4,881,479 4,780,637
31 March 2022 5 TE=F=1-H
Non-derivative financial ~ 3Efi4SREME
liabilities
Trade and other payables EoRHMENIE NA TER 673,104 129,41 - - - 802,345 820,345
Lease liabilities HE&R 558 3,506 10,018 12,909 33833 8,584 68,850 58,835
Bank borrowings (note) STES () 3.08 405,809 399,419 204,569 77,889 - 1,087,686 1,062,163
1,082,419 538,678 217478 M,722 8,584 1,958,881 1,923,343
Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are included in B 12 Z R ERGFIIRIT AR LA EIHA
the “on demand or less than 3 months” time band in the above maturity BRI A TREREADR =@ A L FREE
analysis. As at 31 March 2023, the aggregate carrying amounts of these B -MNIB=F=RA=1—H ' ZFRT
bank borrowings amounted to HK$49,608,000 (2022: HK$177,307,000). e R AR B T 42 28 /549,608,000 7T (R
Taking into account the Group’s financial position, the directors of the T4 177,307,000 7T) © 5t RAEEE
Company do not believe that it is probable that the banks will exercise their BIRA » RATESRAEE @ BT AKRATEET
discretionary rights to demand immediate repayment. The directors of the FEMIBRDERIBER - AARESN
Company believe that such bank borrowings will be repaid within 1 year & REEFWHERMESEERBH - Gl
(2022: within 1 year) after the end of the reporting period in accordance BITERENMERRE—FERN(CFTZ
with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements and the T —FR)EE  MIREBEEERBHE
aggregate principal and interest cash outflows according to the scheduled HIASBE N SRR BANT
repayment dates are set out as follows:
Weighted
average On demand Total
effective or less than 3 months undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 3 months to 1 year 1to 2 years 2to 5 years cash flows amounts
IR e e KR
- {3iE SR=ER ZERE-F —EME MELE  HERELE REE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T T T
Bank horrowings iEﬁ B3
At 31 March 2023 RIBZ=F=A=t- 492 49,865 - - - 49,865 49,608
At 31 March 2022 }f:g:: =R=+— 262 149,761 27,764 - - 177,525 177,307
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ConTINUED)

C.

Fair value measured of financial instruments

Fair value of financial assets that are measured at fair value on a
recurring basis

Some financial assets are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting
period. The following table gives information about how the fair values of
these financial assets are determined (in particular, the valuation techniques
and inputs used), as well as the level of the fair value hierarchy into which
the fair value measurements are categorised (Levels 1 to 3) based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements is observable.

37. &

C.

MIAw
BAFEEIEEMTE

A TFEEEME RN ST ENATE

REREHR  AoSREETRATER
£ - TRIINIAEEZESREEN AT
EMER (LEZAEBIEERTIREA
&) - LRATHEFEMRNATESRR
BRI (E—RE=PERATEFTEBA
HENABREEEDE) -

Fair value Valuation techniques
Financial assets Fair value at hierarchy and key inputs
EWMEE RUTBESNATE AFEER EERNRIEHARE
31.3.2023 31.3.2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET THT
Financial assets at FVTPL — Life insurance policy 6,542 6,284 Level 2 Quoted asset value provided by
financial institution (note)
BRATHEST AR SREE - ASRRRE BETH TRIBBRENEEEBERE
(ByzE)
Note:  Quoted prices provided by bank represent the fair value based on the quoted MiEE ©  SRITIREAIRERENEEIRERENA

prices on the underlying investments.

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities that are not measured at fair value
on a recurring basis.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of
other financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost
approximate to their fair values.

T -

TIEATEESMH BHSMEERAE
AT -

RATEERR  REHERATIRIEA
EREEN SRS E 2 REESEEATEE

e

E o

Financial assets and financial liabilities subject to offsetting d. IJFEHENEHEEREMEE
The disclosures set out in the table below include financial assets and TERATEHEZENBENRAEEGEAM R
financial liabilities that are offset in the Group's consolidated statement of MmEEHENEREERSREE -
financial position.
The Group currently has a legally enforceable right to set off certain KEEBRBEAESEAARBIBITHNESD - Y
pledged bank deposits with bank borrowings at the same bank and the E—RITHERIT BRI E T EIEMIRTE
Group intends to settle these balances on a net basis. A BAEERRPFREELAEZEER -
31 March 2023
“E_=f=B=1+-H
Gross amounts
of recognised  Net amounts of
(liabilities) assets  financial assets
set off in the presented in
Gross amounts consolidated consolidated
of recognised statement statement
financial assets of financial of financial
(liabilities) position position
RSB  2HRNGEHE
CEZEMEE RIEHNCED ARRRAIER
(B eE (BR)EELE BEFR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Financial assets/liabilities subject to offsetting TFESENLREE B8R FHT FET FET
Pledged bank deposits EERMRITER 1,142,322 (1,142,322) -

During the year, the bank borrowings under the offsetting arrangement
represent the payments to the supplier by the relevant bank directly, which
constitute non-cash transaction.

E BRI AR A TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
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38. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities arising from financing
activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from
financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows
will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash
flows from financing activities.
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Loans from  Amounts due Derivative
related to related financial Bank Dividend Lease
companies  companies liabilities  borrowings payable liabilities Total
KEEE FEftinE
DERER DEFE  fiALREaR AT RS HEBRE 5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThR THL TER Thx TEL TER Thx
At 1 April 2021 - - - 1,012,141 - 44,256 1,056,397
Financing cash flows - (22,344) 47 (1,071) (46,046) (12,39) (81,440)
Finance costs recognised - - (417) 35,555 - 2,905 38,043
Dividends declared - - - - 46,046 - 46,046
Acquisition of business (note 32) WEER (:32) - 22,344 - - - 14,785 37,129
New lease entered EAumHEE - - - - - 7,464 7464
Bxchange realignment AT - - - 15,538 - 1821 17,359
At 31 March 2022 RIB__FE=A=1-H - - - 1,062,163 - 58,835 1,120,998
Financing cash flows HERETE 1,949,644 508,942 - 1,418,697 (29,190) (13,738) 3,834,355
Finance costs recognised TEEK 16,305 - - 36,204 - 3312 55,821
Dividends declared - - - - 29,190 - 29,190
Lease termination KIHHE - - - - - (3,653) (3,653)
New lease entered ERTuMAHE - - - - - 28,926 28,926
Offsetting (note) 38 (fET) - - - (1,142322) - - (1,142322)
Exchange realignment ERAE (1,765) (614) - (26,672) - (4,802) (33,853)
At31 March 2023 RWZE_=F=A=1-H 1,964,184 508,328 - 1,348,070 - 68,880 3,889,462
Note: During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group has bank borrowings under the ek : BE_ZS_=F=A=+—HILEE ' X&EH

offsetting arrangement that the Group currently has a legally enforceable right
to offset against the pledged bank deposits and the Group intends to settle the
balances on a net basis as disclosed in note 37.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

IS =
RESULTS ES
For the year ended 31 March
HBHE=HA=1T—HL=FE
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHIT BT Tt Tt FET

(restated) (restated)

(#e=E%1) (#&e=71)
Revenue 25 2,971,501 2,780,150 3,008,019 3,590,117 5,764,839
Profit before taxation BREL AT A 202,937 188,852 268,111 232,855 256,240
Taxation G| (36,050) (34,368) (41,480) (64,582) (40,354)
Profit for the year FRitAl 166,887 154,484 226,631 168,273 215,886
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEERERE

At 31 March
m=B=+—H
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHBIT FHET FHET FET

(restated) (restated)

(Z&E5)) (#&&=%1)
Total assets WEE 3,142,733 3,187,431 2,598,964 3,182,762 6,106,964
Total liabilities wmeE (2,045,691) (2,021,536) (1,734,563) (2,119,317)  (4,962,894)
Net assets EEFHE 1,097,042 1,165,895 864,401 1,063,445 1,144,070
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